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EIFURRE
FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
B ZEFF ZE-hhF ZE-NF ZE—LtF
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FHET
Results E
Year ended BEZE=RA=+—H
31 March LFEE
Loss attributable ViN/NETE ¥ SN L
to owners of the 518
Company (13,347) (37,309) (18,871) (11,058) (89,855)
Assets and EENERE
liabilities
At 31 March MR=ZA=+—H
Total assets BEMRE 1,896,678 559,255 337,114 314,233 408,093
Total liabilities BERHE (1,334,566)  (430,493)  (245,158)  (212,913)  (273,709)
Total equity Rt 4R 5R 562,113 128,762 91,956 101,320 134,384
CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED HEE@EERER A 7
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

Financial Review
Consolidated results

For the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group recorded
revenue of approximately HK$56.7 million compared to
approximately HK$78.4 million for the last financial year,
representing a decrease of about 27.7%, and loss for
the year ended 31 March 2021 of approximately HK$47.6
million compared to approximately HK$33.7 million for
the last financial year, representing an increase of about
41%. The significant increase in loss was primarily
resulted from (i) fair value loss on investment properties
of approximately HK$56 million, and (ii) provision for
financial guarantee of approximately HK$22.9 million.

Business Review
Exhibition-related business

China Resources Advertising & Exhibition Company
Limited, a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company (together with its subsidiaries, the “CRA
Group”) is principally engaged in exhibition- related
business. The CRA Group has acted as an organiser
and contractor for exhibitions and meeting events
held in Hong Kong. It has developed over 20 years of
relationship with the Hong Kong Trade Development
Council ("HKTDC") and has become one of the major
agents organising trade fairs for PRC groups whilst
most of which were co-organised with the HKTDC.
The clients of the CRA Group are primarily PRC based
including numerous sub-councils of the China Council
for the Promotion of International Trade in the PRC. For
the year ended 31 March 2021, this business segment
recorded revenue of approximately HK$0.5 million
compared to approximately HK$12.3 million for the last
financial year, representing a decrease of about 95.9%.
The drop in revenue was mainly due to the impact of the
coronavirus disease 2019 (the “COVID-19") pandemic
on the exhibition industry. The segment had been
disrupted by the business travel restrictions imposed by
nations of our own and across the world and the fact
that many exhibitions had been canceled or postponed.
The segment recorded loss for the year ended 31 March
2021 of approximately HK$0.7 million compared to loss
of approximately HK$2.9 million for the last financial
year, representing a decrease of about 75.9%. The CRA
Group has been disposed during the year to mitigate loss
as the outlook of this business sector is still uncertain
in view of the continuous travel restrictions across the
world.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK
(Continued)

Business Review (Continued)
Property sub-leasing and investment business

For the year ended 31 March 2021, this business
segment recorded revenue of approximately HK$56.2
million compared to approximately HK$65.5 million for
the last financial year, representing a decrease of about
14.2%, this business segment recorded loss for the year
ended 31 March 2021 of approximately HK$0.3 million
as compared to profit of approximately HK$11.0 million
for the last financial year. The increase in loss was
mainly resulted from the fair value loss on investment
properties.

Property development business

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Company
acquired the entire equity interest in Topper Genius
Investment Limited at a total consideration of (i) cash
of HK$36.7 million (equivalent to RMB33.5 million) and
(i) 800 million shares of the Company. During the vyear,
no income was recognised (2020: nil). The segment
recorded loss of approximately HK$11.0 million (2020:
nil). The management would develop this business and
achieve sustainable growth of the Group. The Group
aims to achieve such objectives by pursuing the growth-
oriented strategies, including investment in more
property sub-leasing business segment and investments
projects in property development business segment in
the PRC.

Financial Services Business
Money lending

During the year ended 31 March 2021, no interest
income was recognised (2020: HK$0.6 million). The
management would continue to find new opportunity for
this segment.

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED ) HEREBRAA
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK
(Continued)

Financial Services Business (Continued)
Securities, futures and asset management

The Group returned its Type 1 (dealing in securities),
Type 2 (dealing in futures contracts), Type 4 (advising on
securities) and Type 9 (asset management) licenses to
Securities and Futures Commission in November 2020 as
no suitable business opportunities have been identified.
The management would like to focus more on the other
business segments of the Group.

Outlook

The outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic since early 2020
has resulted in major impact to businesses during the
year ended 31 March 2021, especially in exhibition
segment and the future is challenging and unpredictable
in global business environment. The pandemic has put
forward higher requirements for the Group to review and
perform in terms of its future strategy planning. Despite
the challenges currently facing, the PRC economy has
shown stable growth momentum, supported by the
sustainable development and continuous improvement
in the macro economy. Under the containment policies
in the PRC, the pandemic gradually got under control,
the Directors of the Group are expecting the businesses
to remain cautious and will take appropriate measures
as and when it is necessary to minimise the financial
impact, meanwhile to also look for potential investment
opportunities which could strengthen the financial
profitability for the Group.

The management team and the Board of Directors are
made up of highly qualified and competent individuals
who are experienced in the real estate development
industry in PRC. The team possesses significant
knowledge, resources and networks in China of which
the Company expects to be able to leverage for its future
growth in the property development, property sub-leasing
and investment projects in the PRC.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK
(Continued)

Outlook (Continued)

The Group has continued its efforts to consolidate and
realign its businesses to enable the Group to achieve
improvements in its financial position and to meet its
performance objectives. The Group is working towards
attaining a sustainable growth whilst continuously
exploring and diversifying other suitable investment
opportunities (if any) to enhance the overall earning
potential, and ultimately maximising the shareholder
value.

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED ) HEREBRAA
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The Directors of the Company present their report
together with the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The
current and continuing principal activities of the Group
are mainly engaging in (i) exhibition-related business,
(i) property sub-leasing and investment business, (iii)
property development; and (iv) money lending business.
The activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in
note 48 to the consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’'s performance for the year
under review by business segment is set out in note 6
to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business objectives of the Group are to develop its
business and achieve sustainable growth of its business.
The Group aims to achieve such objectives by pursuing
the following growth-oriented strategies: (i) investing in
more property sub-leasing and investments projects in
China; (ii) further diversifying the business of the Group
by tapping into the property development business; and
(iii) closely monitoring the cost and continue to impose
cost-cutting measures in the Group.

A review of the businesses of the Group during the year
using the financial indicators and a discussion on the
Group's future business development are provided in the
sections headed “Management Discussion and Analysis”
and “Financial Review" in this report.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Group’s financial condition, results of operations,
businesses and prospects may be affected by a number
of risks and uncertainties. The followings are the key
risks and uncertainties identified by the Group. There
may be other risks and uncertainties in addition to those
shown below which are not known to the Group or
which may not be material now but could turn out to be
material in the future.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Principal Risks and Uncertainties (Continued)
Business Risk

Certain of the business segments to which the
Group operates are subject to changes in consumer
perception, preferences and tastes, in particular, for
the exhibition-related business, the property sub-
leasing and investment business as well as the property
development business. The Group’s business and
financial performance depends on factors which may
affect the level and pattern of consumer spending in
China and in Hong Kong.

Market Risk

The business and operation of certain business segments
of the Group, in particular, property sub-leasing, and
investment business and property development business,
are basically conducted in the PRC, and therefore the
Group’s operation, revenue and profit margin are highly
impacting by the economies of the PRC and the measures
implemented by the PRC government. Any changes
of the measures may penetrate into overall national
economic conditions, and influence changes in consumer
confidence, consumption spending and preferences
in property sub-leasing and investment and property
development market in the PRC.

Operational Risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from
inadequate or failed internal processes, people and
systems or from external events. Responsibility for
managing operational risks basically rests with every
function at divisional and departmental levels. The Group
recognises that operational risks cannot be eliminated
completely and that it may not always be cost effective
to do so.

Key functions in the Group are guided by their operating
procedures, limits of authority and reporting framework.
The Group will identify and assess key operational
exposures from time to time and report such risk issues
to senior management as early as possible so that
appropriate risk response can be taken.

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED ) BERERAR
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Principal Risks and Uncertainties (Continued)
Financial Risk

The financial risk management of the Group are set out
in note 45 to the consolidated financial statements.

Legal Risk

Legal risk is the risk that unenforceable contracts,
lawsuits or adverse judgments may disrupt or otherwise
negatively affect the operations or financial conditions of
the Group.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2021 are set out in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income on pages 77 to 78.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any
dividend in respect of the year ended 31 March 2021
(2020: Nil). Capital will be reserved for the expansion
of the Group’s business and to capture investment
opportunities arising in the future. There is no
arrangement that a shareholder of the Company has
waived or agreed to waive any dividend.

FIXED ASSETS

Details of movements in fixed assets of the Group during
the year under review are set out in notes 18 to 19 to
the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movement in the share capital of the Company
are set out in note 35 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the year under review are set out in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 82
and note 36 to the consolidated financial statements,
respectively.
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EEEHESE
DIRECTORS’ REPORT

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of the distributable reserves of the Company
as at 31 March 2021 are set out in note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group had
entered into certain transactions with parties which
were regarded as “Related Parties” under the applicable
accounting principles. Details of those related party
transactions are set out in note 40 to the consolidated
financial statements. The transaction which is considered
as a connected transaction under the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the
“Listing Rules”) is further disclosed in the section
headed “Connected Transactions” below.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company's bye-laws (the “Bye-laws”) and there is
no restriction against such rights under the laws of
Bermuda.

FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities
of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on
page 4 of the annual report.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

The Company did not make any charitable donation for
the two years ended 31 March 2020 and 2021.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Details of the retirement benefit schemes are set out in
note 4(n) to the consolidated financial statements.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted the share option scheme
(the “Share Option Scheme"”) on 30 August 2012
under which the Directors may grant options to eligible
persons, including directors and employees of the Group,
to subscribe for shares of the Company.

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the
Share Option Scheme:

1.  Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme is set up for the
purposes of attracting and retaining quality
personnel and other persons to provide incentive to
them to contribute to the business and operation of
the Group.

2.  Participants of the Share Option Scheme

The Directors may at their discretion grant options
to (i) any director, employee or consultant of the
Group or a company in which the Group holds an
equity interest or a subsidiary of such company
(" Affiliate”); or (ii) any discretionary trust whose
discretionary objects include any director, employee
or consultant of the Group or an Affiliate; or (iii)
a company beneficially owned by any director,
employee or consultant of the Group or an Affiliate;
or (iv) any customer, supplier or adviser whose
service to the Group or business with the Group
contributes or is expected to contribute to the
business or operation of the Group as may be
determined by the Directors from time to time to
subscribe for shares of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

3.

Total number of shares available for issue under
the Share Option Scheme and percentage of the
number of issued shares as at the date of this
report

The maximum number of ordinary shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding
options granted and yet to be exercised under the
Share Option Scheme was in aggregate 27,942,462
shares as at 31 March 2021 (representing
approximately 1.2% of the number of issued shares
as at the date of this report).

Maximum entitlement of each participant under
the Share Option Scheme

The maximum number of the shares of the
Company (issued and to be issued) in respect of
which options may be granted under the Share
Option Scheme to any one grantee in any 12-month
period shall not exceed 1 per cent. of the share
capital of the Company in issue on the last date
of such 12-month period unless approval of the
shareholders of the Company has been obtained in
accordance with Rule 17.03(4) of the Listing Rules.

The period within which the options must
be exercised under Share Option Scheme to
subscribe for shares

The holder of an option may subscribe for the
shares of the Company during such period as
may be determined by the Directors (which shall
be less than ten years from the date of grant of
the relevant option and may include the minimum
period, if any, for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised).
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

6.

The minimum period for which an option must
be held before it can be exercised

There is no minimum period for which an option
granted must be held before it can be exercised
unless otherwise imposed by the Directors.

The period within which the options granted
must be taken up

Options granted must be taken up within 21 days
inclusive of, and from the date of grant.

The basis of determining the exercise price

Options may be granted without any initial payment
for the options at an exercise price (subject to
adjustments as provided therein) equal to the
highest of (i) the nominal value of the shares of
the Company; (ii) the closing price per share of the
Company as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily
quotations sheet on the date of the grant of the
option, which must be a business day; and (iii) the
average closing price per share of the Company
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheets for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of the grant of the option.

The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for
a period of 10 years commencing from 30 August
2012.

Details of the Share Option Scheme, including grant

and lapse of options, are disclosed in note 37 to the

consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this
report are as follows:

Mr. Chen Weiwu (Chairman)

Mr. Zhou Houjie (acting Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Chen Youchun

Ms. Lui Mei Ka

Mr. Zhou Xin

In accordance with bye-law 84(1) of the Bye-laws, one-
third of the Directors for the time being, (or if their
number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest
to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office
by rotation so that each Director shall be subject to
retirement at least once every three years.

Biographical details of Directors and senior
management

Executive Directors

Mr. Chen Weiwu (“Mr. WW Chen"), aged 38, is an
Executive Director, the Chairman of the Board and a
chairman of the Nomination Committee of the Company.
He was appointed to the Board on 8 December 2016. He
is a business entrepreneur and has extensive experience
in the real estate industry. Mr. WW Chen is the chairman
and ultimate beneficial owner of It RALZRIEIE %GR
7~ @] (Beijing Tian'an Innovation Technology and Estates
Limited*) (“BTIT"), a real estate development company
established in the PRC. Its latest property development
project is KE e A, located at HE AR LME b R
4% 7% B i B9 2% [ (Beijing Economic and Technological
Development Area, PRC*), with a total land area of
approximately 130,000 square meters.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

Biographical details of Directors and senior
management (Continued)

Executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. Zhou Houjie (“"Mr. HJ Zhou"), aged 39, is an
Executive Director and a member of the remuneration
committee of the Company. Mr. HJ Zhou was graduated
from 7@ R B AZ (Southwest Jiaotong University*)
and obtained a professional degree in business
administration. He was appointed to the Board on 8
December 2016. Mr. HJ Zhou is currently the vice
president of BTIT.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chen Youchun (“Mr. YC Chen"), aged 45, is an
Independent Non-Executive Director, the Chairman of
the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee
of the Company and a member of the Nomination
Committee of the Company. Mr. YC Chen joined the
Company on 8 December 2016. He was graduated from
Southwest University of Political Science & Law in 2000
with a degree in Bachelor of Laws and the University
of Northumbria in 2011 with a degree in Bachelor of
Laws. He also obtained a Master's Degree in Civil and
Commercial Law from Wuhan University in 2007, and a
Ph.D in International Law from Southwest University of
Political Science & Law in 2018 . He is a foreign lawyer
registered with The Law Society of Hong Kong and is a
partner in Shenzhen Office of Junzejun Law Offices. Mr.
YC Chen has extensive experience in corporate finance,
initial public offerings and mergers and acquisitions.
Mr. YC Chen is also an independent director of Nuode
Investment Co., Ltd, which is listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange (stock code: 600110).
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

Biographical details of Directors and senior
management (Continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors (Continued)

Ms. Lui Mei Ka (“Ms. Lui”), aged 36, is an Independent
Non-executive Director and a member of Audit
Committee of the Company. Ms. Lui joined the Company
on 21 April 2017. She was graduated from The Chinese
University of Hong Kong with a degree in bachelor
of business administration in 2006. She is currently a
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. She has extensive experience in financial
management and corporate finance. Ms. Lui is the
chief financial officer and company secretary of Feiyu
Technology International Company Limited (stock code:
1022), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. Previously, she was the company secretary
and financial controller of LT Commercial Real Estate
Limited (stock code: 112) and the chief financial officer
and company secretary of GR Properties Limited (stock
code: 108), companies listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

Biographical details of Directors and senior
management (Continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. Zhou Xin (“Mr. X Zhou"), aged 41, is an
Independent Non-executive Director and a member of
the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee of the Company. Mr.
X Zhou joined the Company in 13 December 2019.
He graduated from school of law in Wuhan University
with a juris doctoral degree in criminal law. He also
obtained a post-doctoral degree from Renmin University
of China Law School (majoring in criminal litigation law,
the post-doctoral degree programme co-organised by
Renmin University of China Law School and National
Prosecutors College of P.R.C.) and EMBA degree from
Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He currently serves
as an associate professor in school of law at Guangdong
University of Foreign Studies, a Yunshan Young Scholar,
a head of Intelligent Law and Law Reform Research
Centre* at Guangdong University of Foreign Studies, a
director of China Association of Criminal Procedure Law
and a researcher of Litigation System and Law Reform
Research Centre* of Renmin University of China. In
October 2003 and September 2006, Mr. X Zhou obtained
certifications of Cisco Certified Internetwork Expert in
Route and Switching and Service Provider respectively,
with a global uniform certification number CCIE#12384.

Mr. X Zhou is mainly engaged in researches on criminal
procedure law, evidence law, judicial system, digital
evidence, internet crime etc., teaches programmes
of criminal litigation law and legal work ethic for
undergraduates, and teaches programmes of frontier
problems of criminal litigation law, court prosecution and
defense skills, court simulation training and study of legal
work ethic for postgraduate students.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

Biographical details of Directors and senior
management (Continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors (Continued)

He has published various articles in core journals of legal
science, including Social Science in China, China Legal
Science, Peking University Law Journal, Studies in Law
and Business, Science of Law, Law Review, Tribune
of Political Science and Law, Political Science and
Law, Contemporary Law Review, Academic Research,
Social Scientist and Legal Daily, many of which were
reproduced in Chinese Social Sciences Digest and
Reprinted In Information Center for Social Science
of Renmin University Of China (procedural law and
judicial system), and nominated in the Sixth Dong Biwu
Achievement Award for Young Jurists.

Senior management

Mr. Lin Yu Cheng (“Mr. Lin") was appointed as chief
financial officer of the Company on 20 August 2020.
Mr. Lin has extensive experience in fields such as
property development, accounting, management,
investment and financing operation. He obtained the
Bachelor of Commerce from the Guangdong College
of Commerce* (FEERMEEZMH) in 1995, and obtained the
Master of Law from the Sun Yat-sen University (F[L
AKE) in 2007. Mr. Lin is currently a senior accountant,
and also a PRC Certified Public Accountant, a PRC
Certified Tax Agent and a PRC Certified Public Valuer. He
was the deputy general manager of the Capital Market
Department of the Treasury Centre of Country Garden
Holdings Company Limited (stock code: 2007), and
the deputy general manager of Financing and Financial
Management Centre of Sinic Holdings (Group) Company
Limited (stock code: 2103).
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

Biographical details of Directors and senior
management (Continued)

Senior management (Continued)

Ms. Kwong Oi Man Patty (“Ms. Kwong") was appointed
as company secretary of the Company on 31 March
2021 under Rule 3.05 of the Rule Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”).
Ms. Kwong holds a bachelor's degree of Commerce
from Monash University in Australia and she is currently
a member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and CPA Australia. She joined the Company
in April 2017 and is responsible for the Company’s
financial reporting, financial management, investor
relations and corporate secretarial matters. Ms. Kwong
has over 12 years of experience in auditing, accounting
and company secretarial practice. Ms. Kwong is also a
joint company secretary of China Hongguang Holdings
Limited, which is listed on the Gem Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 8646).

Save as otherwise disclosed, there is no relationship
(including financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationship) between any members of the Board
or the senior management, and no information relating to
the Directors which is required to be disclosed pursuant
to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

Directors’ service contracts

None of the Directors has service contract with the
Company which is not determinable within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

Directors’ interests in transactions, arrangements and
contracts

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Connected
Transactions” below, no transactions, arrangements
and contracts of significance in relation to the Group's
business to which the Company, its subsidiaries, holding
company and any of their subsidiaries was a party and
in which a Director or his/her connected entity had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted
at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

Directors’ right to acquire shares or debentures

Save as the share option scheme as disclosed in this
report, at no time during the year ended 31 March 2021
was the Company, its subsidiaries, holding companies or
fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable
Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other
body corporate.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

Directors’ interests in equity or debt securities

As at 31 March 2021, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the
shares, underlying share and debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the
“SFO")) as recorded in the register required to be kept
under section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set forth under
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules were as follows:

(a) Long position in the shares
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Number of shares percentage of

held as at shareholding

31 March in the
Name of Director Nature of interest 2021 Company
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EE=pA EmME R G # A BHABED T
Mr. Chen Weiwu (Note) Beneficial owner 800,000,000 34.65%
BRIZE (A at) BB A

Interest of controlled corporation 579,806,977 25.11%

Rt EE R (Note)

(K17)

Note:

1. These shares are owned by Grand Nice International
Limited (“Grand Nice"”) which is wholly and
beneficially owned by Mr. Chen. By virtue of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of
the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO"), Mr. Chen
is deemed to be interested in an aggregate of
1,379,806,977 Shares, representing approximately
59.76% of the issued share capital of the Company
as at 31 March 2021.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

Directors’ interests in equity or debt securities
(Continued)

(b) Underlying shares of the Company

Details of the Directors’ interest in share options
are disclosed in the paragraph headed “Share
Option Scheme" in this report.

Save as disclosed herein, as at 31 March 2021,
none of the Directors or chief executive of the
Company had any interest or short position in the
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as
recorded in the register required to be kept under
section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in notes 40 to the consolidated
financial statements in relation controlling shareholder
of the Company to the Group and the transactions set
out under sections headed “Related Party Transactions”
and “Acquisition of subsidiaries under Asset Acquisition”
and disclosed in note 32 to the consolidated financial
statement, there was no contract of significance
between the Company or any of its subsidiaries, and
a controlling shareholder of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries at the end of the year or at any time during
the Year.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2021, other than the interests of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company disclosed
in the paragraph headed “Disclosure of Interest” above,
the following persons had interests or short position
in the shares and underlying Shares as recorded in the
register of interests required to be kept by the Company
under section 336 of the SFO:

Name of shareholder Nature of interest

R A BENE
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shares held shareholding
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31 March 2021 Company
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Grand Nice International Limited Beneficial owner
("Grand Nice") (Note)
EBRHBRERAR([EE] (M) EnEAA

Note: Grand Nice is wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Chen
Weiwu who is an Executive Director and the Chairman of
the Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2021, according
to the register of interests required to be kept by the
Company under section 336 of the SFO, there was no
person who had any interest or short position in the
shares or underlying shares of the Company which would
fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the Share Option Scheme as disclosed in
this report, no equity-linked agreements that will or may
result in the Company issuing Shares, or that require the
Company to enter into any agreements that will or may
result in the Company issuing Shares, were entered into
by the Company during the year or subsisted at the end
of the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Under the Bye-laws, every Director or other officers of
the Company acting in relation to any of the affairs of
the Company shall be indemnified and secured harmless
out of the assets and profits of the Company from and
against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and
expenses which they or any of them, their or any of their
heirs, executors or administrators, shall or may incur
or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred
in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty, or
supposed duty, in their respective offices, or trusts. The
Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in
respect of legal action against its Directors and officers.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Company were entered into or existed
during the year.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group puts great emphasis in environmental
protection and energy conservation to enhance the
capacity of sustainable development and undertake
relative social responsibility. Through the establishment
of an ever-improving management system, energy
conservation and environment protection were strongly
promoted, leading to the remarkable achievement of
environmental management.

The Company will issue separately an Environmental,
Social and Governance Report under Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide as specified in
Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules.
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COMPLIANCE WITH RELATED LAWS AND
REGULATIONS AND ADVANCE TO AN
ENTITY

Compliance procedures are in place to ensure adherence
to applicable laws, rules and regulations, in particular,
those have a significant impact on the Group. Save
as otherwise disclosed and as far as the Board and
management are aware, the Group has complied with
all related laws and regulations in all material aspects
which may have significant impact on the business and
operation of the Group during the year under review.

On 3 September 2019, M RIFHITE T EXBR QA
(Nanjing Yinkun Investment Corporation Co. Ltd.*) an
indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company,
provided the guarantees in respect of a loan facility for
the principal amount of up to RMB100 million provided
to an independent third party from a financial institution
in the PRC.

On 29 October 2020, FRIRHEEEEBFR A F (Nanjing
Yinkun Investment Corporation Co. Ltd.*) an indirect
non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, provided
the guarantees in respect of a loan facility for the
principal amount of up to RMB40 million provided to an
independent third party from a financial institution in the
PRC.

The financial guarantees mentioned above has been
transferred to third party upon disposal of the subsidiary
during the year ended 31 March 2021.

Details of which are set out in the paragraph headed
“Advance to an entity” in this report.
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RELATIONSHIP OF STAKEHOLDERS

The Company believes that employees, customers
and business partners are the key to have continuous
sustainable development. The Company is committed to
be people-oriented and build up good relationship with its
employees. The Group provides on-the-job training and
development opportunities to enhance its employees’
career progression. Through different trainings, staff's
professional knowledge in corporate operations,
occupational and management skills are enhanced. The
Group also values the health and well-being of its staff.
In order to provide employees with health coverage, its
employees are entitled to medical insurance benefits.
The Group also works together with its business partners
to provide high quality products and services to achieve
the goal of sustainable development and contribution to
the society.

Save as otherwise disclosed, there was no material and
significant dispute between the Group and its distributors
and/or customers during the year under review.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year under review, the aggregated sales
attributable to the Group's five largest customers
accounted for approximately 42% while the largest
customer accounted for approximately 36% of its total
revenue.

During the year under review, the aggregate purchases
attributable to the Group's five largest suppliers
accounted for approximately 71% while the largest
supplier accounted for approximately 64% of its total
purchases.

None of the Directors, their close associates, or any
shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors
owned more than 5% of the Company’s issued shares)
had an interest in the five largest suppliers or customers
noted above.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The related party transactions for the year as disclosed
in note 40 to the consolidated financial statements also
constituted connected transaction under the Listing
Rules, which are required to be disclosed in this report
in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
Details of such connected transaction (as defined under
the Listing Rules) are set out below in accordance with
the requirements of the Listing Rules:

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group, as
lessee, entered into several Leases Contracts (“Lease
Contracts 2020") with Beijing Tian’an Innovation
technology and Estates Limited* (It R RLRIBIBEER
A&]) (“BTIT"), as landlord, a connected person of the
Group. 100% equity interest in BTIT is indirectly held
by Mr. Chen Weiwu, Mr. Chen Weiwu is therefore a
connected person of the Company under the Listing
Rules. Set out below is a summary of the principal terms
of the Lease Contracts 2020.

Building 15, Building 32, Building 38,
Building 40, Building 41, Building 54,
Building 62 and Building 63

The Property:

Lease term: 10 years

Rental: Ranging from RMB1.51 to RMB1.69
per sg.m. per day for the first year.
Such rental rates will be increased
by 3% for each year thereafter. The
rent shall be pre-paid by Beijing
Mingchuang to BTIT on a quarterly
basis.

Rental deposit: Beijing Mingchuang shall pay a
deposit equivalent to 90-day rental
to BTIT not later than three working
days before the commencement of
the lease term.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

After the lease term expires or the
contract is terminated, if there is
damage to the leased property,
ancillary equipment and facilities, and
the items in the handover receipt
of the Property, BTIT has the right
to deduct the corresponding repair
expense for the damaged part from
the rental deposit.
Other expenses:  The tenants shall be responsible for
the utility’s charges, air-conditioning
charges, water charges and
renovation service fees (if any).

Use of the Research centers and ancillary offices
Property:

Condition: The transactions contemplated
under the Lease Contracts are
subject to the obtaining of approval
of the Independent Shareholders
in accordance with the applicable
regulations (including the Listing
Rules) by the Company.

Sublet: Beijing Mingchuang may sublet the

Property provided that the consent of
BTIT is obtained.

Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
27 December 2019 and the circular of the Company
dated 25 February 2020 for further details.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group, as
lessee, entered into several Leases Contracts (“Lease
Contracts 2021") with Beijing Tian'an Innovation
technology and Estates Limited* (bt R AKZHRIAIBEAR
AF]) ("BTIT”), as landlord, a connected person of the
Group. 100% equity interest in BTIT is indirectly held
by Mr. Chen Weiwu, Mr. Chen Weiwu is therefore a
connected person of the Company under the Listing
Rules. Set out below is a summary of the principal terms
of the Lease Contracts 2021.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

The Property:

Lease term:

Rental:

Rental deposit:

Other expenses:

Use of the
Property:

Condition:

Sublet:

Building 52, Building 58, Building 59,
Building 60, Building 61 and Building
69

Ranging from 10 years to 16 years

From RMB1.5 to RMB5.05 per sg.m.
per day for the first year. Such rental
rates will be increased by 3% for
each year thereafter. The rent shall
be pre-paid by Beijing Mingchuang to
BTIT on a quarterly basis.

Beijing Mingchuang shall pay a
deposit equivalent to 90-day rental
to BTIT not later than three working
days before the commencement
of the lease term. After the lease
term expires or the contract is
terminated, if there is damage to the
leased property, ancillary equipment
and facilities, and the items in the
handover receipt of the Property,
BTIT has the right to deduct the
corresponding repair expense for
the damaged part from the rental
deposit.

The lessee shall pay management
fee of to landlord.

Research centers, ancillary offices
and others.

The transactions contemplated
under the Lease Contracts are
subject to the obtaining of approval
of the Independent Shareholders
in accordance with the applicable
regulations (including the Listing
Rules) by the Company.

Beijing Mingchuang may sublet the
Property provided that the consent of
BTIT is obtained.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
11 December 2020 and the circular of the Company
dated 25 January 2021 for further details.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, total rental paid
or payable by the Group under the Lease Contracts
amounted to RMB13,791,000.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Company
entered into the equity sale and purchase agreement
with Mr. Chen Weiwu, director of the Company, to
acquire entire share capital of the Topper Genius
Investments Limited (“"Topper Genius"”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Acquisition”). Upon the Completion
of the Acquisition, the Company indirectly wholly
owned 35% of the equity interest in the Dongguan
Huachuangwen Land Ltd.* (BRZEmEAXEMHR A A])
through Topper Genius, thereby commencing its property
development business in the PRC. The Consideration
was settled by way of cash payment of approximately
HK$36,723,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB33,544,000) and issue and allotment of 800,000,000
consideration shares of the Company. Please refer to
announcement of the Company dated 9 April 2020 and
the circular of the Company dated 22 June 2020 for
further details.

During the year under review, save as disclosed above,
the Group did not conduct any other non-exempt
connected transaction or any continuing connected
transaction under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Emolument policy

As at 31 March 2021, the Group employed a total number
of 44 (2020: 110) employees. The remuneration of the
employees of the Group is amounted to approximately
HK$16.2 million for the year ended 31 March 2021 (2020:
HK$21.8 million). The Group remunerates its employees
based on their performance, experience and prevailing
industry practices. The emoluments of the Directors
and senior management of the Company are decided
by the remuneration committee of the Company, having
regard to the Company’s operating results, individual
performance and comparable market statistics.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Emolument policy (Continued)

The Group periodically reviews its remuneration package
in order to attract, motivate and retain its employees.
Discretionary bonuses may be rewarded to the Directors
and employees depending on the Group's operating
results and their performance.

Further, the Company has also adopted a share option
scheme for the primary purpose of providing incentives
or rewards to any the Director, employee and other
eligible participant who made significant contribution
to the Group. The Group also provides external training
courses to its staff to improve their skills and services
on an ongoing basis.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (“Dividend
Policy”). The Company considers stable and sustainable
returns to the shareholders of the Company to be its
goal. According to the Dividend Policy, in deciding
whether to propose a dividend and in determining the
dividend amount, the Board shall take into account, inter
alia:—

(i) the general financial condition of the Group;

(i) the Group’'s actual and future operations and
liquidity position;

(i) the Group’s expected working capital requirements
and future expansion plans;

(iv) the Group's debt to equity ratios and the debt level;
(v) the retained earnings and distributable reserves
of the Company and each of the members of the

Group;

(vi) the shareholders’ and the investors’ expectation
and industry’s norm;

(vii) the general market conditions; and

(viii) any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.
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DIVIDEND POLICY (Continued)

The declaration and payment of dividend by the Company
is also subject to any restrictions under the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and
the Company's articles of association and any other
applicable laws and regulations.

The Board will continually review the Dividend Policy and
reserves the right in its sole and absolute discretion to
update, amend, modify and/or cancel the Dividend Policy
at any time.

The Dividend Policy shall in no way constitute a legally
binding commitment by the Group in respect of its future
dividend and/or in no way obligate the Group to declare a
dividend at any time or from time to time.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

As at 31 March 2021, none of the Directors was
interested in any business, which competed or was
likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
Group’s businesses except that Mr. Chen Weiwu is an
ultimate beneficiary owner of BTIT which is engaged in
construction, property development and related business
in the PRC.

As the Board is independent of the boards of BTIT, the
Company has therefore been capable of carrying on its
businesses independently of, and at arm’s length from,
the above businesses.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Current assets

As at 31 March 2021, current assets primarily consist
of (i) properties under development; (ii) trade and other
receivables; and (iii) cash and cash equivalents. The
increase in current assets by HK$1,012.8 million or
320.4% compared to last year was mainly resulted
from: (i) increase in properties under development by
HK$770.4 million or 100% compared to last year due
to the acquired the equity interest of Topper Genius
Investments Limited; (ii) increase in trade and other
receivables HK$188.1 million or 125.9% compared to
last year was mainly due to the increase in deposits,
prepayments and other receivables; and (iii) increase in
cash and cash equivalents by HK$25.5 million or 17.0%
compared to last year.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
Non-current assets

As at 31 March 2021, non-current assets primarily
consist of investment properties and finance lease
receivables. The increase in investment properties by
HK$100.9 million or 55.0% compared to last year and
the increase in finance lease receivables by HK$218.7
million or 385.8%, due to acquisition of new lease
contracts during the year. Details of which are set out in
paragraph headed “Significant investments held, material
acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries, associates and
joint ventures, and future plans for material investments
or capital assets” in this report.

Current liabilities

As at 31 March 2021, current liabilities primarily consist
of (i) trade and other payables; (ii) contract liabilities;
(iii) amounts due to non-controlling shareholders of
subsidiaries; (iv) lease liabilities; and (v) bank and
other borrowings. The increase in current liabilities by
HK$574.8 million or 219.9% compared to last year was
mainly resulted from: (i) increase in contract liabilities by
HK$433.7 million or 40,890.7% compared to last year
was mainly because of the increase in deposits and
instalments received on properties sold prior to the date
of revenue recognition; (ii) increase in bank and other
borrowings for the property development business in
Dongguan, PRC; and (iii) increase in lease liabilities by
HK$31.4 million or 155.8% compared to last year.

Liquidity and financial resources

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had bank borrowings in
total of approximately HK$289.5 million (31 March 2020:
bank and other borrowings, bills payables and convertible
bonds of approximately HK$178.7 million).

ESEHEE
DIRECTORS’ REPORT

B EIRE @)
*RBEE

RZZE-_—F=ZA=Z+—H ¥EEHEE
TEREREMERERBEAERE-
% & ¥ ¥ & A& F # 10100,900,0007% 7T
5,55.0% + T J& Yz g & A & 3k 18 A 15 0
218,700,000 705, 385.8% * It JIHARF K
WEFHESHE - BAFBEHENARS
[(RBEZEARE  MBAF  BEAFRE
ERAIZERNBREESFSEUARERKE
HEREE I ARRETE |-

RBRE

RZZEZ—F=A=+—H "BHEEXE
BENENEREREMKIE : (1EHEE
(i) FERT P B 2 &) 2 JEE IR IR B BIE 5 (iv) M
g8 RVBTREMEES - RBARER
EFHENN574,800,000870219.9% * £E
B ()& 88 ERE S IN433,700,000
B I5040,890.7% * T EAMNMERKZH
HRTFT B M= E 2 R & Ko AR TEIE N
FIE (PR REEEREB 2RITR
HaBEGMN: RilAEAEREFHEM
31,400,000 T8k 155.8% °

RBESRMBEER

RZE-—F=ZRA=+—8 ' AEBEZET
BEA H£45289,500,0008 L (— T -FF
A=+ —HZBITREMEE BEHER
AR AT AR fE % + #9178,700,00087T) »

H

i

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 =2 = — 4 4§

35



36

EEEHESE
DIRECTORS’ REPORT

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
Liquidity and financial resources (Continued)

The maturity profile of the Group’'s bank and other
borrowings is set out as follows:

BB 2
FBESRMBER L)
AEBRTRAMBEE 2 B BPAARIMT -

2021 2020
—E-—F 3
HK$ Million HK$ Million
B&EET B & ET
Repavyable: AR T BHIERE ¢
Within one year —F R 289.5 67.0
More than one year, but not Bl —FENBBRMRE
exceeding two years — 17.3
More than two years, but not BEMEENBR=F
exceeding three years — 8.2
Total FEE 289.5 92.5

The carrying amounts of all the Group’s bank and other
borrowings were denominated in RMB. As at 31 March
2021, the Group's bank and other borrowings balance
of approximately HK$289.5 million was charged at a
fixed interest rate. The bank and other borrowings carry
effective interest rates 7.24% per annum (2020: from
4.15% to 8.23%).

During the year ended 31 March 2021, all convertible
bonds has converted to ordinary shares of the Company.
Please refer to the Company’s announcement date 30
July 2020 for details.

The gearing ratio of the Group as at 31 March 2021 was
31.1% compared with 28.1% as at 31 March 2020. The
Directors consider the Group as in a healthy financial
position. Such ratio was calculated with reference to the
bank and other borrowings, bills payables and convertible
bonds and deduction of cash and cash equivalents
over the Company's equity attributable to owners of
the Company. As at 31 March 2021, the Group had net
current assets of approximately HK$492.8 million as
compared with the net current assets as at 31 March
2020 of approximately HK$54.7 million. The current ratio
of the Group as at 31 March 2021 was 1.6 compared
with 1.2 as at 31 March 2020.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
Liquidity and financial resources (Continued)

The revenue of the Group, being mostly denominated in
Renminbi and Hong Kong dollar, matches the currency
requirement of the Group’s expenses while other foreign
currencies were immaterial. During the year ended 31
March 2021, no financial instrument was entered into by
the Group used for hedging purpose. The Group was not
exposed to any exchange rate risk or any related hedges.

Fund raising activities

In prior years, the Group completed the following fund
raising exercise to strengthen its financial position and
raised the gross proceeds of approximately HK$42.0
million, with the net proceeds of approximately HK$41.8
million after deduction of issuance expenses. Details of
which are set out as follows:

Description of fund Intended use of

Date of announcement raising activities proceeds

A AH REEDFE FBREZRERE
Approximately HK$27.2

million for money

31 August 2018 Issue of convertible
bonds in an aggregate
principal amount of

HK$42,031,080

lending business
of the Group in

Hong Kong
ZE-NENA=T—H EILLHEA #127,200,000 & LA {E
42,031,080 BT 2 KEEREAEZ
AR ES MEXH
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Actual use of proceeds Unutilised amount
as at 31 March 2021 as at 31 March 2021
R=-B=-% R=B=-F
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NEZERAR PACEN IlE

Nil Approximately HK$27.2
million was reserved
to be used to provide
additional resources
to expansion and
development of
the Group's money
lending business
when such expansion
and development plan
materializes
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Fund raising activities (Continued)

Description of fund

Date of announcement raising activities

DR

26 July 2017

SEEBHER

Issue of convertible
bonds in an aggregate
principal amount of
HK$46,341,960

—tFLAZTRE ETELLER

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED

46,341,960 8 TT.2
BRES

Intended use of
proceeds

FEREZRERR

Approximately HK$14.6
million for general
working capital of the
Group

#14,600,000 % T A fE
KB -HR2EES

Approximately HK$32.1
million for potential
acquisition

#732,100,000 %7
FARNBERESR

Approximately HK$14.0
million for general
working capital of the
Group

%14mawo%ﬁ%¢
AEE—REE

BB 2
ERED (E)

Actual use of proceeds
as at 31 March 2021
R-ZB=-%
ZA=+—-BF#
NEZERAR

Approximately HK$14.6
million for general
working capital of the
Group

%MGWO%%%%#
TEEZ-REER

Approximately HK$32.1
million for acquisition
the entire share capital
of the Topper Genius
Investments Limited
(EBRERRRA),
which indirectly hold
35% of the equity
interest in Dongguan
Huachuangwen Land
Ltd* (REMEE
XEMHERDA)
through Topper Genius
Investments Limited

#132,100,000 7 7t A fEUR
BEEREBRARYZ
2HRA - HEARE
REFRRAIRMEER
REMERNENER
AA135% 2 fRiE

Approximately HK$14.0
million

£714,000,000 77T

Unutilised amount
as at 31 March 2021
R-B--F
ZRA=t-8
ZHABAER

=

A

=

A

Nil
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Charges

As at 31 March 2021, the Group’s bank and other
borrowings were secured by i) corporate guarantees
provided by related companies of a non-controlling
Shareholder, and a subsidiary of the Group; ii) personal
guarantees provided by Mr. Chen Weiwu, the director
of the Group and his spouse; iii) entire equity interest
of a subsidiary of the Group; and iv) properties under
development of the Group with carrying amounts of
HK$770.4 million.

As at 31 March 2020, personal and corporate guarantees
were given to banks and financial institutions for
certain bank and other borrowings by Mr. Yang Lei,
a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company, his
spouse, and a related company, which is beneficially
owned by Mr. Yang Lei and his spouse, a related party
and the independent third party companies. Further,
certain assets of Mr. Yang Lei, his spouse and a related
party have been pledged to secure the bank and other
borrowings.

On 3 September 2019, M R H KL EE X AFHRE 2 7
(Nanjing Yinkun Investment Corporation Co. Ltd.*), an
indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company,
provided the guarantees in respect of a loan facility for
the principal amount of up to RMB100 million to an
independent third party from a financial institution in the
PRC.

On 29 October 2020, M RIRHM K EE X AR X A
(Nanjing Yinkun Investment Corporation Co. Ltd.*) an
indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company,
provided the guarantees in respect of a loan facility for
the principal amount of up to RMB40 million provided to
an independent third party from a financial institution in
the PRC.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
Charges (Continued)

The financial guarantees mentioned above has been
transferred to third party upon disposal of the subsidiary
during the year ended 31 March 2021.

Details of which are set out in the paragraph headed
“Advance to an entity” in this report.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have any
other charges on assets as at 31 March 2021.

Contingent liabilities

Please refer to note 44 to the consolidated financial
statements for material contingent liabilities of the Group
as at 31 March 2021.

Significant investments held, material acquisitions
and disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures, and future plans for material investments or
capital assets

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Company
entered into the equity sale and purchase agreement
with Mr. Chen Weiwu, director of the Company, to
acquire entire share capital of the Topper Genius
Investments Limited (“"Topper Genius"”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Acquisition”). Upon the Completion of
the Acquisition, the Company indirectly wholly hold 35%
of the equity interest in the Dongguan Huachuangwen
Land Ltd.* (REMmEAI X E# AR A F)through Topper
Genius, thereby commencing its property development
business in the PRC. The Consideration was settled by
way of cash payment of approximately HK$36,723,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB33,544,000) and issue
and allotment of 800,000,000 consideration shares of the
Company. Details of the Acquisition were disclosed in
the Company’s announcements dated 9 April 2020 and
circular dated 22 June 2020, respectively.

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED ) BERERAR

BB 2
B ()
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Significant investments held, material acquisitions
and disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures, and future plans for material investments or
capital assets (Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2021, BoRen Cultural
Development Limited (the “BoRen Cultural”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Group, entered into the sale
and purchase agreement (the “SP Agreement”) with
the Purchaser in relation to the disposal of Elite-China
Cultural Development Limited and its subsidiaries
("Elite-China"), pursuant to which BoRen Cultural
has conditionally agreed to sell, and the Purchaser
has conditionally agreed to purchase the entire shares
of Elite-China (representing 60% of the issued share
capital of Elite-China) at the total Consideration of
approximately HK$800,000 in accordance with the
terms and conditions of the SP Agreement. Elite-China
is a company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited
liability and is owned as to 60% by BoRen Cultural.
It is principally engaged in investment holding. As at
the date of the announcement, Elite-China indirectly
holds 100% of the equity interest in FRIBIIZEE L
A BR A & (Nanjing Yinkun Investment Corporation Co.
Ltd.*) through FRBIZERNEBIEAEREFEAF (Nanjing
Creative Eastern 8 Zone Technology Co., Ltd.*) which
established in the PRC and is principally engaged in sub-
leasing business in Nanjing, the PRC. Completion took
place on 21 December 2020 in accordance with the
terms and conditions of the SP Agreement. Following
the completion, those subsidiaries are no longer be held
by the Group. Details of disposal were disclosed in the
Company’s announcement dated 1 December 2020 and
circular dated 22 January 2021, respectively.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Significant investments held, material acquisitions
and disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures, and future plans for material investments or
capital assets (Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2021, It R R A ¥ E IR
AR~ 7] (Beijing Mingchuang Business Management Co.,
Ltd.*) (the “Beijing Mingchuang”), an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into the lease
contracts with Beijing Tian'an Innovation Technology
and Estates Limited (the "BTIT"), a related party of the
Group, pursuant to which Beijing Mingchuang agreed
conditionally to rent the properties, and BTIT agreed
conditionally to lease the properties. For further details,
please refer to the Company’'s announcement dated 11
December 2020 and circular dated 25 January 2021,
respectively.

Save as disclosed above, there was no significant
investments held, no material acquisitions or disposals of
subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures during the year
ended 31 March 2021.

Advance to an entity

On 3 September 2019, M RIFHILEEEBR QA
(Nanjing Yinkun Investment Corporation Co. Ltd.*) (the
“Guarantor”), an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary
of the Company as the guarantor, entered into guarantee
agreement (the "Guarantee Agreement”), pursuant to
which the Guarantor agreed to guarantee the repayment
obligations of BRIkt MR K AR 2 & (Nanjing
Ruiyixiang Network Technology Co., Ltd.*), a company
established in the PRC and a potential business partner
of the Guarantor, as the borrower under the loan
agreement in respect of the loan facility for the principal
amount of up to RMB100 million at a fixed rate of 6.5%
per annum, which was secured by a piece of land owned
by the borrower itself in Nanjing, PRC. Such facility shall
be matured in 36 months, RMB80 million and RMB20
million were drawn down in September 2019 and January
2020 respectively. Pursuant to Rule 13.20 of the Listing
Rules, details of Guarantee Agreement were disclosed
in the Company announcement dated 8 November 2019
and circular dated 22 January 2020.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
Advance to an entity (Continued)

On 29 October 2020, P RIRHM K EE X AR 2 A
(Nanjing Yinkun Investment Corporation Co. Ltd.*) , (the
“Guarantor”), an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary
of the Company, entered into the guarantee agreement
(the “Guarantee Agreement”) with the Lender,
pursuant to which the Guarantor agreed to guarantee the
repayment obligations of the FIRIBHEBEERTAR
2~xa] (Nanjing Yinrui Wanjin Intelligent Technology Co.,
Ltd.*), a company established in the PRC and a potential
business partner of the Guarantor, as the borrower
under the loan agreement in respect of the loan facility
for the principal amount of RMB40 million at a fixed
rate of 7%. Such facility shall be matured in 36 months
and RMB16 million was drawn under the Loan Facility
in October 2020. For further details, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 29 October 2020.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Details of the remuneration paid by the Group to the
Directors of the Company and senior management of
the Group for the year ended 31 March 2021 are set
out in notes 12 and 40(a) to the consolidated financial
statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries purchased, sold
or redeemed the Company’s listed securities during the
year ended 31 March 2021.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of its Directors, the Company
has maintained sufficient public float in accordance with
the Listing Rules throughout the year ended 31 March
2021 and as at the date of this report.
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AUDITOR

A resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company to re-appoint BDO
Limited as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Chen Weiwu
Chairman
Hong Kong, 29 June 2021
¥ For identification only
CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED AERERAERA A

BB B

ARBHNEERRBFAG LRERER
BEZEBALGREEMMEBMERA
B AR R BB -

RERESZE
E
BRER
BB —E-—FXA=-t+hAH

* ERES



& EERRE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

INTRODUCTION

The Board and the senior management of the Company
are committed to establishing good corporate governance
practices and procedures. The maintenance of high
standard of business ethics and corporate governance
practices has always been one of the Group's goals.
The Company believes that good corporate governance
provides a framework that is essential for effective
management, successful business growth and a healthy
corporate culture, thereby leading to the enhancement of
shareholders’ value.

CODE OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Throughout the year ended 31 March 2021, the Company
has complied with all the code provisions of the
Corporate Governance Code (the "CG Code”) contained
in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules.

The below sets out the Group's Corporate governance
principles and practices, indicate how the Group has
applied relevant principles in the CG Code.
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THE BOARD
Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control
of the Company and oversees the Group's business,
strategic decisions and performances and is collectively
responsible for promoting the success of the Company
by directing and supervising its affairs. In practice, the
Board takes responsibility for decision making in all
major matters of the Company including the approval and
monitoring of all policy matters, the setting of objectives,
annual budgets and overall strategies, the entering
into material transactions, appointment of Directors,
reviewing the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems and other significant financial
and operational matters. The day-to-day management,
administration and operation of the Company are
delegated to the senior executives and the management.
Their responsibilities include the implementation of
decisions made by the Board, the co-ordination and
direction of day-to-day operation and management of the
Company in accordance with the management strategies
and plans approved by the Board. The Board receives
full support from senior executives to discharge its
responsibility. Prior approval has to be obtained from
the Board before entering into any material transactions.
The statement of the auditors of the Company in relation
to their reporting responsibilities for the consolidated
financial statements is set out in the Independent
Auditor’s Report on pages 70 to 76 of this report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

THE BOARD (Continued)
Composition

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises five
Directors, including two Executive Directors, namely,
Mr. Chen Weiwu (Chairman) and Mr. Zhou Houjie (Acting
Chief Executive Officer) and three Independent Non-
executive Directors, namely, Mr. Chen Youchun, Ms. Lui
Mei Ka and Mr. Zhou Xin.

One of the Independent Non-executive Directors has
appropriate accounting and financial management
expertise. The number of Independent Non-executive
Directors is more than one-third of the Board.
Biographical details of the Chairman and other Directors
are set out in the paragraph headed “Directors and
senior management” on pages 16 to 21 of this report.

The presence of three Independent Non-executive
Directors is considered by the Board to be a reasonable
balance between Executive Directors and Non-executive
Directors. The Board is of the opinion that such balance
can provide adequate checks and balances to safeguard
the interests of shareholders and of the Group. The
Independent Non-executive Directors provide to the
Group with a wide range of expertise and experience so
that independent judgment can be exercised effectively.
They have also participated in Board meetings and
general meetings, dealt with potential conflicts of
interest, served on Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee of the Company
and scrutinised the Group’'s performance and reporting.
Through their active participation, the management
process of the Company can be critically reviewed and
controlled.
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THE BOARD (Continued)
Composition (Continued)

The Directors have distinguished themselves in their
field of expertise, and have exhibited high standards
of personal and professional ethics and integrity. All
Directors have given sufficient time and attention to the
Company’s affairs. Each Director shall disclosed to the
Company at the time of his/her appointment the positions
held in other listed companies or public organisation
and other significant commitment, and is required to
provide any change on such situation in a timely manner.
The Board believes that the ratio between Executive
Directors and Independent Non-executive Directors is
reasonable and adequate to perform check and balance
function over the Board in the decision making process.

The Board participates in the selection and approval of
new Director. Independent Non-executive Directors are
appointed for a specific term. Under the Bye-laws, all
the Directors are required to retire and be re-selected by
rotation at least once every three years.

In compliance with Code Provision A.3.2 of the CG Code,
an updated list of the Directors identifying their role and
function are available on the websites of the Company
(http://www.ts674.com) and the Stock Exchange (www.
hkex.com.hk). The Company will review the composition
of the Board from time to time to ensure that the Board
possesses the appropriate and necessary expertise,
skill and experience to meet the needs of the Group's
business and to enhance the Shareholders’ value.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received an annual confirmation
of independence from each of the Independent Non-
executive Director in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules and each of them has declared fulfilment
of all the guidelines for assessing independence
in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
Accordingly, the Company considers that all the
Independent Non-executive Directors are independent.

All Independent Non-executive Directors are identified
as such in all corporate communications containing the
names of the Directors. In addition, there is no material
relationship between Board members.

BOARD MEETINGS AND SHAREHOLDERS’
MEETINGS

The Board regularly meets at least four times a vyear,
approximately quarterly intervals. Directors attend
meetings in person or through other electronic means
of communication to determine the overall strategic
direction, objectives and to approve interim results,
annual results or other significant matters. Draft notice
and agenda for regular meetings are provided to all
Directors for comments and inclusion of any matters for
deliberation at the meetings at least 14 days before the
meetings. Apart from holding regular meetings, senior
management from time to time provides to the Directors
information on activities and development of the
business of the Group. The Company Secretary assists
the Chairman in preparing agenda for the meetings
and ensures that all applicable rules and regulations in
connection with the meetings are observed and complied
with. The agenda and Board papers are then sent to
all Directors at least 3 days prior to the meeting. The
Company Secretary also takes detailed minutes, keeps
records of matters discussed and decision resolved at
the meetings.
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BOARD MEETINGS AND SHAREHOLDERS’
MEETINGS (Continued)

EEgEERREAE#)

During the year, details of the Directors’ attendance in RERN EFHFUA TSR ZFBEHIOT :
the following meetings are set out below:
Audit  Remuneration Nomination Annual Special
Board Committee Committee Committee General General
Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
attended/ attended/ attended/ attended/ attended/ attended/
Eligible Eligible Eligible Eligible Eligible Eligible
Name of Directors attended attended attended attended attended attended
&/ &/ &/ &/ &/ &/
RERLR RERHLE RERLE RERLR RER REK
g3¢ ENZES iMzeg R#z88 LRERR EERR
£3:5] EE ] g3 EE ] EE ] BEXE KHAE
Executive Director
HnEs
Mr. Chen Weiwu A4 — — 22 n —
RERLE
Mr. Zhou Houjie Al - 202 - [ 212
REfLSE
Independent Non-executive Director
BUkyTES
Mr. Chen Youchun 44 22 202 212 1 22
RREtE
Ms. Lui Mei Ka 44 212 - - 111 202
ERENt
Mr. Zhou Xin 44 22 22 22 1N 22
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BOARD MEETINGS AND SHAREHOLDERS’
MEETINGS (Continued)

During regular meetings of the Board, the Directors
discuss and formulate the overall strategies of the Group,
monitor financial performances, review the annual and
interim results, and make decisions on other significant
matters. The execution of daily operational matters is
delegated to the senior executives of the Group.

The Company Secretary records the proceedings of each
Board meeting in detail by keeping minutes, including the
record of all decisions resolved by the Board together
with concerns raised and dissenting views expressed (if
any). Draft Board minutes are circulated to all Directors
for comment and approval as soon as practicable after
the meeting. All minutes are open for inspection at any
reasonable time upon request by any Director.

All Directors have access to relevant and timely
information at all times and they may make further
enquiries if it is necessary to do so.

They also have unrestricted access to the advice
and services of the Company Secretary, who is held
responsible for providing Directors with Board papers
and other related materials. The Company Secretary
also ensures that proper Board procedures are followed
and that all applicable laws and regulations are complied
with. If the Directors consider necessary and appropriate,
they may retain the service of independent professional
advisers at the Group's expense.

In case where a conflict of interest arises involving a
substantial shareholder or a Director, such matter will be
resolved in a physical meeting instead of passing written
resolutions. Independent Non-executive Directors with
no conflict of interest will be present at meetings to deal
with such conflict issues.
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BOARD MEETINGS AND SHAREHOLDERS’
MEETINGS (Continued)

The Board committees, including the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee, have all adopted the applicable practices and
procedures used in Board meetings.

The annual general meeting and other special
general meetings of the Company are the primary
forum for communication with its shareholders and
for shareholders’ participation. All shareholders are
encouraged to attend the general meetings or to appoint
proxies to attend and vote at meetings on their behalves
if they are unable to attend.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Company
held its annual general meeting on 25 September 2020.
Details of major items discussed in those general
meeting are set out in the circulars of the Company
dated 24 August 2020.

TRAINING AND SUPPORT FOR
DIRECTORS

All Directors, including Independent Non-executive
Directors, must keep abreast of their collective
responsibilities as Directors and of the business of the
Group. As such, the Group provides a comprehensive
and formal induction to each newly appointed Director
upon his/her appointment. Briefings and orientations are
provided so as to ensure that new Directors are familiar
with the role of the Board, their legal and other duties
as a Director as well as the business and governance
practices of the Group. Such programmes are tailor-made
for each Director taking into account their background
and expertise.
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TRAINING AND SUPPORT FOR
DIRECTORS (Continued)

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional training so as to develop and refresh
directors’ knowledge and skills and to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Directors
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participated in the following training:

EER2HTIE

Type of training

Name of Director BEEHZ bkl
Executive Directors BITES

Mr. Chen Weiwu RERLE A B
Mr. Zhou Houijie BAB&EE A, B
Independent Non-executive Directors BIYFHITES

Mr. Chen Youchun BREELE A B
Ms. Lui Mei Ka EERLL A B
Mr. Zhou Xin Bk & A B

A:. attending seminars, briefing sessions, conferences
and/or forums

B: reading newspapers, journals and updates relating
to the economy and/or general business etc.

Each Director will, upon his/her first appointment and
thereafter on a yearly basis, disclose to the Group the
number and nature of offices held by such Director in
public companies and organisations and other significant
commitments.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established with
specific written terms of reference which was revised
and adopted on 6 March 2015. The Remuneration
Committee currently consists of one Executive Director
and two Independent Non-executive Directors, namely,
Mr. Chen Youchun (Chairman), Mr. Zhou Houjie and Mr.
Zhou Xin.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for, among
other things, making recommendations to the Board
regarding the overall remuneration policy, remuneration
of Directors and senior management of the Group,
share option scheme, bonus structure, provident fund
and other compensation-related issues. This committee
consults with the Chairman and/or Chief Executive officer
on its proposals and recommendations and has access
to professional advice, if necessary. The Remuneration
Committee is provided with sufficient resources to
discharge and perform its duties.

The specific terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee is posted on the Company's website. The
Remuneration Committee meets at least once a year.

During the year under review, the Remuneration
Committee held two meetings to review and make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of all Directors and senior management.

To summarize, the work done by the Remuneration
Committee included the determination of the policy
for the remuneration of Executive Directors and the
assessment of the Executive Directors’ performance of
their service contracts.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established with
specific written terms of reference which was revised
and adopted on 1 January 2019. The most up-to-date
version of written terms of reference of the Nomination
Committee is available on the website of the Company
and the Stock Exchange. The Nomination Committee
currently consists of one Executive Director and two
Independent Non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Chen
Weiwu (Chairman), Mr. Chen Youchun and Mr. Zhou Xin.

The main duties of the Nomination Committee include
reviewing the structure, size and composition of the
Board annually, making recommendations on any
proposed changes to the Board to complement the
Company’'s corporate strategy, identifying individuals
suitably qualified to become members of the Board,
selecting individuals nominated for directorships,
assessing the independence of the Independent Non-
executive Directors and making recommendations to
the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of
Directors and succession planning for Directors, in
particular the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer.
The Nomination Committee is provided with sufficient
resources to discharge and perform its duties.

The specific terms of reference of the Nomination
Committee is posted on the Company’s website. The
Nomination Committee meets at least once a year.

During the year under review, the Nomination Committee
held two meetings to assess the independence of the
Independent Non-executive Directors. This included
the nomination procedures and the process and criteria
adopted by the Nomination Committee to select and
recommend candidates for directorship. The Nomination
Committee considered that an appropriate balance of
diversity perspectives of the Board is maintained.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an Audit Committee with
specific written terms of reference which was revised
and adopted on 1 January 2019. The most up-to-date
version of the written terms of reference of the Audit
Committee is available on the website of the Company
and the Stock Exchange. The main duties of the Audit
Committee include, among other things, the following:

(@) to review the financial statements and reports and
consider any significant or unusual items raised by
the Company’'s staff responsible for the accounting
and financial reporting function or external auditor
before submission to the Board.

(b)  to review the relationship with the external auditor
by reference to the work performed by the auditor,
their fees and terms of engagement, and make
recommendation to the Board on the appointment,
re-appointment and removal of external auditor.

(c) to review the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Company's financial reporting system, internal
control system and risk management system and
associated procedures.

The Audit Committee is provided with sufficient
resources to discharge and perform its duties.

Other duties of the Audit Committee are set out in
its specific terms of reference which is posted on the
Company’s website. The Audit Committee shall meet at
least twice a year.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (Continued)

The Audit Committee currently consists of three
Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chen
Youchun (Chairman), Ms. Lui Mei Ka and Mr. Zhou Xin.
No member of the Audit Committee is a former partner
of the existing auditing firm of the Company within one
year on the date of his ceasing to be a partner or had
any financial interest in the auditing firm. The Audit
Committee has reviewed the accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Group and discussed auditing
and financial reporting matters with the management
team of the Company.

During the year under review, the Audit Committee
held two meetings to review, among other things, the
Company’s interim report for the six months ended 30
September 2020, annual report for the year ended 31
March 2020. The Audit Committee has also reviewed
the financial reporting and compliance procedures, report
on the Company’s internal control and risk management
review and processes as well as the re-appointment of
the external auditor. There is no material uncertainty
relating to events and conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as
a going concern. There is no disagreement between the
Board and the Audit Committee regarding the selection,
appointment, resignation or dismissal of external auditor.

The accounts for the year were audited by BDO Limited,
whose term of office will expire upon the forthcoming
annual general meeting. The Audit Committee has
recommended to the Board that BDO Limited be
nominated for appointment as the auditor of the
Company at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

The Company Secretary keeps full minutes of all Audit
Committee meetings. In line with practices consistent
with Board meetings and other committee meetings,
draft and final version of Audit Committee meeting
minutes are circulated to all members of the Audit
Committee for comments, approval and record as soon
as practicable after each meeting.

BREEG#H)

BERZESRNA-R2BYINTESA
B BREFERE(ER)  BEXRXEIRA
MLt e MEERZBENEBERKILERAR
REAZBAHEZBRBABALTERZEE
REEAEAM BN G2 BHEF—FA -
REAZBRRZAEARA - BERZEECE
BERAKEMRAZ G RAUKED - X HE
AprERER T wET MY BRRER

REBEFERN BERZEECHRTRAE
& NBENEFAERE)IARABE_FT =
TFEANA=ZTHILEANEARZF BAREARE
EEZF-A=+-HALFEZFER
HeoBRZEENCRIVFERERERE
Fro SR ARE 2 AERES 1R K Al fe B IR A
NIBFFIA R EHEEIMNE R BN EHER
ARYETMEAEHARFRETHELE
ELBEAREZEHRENEBIERNTE
EI%°§$@&%V§:@%%3‘§

FAZKBCRKRABTEL ERREFNER
Fﬁ*ﬁﬁﬁ”ﬂ%@’E{Eﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁffﬂx%ﬂﬁ
REHER BRLZEQCREFER

erﬂxﬁﬂiﬁﬁtﬁ%éﬁcéﬁﬁélﬁﬁ%
SEETEEBAMAR AR R/ARRRZLEED -

o

REIMERBTHE
gtk AFEE
BELPH  BRE Eﬁ“@ﬁm&
BRRERERSEZERE - E/\\\fﬂﬁ—fﬂ%
MTEREXTERZEGZ2EKE - N
HEZHTER  FHRIH -

PN =
e n%

&ﬁﬁﬂé

Uﬂﬂ%@ﬁ}

>E+ ) 1) ¢
N I8 WPh
Bk

mE}

\
’

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 == Ea

57



58

&% ERKE
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy setting
out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board. The
Company considered diversity of board members can be
achieved through consideration of a number of aspects,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional experience, skills
and knowledge. All Board appointments will be based on
meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against
objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of
diversity on the Board.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of
diversified perspectives, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length
of service. The ultimate decision will be made upon the
merits of the selected candidates and their contribution
to the Board. The Board considered the measurable
objectives, including but not limited to skills, knowledge,
professional experience and cultural and educational
background, and agreed that these measurable objectives
were achieved for the diversity of the Board which
contributed to the enhancement of corporate strategy
and the business development of the Company.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2021, the remuneration
in respect of audit services provided by the auditors,
BDO Limited, amounted to HK$1,550,000 (2020:
HK$1,400,000). For non-audit services included
professional services in respect of the interim financial
information of the Group for the six months ended
30 September 2020 and major transactions, the fees
amounted to HK$700,000 (2020: HK$690,000).
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COMPLIANCE WITH MODEL CODE

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of the Listed Issuers (the
“Model Code"”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing
Rules as its own code of conduct regarding directors’
securities transactions. Specific enquiries have been
made with all Directors, who have confirmed that,
during the year ended 31 March 2021, each of them has
complied with the required standards as set out in the
Model Code.

RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES OF
DIRECTORS AND AUDITOR

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of
financial statements, which give a true and fair view
of the financial position of the Group. The auditor is
responsible to form an independent opinion on the
audited consolidated financial statements and report the
same to the shareholders of the Company.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is responsible for assisting
the Board by ensuring good information flow within
the Board members as well as the Board policy and
procedures being followed properly. The Company
Secretary is also responsible for organizing general
meetings of the Company and facilitating the induction
and professional development of the Directors. The
Biographical details of the Company Secretary is included
in the Biographical details of Directors and senior
management of the Directors’ Report.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Company
Secretary undertook no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

No corporate governance committee has been
established and the Board is responsible for performing
the corporate governance functions including but not
limited to:

° to develop and review the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance and make
recommendations to the Company;

° to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

° to review and monitor the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

° to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct
and compliance manual (if any) applicable to
employees and Directors; and

° to review the Company’s compliance with the code
provision of Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Statements and Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements of
the Group that give a true and fair view in accordance
with applicable accounting standards and Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. The Directors are not aware of
any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’'s
ability to continue as a going concern.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (Continued)

Financial Statements and Financial Reporting
(Continued)

The Directors also acknowledge their responsibilities
to ensure that the consolidated financial statements on
annual and interim results of the Group are published in
a timely manner, within three months and two months
respectively of the year end and the half-year period end.

The reporting responsibility of the external auditor of the
Company on the consolidated financial statements of the
Group are set out in “Independent Auditor’'s Report” on
pages 70 to 76.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board recognises its overall responsibilities for
maintaining sound and effective risk management
and internal control systems including a review on
their effectiveness for achieving long-term sustainable
development of the Group. The risk management and
internal control systems, under a defined management
structure with limits of authority, are designed for the
Group to identify and manage the significant risks to
pursue its business objectives, safeguard its assets
against unauthorised use or disposition, enhance
effectiveness and efficiency of its operations, ensure the
maintenance of proper accounting records for reliable
financial reporting, and ensure compliance with relevant
laws and regulations. Such systems are designed to
manage rather than eliminate risks of failure in the
achievement of the Group's business objectives and
can only provide reasonable, but not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (continued)

The Board is responsible for the determination of the
Group’s risk profile within its acceptable tolerance
levels in business operation, oversight of management
in the design, implementation and monitoring of overall
risk management process from risk identification, risk
assessment, establishment of appropriate risk responses
and regular risk evaluation and monitoring, so as to
ensure the systems are effectively established and
maintained.

The risk management process is structured from
management of the Group from respective business
functions at execution level to the Board, together
assisted with the Audit Committee in decision-making
and monitoring level. Management of the Group
identifies, assesses and prioritises the key existing and
potential risks through a detailed assessment process
and determines the appropriate mitigation strategies
and control measures in response of the identified risks.
Ongoing evaluation and monitoring of the identified risks,
respective measures, and results are carried out and
reported to the Board regularly. The Board at decision-
making level, assisted with the Audit Committee,
reviews the risk appetite, risk management process and
strategies and also the internal control systems and
provide recommendations for any improvement on the
systems in an ongoing basis to ensure risk management
effectiveness.

=l

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED IEEERERA

BkEE R AEBEEEE)

EETCAERLEENEEREE LIIAT
BERIRARAS EEEEEBHKEARH
Al BT SIEEBEZRABRELHERE
EHETRBRIERER 2 BERRERR
BzERT BHERER BRZRGKIER
ST R o

J—LAM BRI RBEHASER XKL
EREBERNITER  ZEZG(ERARE
H%Véﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁg%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ°
AEEERERBAMANEEFHRE LE
EFERRBETHR  FEREEF - e
Bz RAREESERIERERRREREZER
R FHEHEERNZ AR - HEH R KIEH
BRETRIANESR  TEHMESZSEL
e 7 o %%ﬁﬂ;ﬁﬁiﬁﬁ BB RERE
ZZEg HRERBRAES  REREEREREK
AR AR EZERGETRN - RERLIE
HERE R - AERERER  ARL



& EERRE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (continued)

The Board has in place an internal audit function within
the Group as required under code provision C.2.5 of
the CG code. The Group conducts review of the risk
management and internal control systems on annual
basis. To strengthen the risk management and internal
control of the Group, the Company has engaged an
independent professional adviser (the “Adviser”) to
perform independent appraisal of the adequacy and
effectiveness of certain subsidiaries’ risk management
and internal control system for the year ended 31 March
2021. The scope of review was determined and approved
by the Board, including review of risk management
functions of selected entities of the Group. The Adviser
carried out the review which involves the following tasks:

1. Conducting interviews with relevant management
and staff members relating to the risk management
and internal controls;

2. Conducting walk-through relating to the risk
management and internal controls review;

3. Reviewing relevant documentation on site relating
to the risk management and internal controls
review;

4. ldentifying significant deficiencies in the design of
the risk management and internal controls; and

5. Communicate the identified control deficiencies, our
recommendations, remediation plan of management
and follow up results to the Audit Committee so
as to facilitate the Board and Audit Committee in
evaluating of the Group’s risk management and
Internal Control system.

B EERABEREE)

EEEERBEXERTANTRMEXE
C2hEMAEBEARIAIEZBAE -
SEZFHRREEMNAREIZERRETR
Ao mNEARENEREENMABPEEE -
BHE_T_—F=A=+—HIEFE  Xx2Q
FAEZE—R2BUEXER(EBDHEET
MEBARMEAREERAMEZRERNTE
UERERERABLI G RIBEHES
SETLELR  BEERIAEELKEER
ZREBEEBEE - BRPITZE RS M
NIfE:

1. HEREERAFEZEZEETEER
BT ;

2. WAREBRABELBLETESN
B

3. EEMERERERAIEITR ZE
A

ol

4. BERRAREEMAMEZERFLZE
REREK + R

5. MEZZBESERDHERMEITHRE -
BB ER - BRI
NMEBERTHENRERR  UHBBE
FENERZEEHAASERRERE
MR BBEIE R4

ANNUAL REPORT 2021

|
-y
f

63



64

&% ERKE
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (continued)

The Board and the Audit Committee are of the view
there are no material risk management and internal
control defeats were identified by the Adviser during
the course of review. With the discussion between
management, the Adviser and the Audit Committee, the
Board, with the concurrence of the Audit Committee,
considered that the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group are effective and adequate. The
review of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group is an ongoing process and the
Board maintains a continuing commitment to strengthen
the Group's control environment and processes.

The Company formulated the inside information policy.
The Company regularly reminds the Directors and
employees about due compliance with all policies
regarding the inside information. Also, the Company
keeps Directors, senior management and employees
appraised of the latest regulatory updates. The Company
shall prepare or update appropriate guidelines or policies
to ensure the compliance with regulatory requirements.
Procedures for collection, evaluation of information and
the publication manner are in place to ensure timely
reporting of the inside information to the Board and the
stakeholders of the Group.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for decisions in relation to the
overall strategic development of the Group’s business.
All Directors have formal letters of appointment setting
out key terms and conditions of their appointment. Due
to the diversity and volume of the Group's business,
responsibility in relation to the daily operations and
execution of the strategic business plans are delegated
to management of the Group.

All committees, namely the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee, have specific terms of reference setting
out the authorities and responsibilities of the respective
committee. All committees are required by their terms
of reference to report to the Board in relation to their
decisions, findings or recommendations, and in certain
specific situations, to seek the Board’s approval before
taking any actions.

The Board will review, on a yearly basis, all delegations
by the Board to different committees to ensure that such
delegations are appropriate and continue to be beneficial
to the Company as a whole.

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ LIABILITY
INSURANCE

Insurance cover has been taken out for Directors’
and Officers’ Liability to provide adequate cover, as
determined by the Board, in respect of the Board
members and senior management of the Company.
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SHAREHOLDERS RELATIONS

The Company is committed to maintaining a high level
of transparency and employs a policy of open and timely
disclosure of relevant information to its shareholders.
The commitment to fair disclosure and comprehensive
and transparent reporting of the Company’s activities can
be reflected in various aspects.

To maintain an on-going dialogue with shareholders,
the annual general meeting provides an opportunity for
shareholders to exchange views with the Board.

The Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer attended
the annual general meeting in 2020 (the “2020 Annual
General Meeting”) so as to ensure that shareholders’
views were communicated to the Board. A separate
resolution was proposed by the Chairman in respect of
each separate issue at the annual general meeting.

The proceedings of the annual general meeting are
reviewed from time to time to ensure that the Company
conforms to the best corporate governance practices.
The circular in relation to the arrangement of annual
general meeting will be circulated to all shareholders at
least 20 clear business days prior to the holding of the
annual general meeting, in which it sets out the details of
each resolution proposed and other relevant information.
At the 2020 Annual General Meeting, all resolutions
were put to vote by poll. Tricor Secretaries Limited, the
Company's Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar, was
engaged as scrutineer to ensure votes were properly
counted. The rights of shareholders and the procedures
for demanding a poll on resolutions at general meeting
are contained in the Bye-laws. An explanation of the
detailed procedures for conducting a poll is provided to
the shareholders at the commencement of the meeting.
The chairman would respond to queries raised by the
shareholders regarding the voting procedures. The poll
results are published in accordance with the relevant
provisions of the Listing Rules.
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SHAREHOLDERS RELATIONS (Continued)

Pursuant to the Bye-laws, shareholder(s) holding at the
date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth
of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right
of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all
times have the right, by written requisition to the Board
or the Company Secretary, to require a special general
meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction
of any business specified in such requisition and such
meeting shall be held within two months after the
deposit of such requisition.

If within twenty one days of such deposit the Board fails
to proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionists
themselves may do so in accordance with the relevant
provisions in the Companies Act of Bermuda.

The Company also communicates to its shareholders
through its annual and interim reports. The Directors,
Company Secretary or other appropriate members of
senior management also respond promptly to inquiries
from shareholders and investors.

Shareholders may at any time serve their enquiries to the
Board in writing for the attention of Company Secretary
at Unit 1201, 12/F., 29 Austin Road, Tsim Sha Tsui,
Kowloon, Hong Kong.
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PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING FORWARD
PROPOSALS AT SHAREHOLDERS'
MEETINGS

Under Bermuda law, in addition to the right to requisition
a special general meeting, any number of shareholders
representing not less than one-twentieth (1/20) of
the total voting rights of all the shareholders having
at the date of the requisition a right to vote at the
general meeting; or not less than one hundred (100)
shareholders, shall (unless otherwise resolved by the
Company) at their own expense have the right by written
requisition:

(a) to require notice of any resolution which may
properly be moved and is intended to be moved
at the next annual general meeting to be given to
shareholders; and/or

(b) to request for circulation to shareholders any
statement of not more than one thousand (1000)
words with respect to the matter referred to in any
proposed resolution or the business to be dealt
with at any general meeting.

A requisition referred to above must be signed by
the requisitionists in a single document or in separate
copies prepared for the purpose. A copy of the signed
requisition, accompanied by a sum reasonably sufficient
to meet the Company’s expenses, must be deposited at
the Company's registered office in Bermuda:

(@) in the case of a requisition requiring notice of a
resolution, not less than six (6) weeks before the
annual general meeting unless an annual general
meeting is called for a date six (6) weeks or less
after the copy has been deposited, in which case
the copy shall be deemed to have been properly
deposited though not deposited within the time
required; and

(b) in the case of any other requisition, not less than
one (1) week before the general meeting.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company is committed to a policy of open and
timely disclosure of corporate information to shareholders
and investors. The Company updates shareholders on its
latest business developments and financial performance
through its annual and interim reports and notices,
announcements and circulars. The Company's website
(http://www.ts674.com) provides a communication
platform to the public and the shareholders.

With a view to bringing the Bye-laws in line with certain
amendments to the Listing Rules and the Companies
Act 1981 of Bermuda between 2012 and 2015 and to
modernising and updating the Bye-laws, the amendments
to the Bye-laws were approved by the shareholders of
the Company in September 2015. Details of which are
set out in the circular of the Company dated 21 August
2015.

The Bye-law is available on both the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

CONCLUSION

The Company believes that good corporate governance
is significant in strengthening investor confidence and
attracting investment. The management will devote
considerable effort to strengthening and improving the
standards of the corporate governance of the Group. Any
views and suggestions from the shareholders to promote
and improve our transparency are also welcome.
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25t Floor Wing On Centre
111 Connaught Road Central

Hong Kong
EETHEER11155
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www.bdo.com.hk

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED
(FEIEEEZERBRARF)

(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements
of China Tangshang Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) set out
on pages 77 to 244, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2021,
and the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial
position of the Group as at 31 March 2021, and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs")
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the "“Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the HKICPA's “Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants” (the “Code"”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our
professional judgment, were of most significance in
our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.
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Assessment of net realisable value of properties
under development

(Refer to note 23 to the consolidated financial
statements)

The Group has significant properties under development
of HK$770,392,961 in the People's Republic of China
(the “PRC"). It represents approximately 41% of the
total assets on the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2021.

Properties under development are stated at the lower
of their costs and their net realisable values. The
determination of the estimated net realisable value
of these properties under development is critically
dependent upon the Group’s estimation of future selling
prices and construction costs to complete their projects.

Our response:

Our audit procedures included:

— assessing the calculations of net realisable values of
properties under development, and challenging the
reasonableness and consistency of the assumptions
used by the management;

— assessing the appropriateness of the Group's
estimated selling prices, on a sample basis, by
comparing them to, where available, recently
transacted prices and prices of comparable
properties located in the same vicinity as the
development projects; and

— assessing the construction costs and interest
expenses estimated by the management based on
underlying documentation and reasonableness.
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OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included
in the Company’s annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’'s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements
does not cover the other information and we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated
financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and
fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.
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The directors are also responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process. The Audit Committee
assists the directors in discharging their responsibility in
this regard.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’'s report that
includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you,
as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda
Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we
exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o identify and assess the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.
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obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the
directors.

conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an
opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with
them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or
safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we
determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's
report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not
be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected
to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

BDO Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Chan Wing Fai
Practising Certificate no. P05443

Hong Kong, 29 June 2021
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mEETEWHER
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
BE-Z-—F=ZA=+—HIHFE
For the year ended 31 March 2021

2021 2020
—EC-—-f ZE-EHF
Notes HK$ HK$
Hiat B BT
(re-presented)
(ke E75)
(note 1 & 6)
(BizF1%6)
Continuing operations BEKERE
Revenue WKz 7 56,158,591 66,081,448
Other gains or losses, net Hit s mia - F 58 8 (28,200,226) (26,992,254)
Depreciation on property, plant and ¥ - BERZRHZITE
equipment (2,275,998) (1,137,228)
Short term lease payments MHHEENT - (286,872)
Staff costs BIMA 11 (15,079,230) (19,480,527
Other operating expenses HAh Q5> 13 (37,019,065) (29,996,180)
Finance costs BB R 14 (19,442,477) (18,204,535)
Loss before income tax expense BRATSH A AIE R 9 (45,858,405) (30,016,148)
Income tax expense FTiSHiFX 15 (1,159,720) (704,047)
Loss for the year from continuing MREZFEEEEK
operations TEEEHER (47,018,125) (30,720,195)
Discontinued operations BARIEREER
Loss for the year from discontinued REBRIEEEERK Y
operations rEEER 10 (612,495) (2,943,204)
Loss for the year rEEEBE (47,630,620) (33,663,399)
Other comprehensive income Hitt2E
Item that may be reclassified HETRENIEZEREZ
subsequently to profit or loss HE
Exchange differences arising on BEGINEBREEZIER
translating foreign operations =5 51,156,609 (5,943,253)
Release of foreign exchange reserve HEM B A T% MK INE
upon disposal of subsidiaries i 38 2,432,762 =
Other comprehensive income AEERMPE RS
for the year, net of tax (BHBRBIE) 53,589,371 (5,943,253)
Total comprehensive income TEEXHRRARE
for the year 5,958,751 (39,606,652)
ANNUAL REPORT 2021 — &= —f 4 i 77
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

HE-_T-—F=A=+—HIEFE
For the year ended 31 March 2021

2021 2020
—E--F ZE-EHF
Notes HK$ HK$
Hiat B BT
(re-presented)
(&E51)
(note 1 & 6)
(Hzt1k6)
Loss for the year attributable to: A AFERFS :
Owners of the Company RREHEE A 17
— Continuing operations — BELCEER (12,734,990) (34,365,673)
— Discontinued operations — BRIEHEEER (612,495) (2,943,204)
Loss for the year attributable to AARHEANELATE
owners of the Company B8 (13,347,485) (37,308,877)
Non-controlling interests g 3o
— Continuing operations — BEREER (34,283,135) 3,645,478
— Discontinued operations — ERIEEERH - —
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable  JEIERGIER FE(EAEE
to non-controlling interests (B18),/ &7 (34,283,135) 3,645,478
,,,,,,,,, (47,630,620) (33,663,399)
Total comprehensive income BEAFELERZEE !
for the year attributable to: B
Owners of the Company RABEE A
— Continuing operations — BEREER 8,701,393 (37,721,174)
— Discontinued operations — ERIEERER (612,495) (2,973,922)
Total comprehensive income for the ARAFEA AEEREE
year attributable to the owners of FEWEEE
the Company 8,088,898 (40,695,096)
Non-controlling interests R
— Continuing operations — BEREXR (2,130,147) 1,088,444
— Discontinued operations — BRLEERH - —
Total comprehensive income FEEREREEAFE
for the year attributable to non- FENEBEHE
controlling interests (2,130,147) 1,088,444
5,958,751 (39,606,652)
Loss per share from continuing REBESERD AL
and discontinued operations REXBE 2 BRER 17
Basic (HK cents) BERCEN) (0.67) (3.46)
Diluted (HK cents) BB OB (0.67) (3.46)
Loss per share from continuing REBECEEL Y
operations BRER 17
Basic (HK cents) ERCGEW) (0.64) (3.19)
Diluted (HK cents) BEOBN) (0.64) (3.19)
CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED $EE i # K AR A 7



e BB R &
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
RZZE-_—F=ZA=+—H

As at 31 March 2021

2021 2020
—EB-—F —T-EF
Notes HK$ HK$
k=3 B BT
Assets BE
Non-current assets EREEE
Property, plant and equipment  ¥1% - &= MR & 18 7,913,992 2,282,103
Investment properties EME 19 284,436,451 183,544,593
Goodwill Bl 20 - 189,554
Intangible assets B EE 21 = 438,310
Finance lease receivables FEW A & E KA 22 275,396,189 56,692,467
Total non-current assets EMBEERE 567,746,632 243,147,027
Current assets REBEE
Properties under development ZEH % 23 770,392,961
Inventories FE 24 - 9,795,255
Trade and other receivables fuﬁlfb?A&E11ﬂ%fXIE 25 337,632,775 149,490,951
Contract costs B HIKAR 29 3,948,423 e
Finance lease receivables Mﬁzﬂéﬁfﬂ%?ﬁ 22 26,161,513 3,146,305
Amount due from a director B —REER 26 77,800 =
Amounts due from non- U BT B A 723!5? A% A% 3R
controlling shareholders of RIE
subsidiaries 26 5,217,644 4,000
Amounts due from related FEYL A E A T FIE
parties 26 2,366 3,240,150
Prepaid tax AR 9,558,949 =
Cash and bank balances e RIRITH 27 175,939,276 150,430,813
Total current assets mEBEERE 1,328,931,707 316,107,474
Total assets EEH#E 1,896,678,339 559,254,501
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

RZZE=——F=A=+—H
As at 31 March 2021

2021 2020
—E-—F a3
Notes HK$ HK$
it B BT
Liabilities =L
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade, bills and other payables [EfER - ZiE L EMHIE 28 27,528,453 104,883,379
Contract liabilities BHEaE 29 434,758,001 1,060,627
Amounts due to non- JFEAHBT B 2 B) 2 FEHE AR AR 3R
controlling shareholders of I
subsidiaries 26 32,737,288 —
Amounts due to related parties [E{NEIE A L 7E 26 = 27,040,427
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEES 30 289,531,436 67,005,712
Convertible bonds Al E S 31 — 40,685,853
Lease liabilities HEAE 34 51,532,095 20,147,259
Current tax liabilities BITREaE 85,706 542,536
Total current liabilities MENE BB 836,172,979 261,365,793
Net current assets REBEEZFE 492,758,728 54,741,681
Total assets less current EELERRBAERS
liabilities 1,060,505,360 297,888,708
Non-current liabilities ERBERS
Bank and other borrowings RITRHEMES 30 = 25,534,090
Convertible bonds Al RR & & 31 = 42,173,321
Lease liabilities HERE 34 498,392,612 101,419,763
Total non-current liabilities FERBEEEE 498,392,612 169,127,174
Total liabilities EEH8E 1,334,565,591 430,492,967
NET ASSETS BEEFE 562,112,748 128,761,534
CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED P EERERA A
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
R-TE-_—F=A=+—H

As at 31 March 2021

2021 2020
—E-—F a3
Notes HK$ HK$
k=3 B BT
Capital and reserves ERARHEEABLZREAR
attributable to owners of &
the Company
Share capital & A 35 115,443,328 53,888,928
Reserves G 249,506,992 46,685,132
364,950,320 100,574,060
Non-controlling interests JEIERR R 39 197,162,428 28,187,474
TOTAL EQUITY fEREEE 562,112,748 128,761,534
On behalf of the directors REXES
Chen Weiwu Zhou Houjie
BR{EE BB
Chairman Executive Director
Ex HITEFE
ANNUAL REPORT 2021 T —FFY
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
HE_ZT-_—F=A=+—HILFE

For the year ended 31 March 2021

Equity
Employee attributable
share-based  Convertible Foreign to owners Non-
Share Share Other  Contributed compensation bonds exchange Accumulated ofthe  controlling Total
capital premium reserve surplus reserve reserve reserve losses Company interests equity
NRB%AZ  TERES KDAREA
e RitEE R SARH EEHMEE @ NERE RREE EiERE  FERER BHsE

(note 35) (note 36) (note 36) (note 36) (note 36) (note 36) (note 36 (note 36
(Wz3)  (WiEs)  (Kds) (B (W2s)  (WEs)  (Bds)  (Bi%)

HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HK$
AT - V-3 A AT A AT #r #r BT AT
At 1 April 2020 RZB-FEMA-A 53,888,928 21162,373288  (99,144,717) 28,784,000 7292983 12,026,789 (3,756,479 (2,060,890,732) 100,574,060 28,187,474 128,761,534

Loss for the year - - - - - - - (13,347,485 (13,347485)  (34,283,135)  (47,630,620)

TEREE
Exchange differences arising on EZENERELZER

translating foreign operations £ - - - - - - 19,003,621 - 19003621 32152988 51,156,609
Release of foreign exchange ~ HEMBAFRERINE
reserve upon disposal of s

subsidiaries (note 38 - - - - - 2,432,762 - 2,432,762 - 2,432,762

Total comprehensive income 2 ERE#E - - - - - 21,436,383  (13,347,485) 8,088,898  (2,130,147) 5,958,751

Shares issued upon conversion EETAREFERTRA

of convertible bonds (Hi#s1)

[note 31) 21,554,400 75,370,828 - = - (12,026,789) = - 84898439 - 84898439
Acquisition of subsidiaries A7

(note 32) (Wi23) 40,000,000 131,388,923 - - - - - - 171,388,923 386,614,863 558,003,786
Release of non-controlling HENBARKER

interests upon disposal of Faiviny

subsidiaries (note 38) (Wit 38) - - - - - = = S - 2n7390) (2,717,390
Capital reduction to non- -HRBARERRREZ

controlling shareholders of s AREIH(H2£39¢)

subsidiary (note 39(c)) = = = = = = = = - (212,792372) (212,792,372)
At 31 March 2021 WoE--FZAZ+-H 115443328 2,369,133,039  (99,144,717) 28,784,000 7,292,983 — 17679904 (2,074238,217) 364,950,320 197,162,428 562,112,748

At 1 April 2019 53,888,928 2,162,373288  (99,144,717) 28,784,000 7292983 11815743 [370,260) (2,023,581,855) 141,068,110 27,099,030 168,157,140

(37308877 (37.308877) 3646478  (33,663,399)

Loss for the year AEEER
Exchange differences arising on EEB) $HEEZER
£E

translating foreign operations — — - - S — (3386219 — (3386219 (2567,034) (5,943,253
Total comprehensive income 2 ERE#EE o S S S S — (3386219 (37,308,877)  (40,695,096) 1,088,444 (39,606,652)
Extinguishment of convertible ST EH (37

bonds (note 31) - - - - - 211,046 - - 211,046 - 211,046
At 31 March 2020 WoE-EF-A=+-H 53888928 2162373288  (99,144717) 28,784,000 7,292,983 12,026,789 (3,756,479) (2,060,890,732) 100,574,060 28,187,474 128,761,534

82 CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED #BIE@EZRAER A



MERERER
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
BE-Z-—F=ZA=+—HIHFE
For the year ended 31 March 2021

2021 2020
—E--F —ETF
Notes HK$ HK$
Kzt B BT
Cash flows from operating REEKRIABZ
activities RERE
Net cash (used in)/generated &2 EK(FAA)/ ELZ
from operations R FR 41(a) (21,267,402) 14,021,839
Interest received =Rl & URS) 340,333 182,942
Tax paid 2 A (10,248,921) (106,404)
Net cash (used in)/generated K& XK () EB4E2
from operating activities REFHE (31,175,990) 14,098,377
Cash flows from investing RETHFEBZRERE
activities
Acquisition of a subsidiary, W — M B A B
net of cash acquired (BIBRAEZHE) 32 (14,244,313) —
Disposal of subsidiaries, net S B AR (2 0k
of cash disposed FrtE2RE) 38 (1,702,727) =
Increase in amounts due FEUW I B A /) FEFE A%
from non-controlling % 58 FRI5 3 A0
shareholders of
subsidiaries (5,051,631) —
Decrease in amounts FET B A B2 JEHERR
due to non-controlling &% 3R R IE R
shareholders of
subsidiaries (26,016,723) —
Capital reduction of a —Ff B AR ZEAR
subsidiary IR (181,096,704) —
Decrease/(increase) in FEUR B A L FIE
amounts due from related A, (38n)
parties 2,828,977 (309,817)
Proceeds from disposal HEME - BEREE
of property, plant and Z TS RIR
equipment 87,291 —
Purchases of property, plant BEWE  BELEE
and equipment 18 (6,856,481) (1,153,216)
Additions to investment IR EY
properties (4,453,422) (3,949,274)
Net cash used in investing BREEHFTRACEEFEE
activities (236,505,733) (5,412,307)
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MERERER

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
HE_ZT-_—F=A=+—HILFE

For the year ended 31 March 2021

2021 2020
—B-—% —E-=g
Notes HK$ HK$
Kzt B BT
Cash flows from financing RMETZBBZHERE
activities
Increase in bank borrowings RITEERE N 380,579,437 101,235,278
Repayment of bank ERERITEE
borrowings (151,763,797) (48,263,709)
Interest paid BFLE (30,145,215) (12,204,353)
Repayment of principal BEEEEEZASHD
portion of the lease
liabilities (23,876,417) (18,674,274)
Net cash generated from METHELCHESFE
financing activities 41(b) 174,794,008 22,092,942
(Decrease)/increase in cash HERBELEEER
and cash equivalents GRLA),/#Ehn (92,887,715) 30,779,012
Cash and cash equivalents at RENZHERREEE
beginning of year HE 150,430,813 120,346,740
Effect of exchange rate EXFEEIRe RIACEE
changes on cash and HE 27 &
cash equivalents 4,046,921 (694,939)
Cash and cash equivalents at RFERCZEHEREEEE
end of year HH 27 61,590,019 150,430,813

=l
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GENERAL

China Tangshang Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is
a public limited company incorporated in Bermuda. Its
shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Its registered office
is at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM
11, Bermuda and its principal place of business is at
Unit 1201, 12th Floor, 29 Austin Road, Tsim Sha Tsui,
Hong Kong. As at 31 March 2021, the directors of the
Company (the “Directors”) consider the Company’s
immediate and ultimate holding company is Grand Nice
International Limited, a company incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands (the “BVI").

The Company is engaged in investment holding.
The principal activities of the Company’s principal
subsidiaries are set out in note 48 to the
consolidated financial statements. The Company
and its subsidiaries are collectively referred to as
the "Group”.

In July 2020, the Group has completed acquired the
entire equity interest in Topper Genius Investments
Limited (“Topper Genius”) at a total consideration
of (i) cash of HK$36,722,718 (equivalent to
RMB33,544,000) and (ii) 800,000,000 shares of the
Company.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group
has completed disposal of a group of subsidiaries
as described in note 38 to the consolidated
financial statements. The exhibition-related business
and the food and beverages were classified as
discontinued operations due to disposal. Accordingly,
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
and related notes have been re-presented as if the
operations discontinued during the year have been
discontinued at the beginning of the comparative
period.

Other than the aforementioned transactions, there was
no other significant change in the Group's operations
during the year.

—E-—%=-A=t+—H
31 March 2021

—REH
FEENERERAAIERATD A
REREFMX I AREBRAR - &
DR E ARG Z P ER AR ([ H#R
)b RAR Mt EEA RN
Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda ' M=xZ&
EEMBRBEBLD BN T HE295%
12E1201E - ARAIEH(ES DR
BRZIFEZ—F=A=+—80 A2
RIZEBRSEERARAERBEA
AR ZRARINABELHS (KB
BLEE MK -
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48 KRB R EME R RGHE S AR
M-
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R % 33,544,000 7T ) X (i) 800,000,000
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REMB®RME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—Z-—fF=R=+—H
31 March 2021

2. ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(a)

Adoption of new or amended HKFRSs —
effective 1 April 2020

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKAS 8

Definition of Material

Amendments to HKAS 39, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
HKFRS 7 and HKFRS 9

Other than the amendments to HKFRS 3,
none of these new or amended HKFRSs
has a material impact on the Group's results
and financial position for the current or prior
period. The Group has not early applied any
new or amended HKFRSs that is not yet
effective for the current accounting period.
Impact on the applications of the amendments
to HKFRS 3 are summarised below.

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED (SRR A
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ARE MR M

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-—f=H=+—H

31 March 2021

ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED 2. BRHETSREIT 2EBUHE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING HEA(EBYHHREE

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued) all)e)

(a) Adoption of new or amended HKFRSs — (a) BHAFTRLET2EBHBRE
effective 1 April 2020 (Continued) B —R-BRFNA-HER

(#%&)

Amendments to HKFRS 3 — Definition of a BB BEREEREIGE Z 155
Business — RETES
The amendments clarify the definition EEITEERER Y EE WA A
of a business and introduce an optional BIEUERENS - A FEPTKEE
concentration test that permits a simplified RN EERBWIEERE
assessment of whether an acquired set of TRMEFHE - REEEEHETIER
activities and assets is not a business. The SFEASTENGR - WATKkEEE
election to apply the concentration test is BEIBRLORNFEESEHRE
made for each transaction. The concentration — ARl EER — A A # A
test is met if substantially all of the fair value BE  BFAETREHE - HEFE
of the gross assets acquired is concentrated SHPEAE - AIBZEASTEREE
in a single identifiable asset or group of EBEAIEET - WALBBESE
similar identifiable assets. If the concentration AR - BIZAmMKEES REER
test is met, the set of activities and assets IRIB RS Z Z1EE —PrTh -

is determined not to be a business. If the
concentration test is failed, the acquired set of
activities and assets is further assessed based
on the elements of a business.

The Group elected to apply the amendments REEERIGZSISETAIE e
prospectively to acquisitions for which the ARKERABMA-ZS -S4 1A
acquisition date is on or after 1 April 2020. —Be g ZWESEE -  AEBR
The Group acquired a set of activities and —EEFARE—HEIRE
assets in July 2020 and elected to apply B WRENZRZERAESEA
the concentration test to that transaction. o REBHKBERZFME - A%
Based on the assessment of elements in the ERBZAEFYBES R EEBE
acquisition, the Group concluded that the EUEE -

acquired set of activities and assets is an
acquisition of assets.

H

i
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RE PV BHRRMEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—B-_—Ff=A=1+—H
31 March 2021

2. ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

(b) New or amended HKFRSs that have been
issued but are not yet effective

The following new or amended HKFRSs,
potentially relevant to the Group's consolidated
financial statements have been issued, but
are not yet effective for the financial year
beginning on 1 April 2020 and have not yet

been early adopted by the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 1

Hong Kong Interpretation
5 (2020)

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 10

and HKAS 28

Amendment to HKFRS 16

Amendment to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 39,

HKFRS 4, HKFRS 7,

HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED H E 8 £ i

Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current®

Presentation of Financial Statements
— Classification by the Borrower
of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause’

Proceeds before Intended Use®

Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract’

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework'

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions'

Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions
beyond 30 June 2021’

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform —
Phase 2°

Disclosure of Accounting Policies’

Definition of Accounting Estimates®
Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2018-2020°

28
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ARE MR M

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-—f=H=+—H

31 March 2021

ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED 2. BRHETSREIT 2EBUHE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING LER([EEBMBHREE

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued) 8l

(b) New or amended HKFRSs that have been (b) T MEHRE R E R FTRT RIS ET
issued but are not yet effective (Continued) ERUBREER(E)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or ! RZZEZ—FA—HB® 2%
after 1 June 2021, B FEHRER -

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or ? RZBZ—F—HA—HxkzEHA
after 1 January 2021. 12 FEHARAER -

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or 8 RZZEZZF—A—Hx®k 2R
after 1 January 2022. 12 FEHARAER -

¢ Effective for business combinations for which ! HWEABMAR T -_—_F—A
the date of acquisition is on or after the —Hakz&RB 8 EFEHRE
beginning of the first annual period beginning FInE Rz B2 ¥BE L
on or after 1 January 2022. e

° Effective for annual periods beginning on or ® RZBZ=F—H—HxkzEH
after 1 January 2023. 1R FEHARAER -

e The amendments shall be applied ° ZE BT ERIE M EAREFTE
prospectively to the sale or contribution of AHEfsk 2 & Rm FEHARARE
assets occurring in annual periods beginning EZBEHEREA -
on or after a date to be determined.

’ Effective for annual periods beginning on or / RZZEZ—FWMA—HH &R
after 1 April 2021. a2 FREHRANR -
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REMB®RME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—Z-—fF=R=+—H
31 March 2021

2. ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

(b)

New or amended HKFRSs that have been
issued but are not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 — Classification of
Liabilities as Current or Non-current and Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) — Presentation
of Financial Statements — Classification by
the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause

The amendments to HKAS 1 clarify that the
classification of liabilities as current or non-
current is based on rights that are in existence
at the end of the reporting period, specify that
classification is unaffected by expectations
about whether an entity will exercise its right
to defer settlement of a liability and explain
that rights are in existence if covenants are
complied with at the end of the reporting
period. The amendments also introduce a
definition of “settlement” to make clear
that settlement refers to the transfer to the
counterparty of cash, equity instruments, other
assets or services.

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) (“HK Int
5 (2020)") was revised as a consequence of
the Amendments to HKAS 1 issued in August
2020. The revision to HK Int 5 (2020) updates
the wordings in the interpretation to align with
the Amendments to HKAS 1 with no change
in conclusion and do not change the existing
requirements.

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED (SRR A
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ARE MR M

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-—f=H=+—H

31 March 2021

ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED 2. BRHETSREIT 2EBUHE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING HEA(EBYHHREE
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued) all)e)

(b) New or amended HKFRSs that have been (b) TEMENRERZHTREERT
issued but are not yet effective (Continued) BERMBREENE)
Amendments to HKAS 16 — Proceeds EBEERFI6HZIEET —
before Intended Use REREE FZ 5T 2Z Fris s |
The amendments prohibit deducting from ZEER IR E - BEKAK
the cost of an item of property, plant and EERARHBRLEEEFXEEE
equipment any proceeds from selling items A B IR BB < AR ERT
produced while bringing that asset to the B MR B A 2 AR R IR B
location and condition necessary for it to be sz Euzs - Ak - HEZSE
capable of operating in the manner intended HEZWHEMNEEZEEE ZKA
by management. Instead, the proceeds from RiBR PR o

selling such items, and the cost of producing
those items, is recognised in profit or loss.

Amendments to HKAS 37 — Onerous EEBEEREI7HZEFT —
Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract EBEMEH — BITEHZHEE
The amendments specify that the “cost of ZEERRIH - [BITEHRZRAZE]
fulfilling” a contract comprises the “costs PRIEEHEEZERBZRE] -
that relate directly to the contract”. Costs BENEEEE KA A RRBTT
that relate directly to a contract can either be G ZEBERN(INEE AT RM
incremental costs of fulfilling that contract ) REBTAENEEMRABZE
(e.g. direct labour and materials) or an ARz DB (MMARBITELZ
allocation of other costs that relate directly to ME BMEMIEHEBEZITEER
fulfilling contracts (e.g. the allocation of the Z7He) °

depreciation charge for an item of property,
plant and equipment used in fulfilling the
contract).

H
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REMB®RME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—Z-—fF=R=+—H
31 March 2021

2. ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

(b)

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED ) [ERER

New or amended HKFRSs that have been
issued but are not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 3 — Reference to
the Conceptual Framework

The amendments update HKFRS 3 so that it
refers to the revised Conceptual Framework
for Financial Reporting 2018 instead of the
version issued in 2010. The amendments add
to HKFRS 3 a requirement that, for obligations
within the scope of HKAS 37, an acquirer
applies HKAS 37 to determine whether at the
acquisition date a present obligation exists
as a result of past events. For a levy that
would be within the scope of HK(IFRIC)-Int
21 Levies, the acquirer applies HK(IFRIC)-
Int 21 to determine whether the obligating
event that gives rise to a liability to pay the
levy has occurred by the acquisition date. The
amendments also add an explicit statement
that an acquirer does not recognise contingent
assets acquired in a business combination.

28
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ARE MR M

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-—f=H=+—H

31 March 2021

ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED 2. BRHETSREIT 2EBUHE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING LER([EEBMBHREE
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued) all)e)

(b) New or amended HKFRSs that have been (b) EEMERKRERZHTRLIEET
issued but are not yet effective (Continued) BERMBREENE)
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 — BEEBUMBHREERFI10HREE
Sale or Contribution of Assets between an B ERFEI8H I — RE
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture EHEBE NGRS ELEZAY

BEEHERTE
The amendments clarify the extent of gains or B R AR /NI
losses to be recognised when an entity sells or AEPEHENTALEERERY
contributes assets to its associate or joint venture. Wik EEEE - MR 5 K —18
When the transaction involves a business the gain ¥7% 0 A EWEEEREER
or loss is recognised in full, conversely when the R WRSHERTEBKERNE
transaction involves assets that do not constitute a E - AIEWRAEBERREER
business the gain or loss is recognised only to the BEENBENTMERBES
extent of the unrelated investors’ interests in the R T LARERR ©

joint venture or associate.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 — COVID-19 Related BEBUBHREERE 165 2155
Rent Concessions — 2019 B EE R 2 EE
The amendments provide lessees with an REEI R TEBARERETE
exemption from the requirement to determine E2019BRmEREEESES
whether a COVID-19 related rent concession is a B RMEBR 2 R E I EEME
lease modification and require lessees that apply ARE2019 B MRS HREEES
the exemption to account for COVID-19 related rent BEARBEEARNE(HNEHAE
concessions as if they were not lease modifications. BWIHEENH) - BEEHEE
The criteria must be satisfied for a rent concession BIBREUAHEERREREZE
to qualify for the practical expedient. 1% e

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 — &= — 4% #
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fra B IS Rk M A
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-—F®=ZA=+—H

31 March 2021

2. ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

(b) New or amended HKFRSs that have been
issued but are not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 16 — COVID-19-Related
Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021

HKFRS 16 was amended to:

permit a lessee to apply the practical
expedient regarding COVID-19-related rent
concessions to rent concessions for which
any reduction in lease payments affects only
payments originally due on or before 30 June
2022 (rather than only payments originally due
on or before 30 June 2021);

require a lessee applying the amendment to
do so for annual reporting periods beginning
on or after 1 April 2021;

require a lessee applying the amendment
to do so retrospectively, recognising the
cumulative effect of initially applying the
amendment as an adjustment to the opening
balance of retained earnings (or other
component of equity, as appropriate) at the
beginning of the annual reporting period in
which the lessee first applies the amendment;
and

specify that, in the reporting period in which a
lessee first applies the amendment, a lessee
is not required to disclose the information
required by paragraph 28(f) of HKAS 8.

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED (SRR A
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ARE MR M

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-—f=H=+—H

31 March 2021

ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED 2. BRI SRET 2EBME
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING HEA([FBUBREE
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued) al]) )

(b) New or amended HKFRSs that have been (b) TEMENRERZHTREERT
issued but are not yet effective (Continued) BERMBREENE)
Amendments to HKAS 39, HKFRS 4, HKFRS EBEEREI9N  BEMK
7, HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 16 — Interest Rate HEERFEAY BEYBHEE
Benchmark Reform — Phase 2 BIFE75 EEHBHEEERFI

BREEBHBEHEERFI1652
165] — FIRBENE — F_ER

The amendments address issues that might ZEERRRARAFEREENE (K
affect financial reporting when a company E|)MEBEHRARIUBREERE
replaces the old interest rate benchmark with IR EF R EER ] LR B I S
an alternative benchmark rate as a result of the H2EE o ZFEFTR_Z-NF
interest rate benchmark reform (the “Reform”). +— BB ZASFTHEEEK - K
The amendments complement those issued (@aeaHReRE2EL BE
in November 2019 and relate to (a) changes to AR EFTE Kz B E) 4R 1R
contractual cash flows in which an entity will AR B TAZERE  MeE
not have to derecognise or adjust the carrying HERE AR PR R R
amount of financial instruments for changes H); (b) EREEE  WE R
required by the Reform, but will instead update the ABHME NS IZE - BEEAL
effective interest rate to reflect the change to the RN ERE R S MR FEE
alternative benchmark rate; (b) hedge accounting EEE RCO)EBEER B
in which an entity will not have to discontinue BRI ERTEE AR
its hedge accounting solely because it makes BR o ARZEENAEEREA
changes required by the Reform, if the hedge BEERE 7 @E -

meets other hedge accounting criteria; and (c)
disclosures in which an entity will be required to
disclose information about new risks arising from
the Reform and how it manages the transition to
alternative benchmark rates.

H
et
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RE PV BHRRMEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—B-_—Ff=A=1+—H
31 March 2021

2. ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

(b) New or amended HKFRSs that have been
issued but are not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2 — Disclosure of Accounting Policies

HKAS 1.69(d) was amended such that if an entity
does not have ‘the right at the end of the reporting
period to defer settlement of the liability for at
least twelve months after the reporting period’
then it must be classified as current. Therefore, as
amended, a liability is required to be classified as a
non-current liability as long as an entity has the right
to defer its settlement for at least twelve months,
regardless of the entity’s intention.

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED
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e U B ®RRME

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

(b) New or amended HKFRSs that have been
issued but are not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 8 — Definition of
Accounting Estimates

The changes to HKAS 8 focus entirely on
accounting estimates and clarify the following:

— The definition of a change in accounting
estimates is replaced with a definition
of accounting estimates. Under the new
definition, accounting estimates are
“monetary amounts in financial statements
that are subject to measurement uncertainty”.

—  Entities develop accounting estimates if
accounting policies require items in financial
statements to be measured in a way that
involves measurement uncertainty.

—  The Board clarifies that a change in accounting
estimate that results from new information or
new developments is not the correction of an
error. In addition, the effects of a change in
an input or a measurement technique used to
develop an accounting estimate are changes
in accounting estimates if they do not result
from the correction of prior period errors.

— A change in an accounting estimate may
affect only the current period’s profit or loss,
or the profit or loss of both the current period
and future periods. The effect of the change
relating to the current period is recognised as
income or expense in the current period. The
effect, if any, on future periods is recognised
as income or expense in those future periods.

—E-—%=-A=t+—H
31 March 2021
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fra B IS Rk M A
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-—F®=ZA=+—H

31 March 2021

2. ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

(b) New or amended HKFRSs that have been
issued but are not yet effective (Continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020

The annual improvements amends a number of
standards, including:

HKFRS 1, First-time Adoption of Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, which permit
a subsidiary that applies paragraph D16(a) of
HKFRS 1 to measure cumulative translation
differences using the amounts reported by
its parent, based on the parent's date of
transition to HKFRSs.

HKFRS 9, Financial Instruments, which clarify
the fees included in the 10 per cent’ test in
paragraph B3.3.6 of HKFRS 9 in assessing
whether to derecognise a financial liability,
explaining that only fees paid or received
between the entity and the lender, including
fees paid or received by either the entity or
the lender on other’s behalf are included.

HKFRS 16, Leases, which amend lllustrative
Example 13 to remove the illustration of
reimbursement of leasehold improvements
by the lessor in order to resolve any potential
confusion regarding the treatment of lease
incentives that might arise because of
how lease incentives are illustrated in that
example.

The Group is in the progress of making
assessments of the potential impact of these new
or amended HKFRSs upon initial application and
the Directors so far concludes that the application
of these new or amended HKFRS, will have no
material impact on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.
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e U B ®RRME

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION

(a)

(b)

(c)

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have
been prepared in accordance with all applicable
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs"), Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs"”) and Interpretations (hereinafter
collectively referred to as the “HKFRS") issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the disclosure requirements
of Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. In
addition, the consolidated financial statements
include applicable disclosures required by the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the
“Listing Rules"”) on the Stock Exchange.

Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have
been prepared under the historical cost basis,
except for the investment properties which are
measured at fair value.

Functional and presentation currency

The consolidated financial statements are
(“HKS$")
which is the same as the functional currency

presented in Hong Kong dollars

of the Company.

—E-—%=-A=t+—H
31 March 2021

3. mREEE

(a)

(b)

(c)
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REMB®RME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—Z-—fF=R=+—H
31 March 2021

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a)

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED ) 78 % 8

Business combination and basis of
consolidation

The consolidated financial statements
comprise the financial statements of the
Company and its subsidiaries. Inter-company
transactions and balances between group
companies together with unrealised profits are
eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated
financial statements. Unrealised losses
are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of impairment on the
asset transferred, in which case the loss is
recognised in profit or loss.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or
disposed of during the year are included in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income from the effective dates of acquisition
or up to the effective dates of disposal, as
appropriate. Where necessary, adjustments
are made to the financial statements of
subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with those used by other members of
the Group.

The Group accounts for business combinations
using the acquisition method when the
acquired set of activities and assets meets
the definition of a business and control is
transferred to the Group. In determining
whether a particular set of activities and
assets is a business, the Group assesses
whether the set of assets and activities
acquired includes, at a minimum, an input
and substantive processes and whether the
acquired set has the ability to produce outputs.

4.
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e U B ®RRME

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(a)

Business combination and basis of
consolidation (Continued)

The cost of an acquisition is measured at the
aggregate of the acquisition-date fair value
of assets transferred, liabilities incurred and
equity interests issued by the Group, as the
acquirer. The identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed are principally measured
at acquisition-date fair value. The Group’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree
is re-measured at acquisition-date fair
value and the resulting gains or losses are
recognised in profit or loss. The Group may
elect, on a transaction-by-transaction basis,
to measure the non-controlling interests
that represent present ownership interests
in the subsidiary either at fair value or at
the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other non-controlling
interests are measured at fair value unless
another measurement basis is required by
HKFRSs. Acquisition-related costs incurred are
expensed unless they are incurred in issuing
equity instruments in which case the costs are
deducted from equity.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred
by the acquirer is recognised at acquisition-
date fair value. Subsequent adjustments to
consideration are recognised against goodwill
only to the extent that they arise from new
information obtained within the measurement
period (a maximum of 12 months from the
acquisition date) about the fair value at
the acquisition date. All other subsequent
adjustments to contingent consideration
classified as an asset or a liability are
recognised in profit or loss.

—E-—%=-A=t+—H
31 March 2021
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REMB®RME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—Z-—fF=R=+—H
31 March 2021

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(a)

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED ) 78 % 8

Business combination and basis of
consolidation (Continued)

Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying
amount of non-controlling interests that
represent present ownership interests in the
subsidiary is the amount of those interests
at initial recognition plus such non-controlling
interest’s share of subsequent changes in
equity. Non-controlling interests are presented
in the consolidated statement of financial
position within equity, separately from equity
attributable to owners of the Company.
Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the
owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests. Total comprehensive
income is attributed to such non-controlling
interests even if this results in those non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Group's interests in a
subsidiary that do not result in a loss of
control of the subsidiary are accounted for as
equity transactions. The carrying amount of
the Group’s interests and the non-controlling
interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in
their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any
difference between the amount by which the
non-controlling interests are adjusted and the
fair value of the consideration paid or received
is recognised directly in equity and attributed
to the owners of the Company.
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e U B ®RRME

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(a)

Business combination and basis of
consolidation (Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary,
the gain or loss on disposal is calculated as
the difference between (i) the aggregate of
the fair value of the consideration received
and the fair value of any retained interest
and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the
assets (including goodwill), and liabilities
of the subsidiary and any non-controlling
interests. Amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in relation to
that subsidiary are accounted for on the same
basis as would be required if the relevant
assets or liabilities were disposed of.
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REMB®RME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—Z-—fF=R=+—H
31 March 2021

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(b)

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED ) [ERER

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee over which the
Company is able to exercise control. The
Company controls an investee if all three of
the following elements are present: (i) power
over the investee, (ii) exposure, or rights, to
variable returns from the investee, and (iii) the
ability to use its power to affect those variable
returns. Control is reassessed whenever facts
and circumstances indicate that there may be
a change in any of these elements of control.

In the Company's statement of financial
position, investments in subsidiaries are stated
at cost less impairment loss. The results of
subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company
on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.
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e U B ®RRME

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(c)

Goodwill and gain on a bargain purchase

Goodwill is initially recognised at cost being
the excess of the aggregate of a consideration
transferred and the amount recognised for
non-controlling interests over the fair value
of identifiable assets acquired, liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed.

Where the fair value of identifiable assets and
liabilities exceed the aggregated of fair value
of consideration paid and the amount of any
non-controlling interest in the acquiree, the
excess is recognised in profit or loss on the
acquisition date, after re-assessment.

Goodwill is measured at cost less impairment
losses. For the purpose of impairment testing,
goodwill arising from an acquisition is allocated
to each of the relevant cash-generating
units that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the acquisition. A cash-generating
unit is the smallest identifiable group of assets
that generates cash inflows that are largely
independent of the cash inflows from other
assets or groups of assets. A cash-generating
unit to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment annually by comparing
its carrying amount with its recoverable
amount (see note 4(p)), and whenever there is
an indication that the unit may be impaired.
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REMB®RME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—Z-—fF=R=+—H
31 March 2021

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(c)

(d)

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED ) 78 % 8

Goodwill and gain on a bargain purchase
(Continued)

For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a
financial year, the cash-generating unit to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment before the end of that financial
year. When the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit is less than the carrying
amount of the unit, the impairment loss is
allocated to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill allocated to the unit first, and
then to the other assets of the unit pro rata
on the basis of the carrying amount to each
asset in the unit. However, the loss allocated
to each asset will not reduce the individual
assets carrying amount to below its fair value
less cost of disposal (if measurable) or its
value in use (if determinable), whichever is
higher. Any impairment loss for goodwill is
recognised in profit or loss and is not reversed
in subsequent periods.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated
at cost less accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses.

The cost of property, plant and equipment
includes its purchase price and the costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of the
items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's
carrying amount or recognised as a separate
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable
that future economic benefits associated
with the item will flow to the Group and
the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced
part is derecognised. All other repairs and
maintenance costs are recognised as an
expense in profit or loss during the financial
period in which they are incurred.
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e U B ®RRME

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(d)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated
so as to write off their cost net of expected
residual value over their estimated useful
lives on a straight-line basis. The useful lives,
residual value and depreciation method are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the
end of each reporting period. The useful lives
are as follows:

Leasehold Over the shorter of

improvements the lease term

and its useful life

Furniture, fixtures and 3-5 years
equipment

Plant and machinery 5 years

Motor vehicles 3-5 years

Right-of-use assets Over lease terms of

2-3 years

An asset is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if its carrying amount is
higher than the asset’s estimated recoverable
amount.

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of
property, plant and equipment is the difference
between the net sale proceeds and its carrying
amount, and is recognised in profit or loss on
disposal.
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fra B IS Rk M A
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-—F®=ZA=+—H

31 March 2021

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(e) Intangible assets

(i)

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED ) [ERER

Acquired intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are
initially recognised at cost. The cost of
intangible assets acquired in a business
combination is fair value at the date of
acquisition. Subsequently, intangible
assets with finite useful lives are carried
at cost less accumulated amortisation
and accumulated impairment losses.

Amortisation is provided on a straight-line
basis over their useful lives as follows:

Golf club memberships 12 years

Customer relationship and 10 years
customer contracts

Intangible assets with indefinite useful
lives are carried at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(e) Intangible assets (Continued)

(ii)

Impairment

Intangible assets with finite lives are
tested for impairment when there is an
indication that an asset may be impaired
(see note 4(p) to the consolidated
financial statements). Intangible assets
with indefinite useful lives and intangible
assets not yet available for use are tested
for impairment annually, irrespective
of whether there is any indication that
they may be impaired. Intangible assets
are tested for impairment by comparing
their carrying amounts with their
recoverable amounts (see note 4(p) to
the consolidated financial statements).
If the recoverable amount of an asset
is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset
is reduced to its recoverable amount.

An impairment loss is recognised as an
expense immediately.

When an impairment loss subsequently
reverses, the carrying amount of the
asset is increased to the revised estimate
of its recoverable amount, to the extent
that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the
asset in prior years.

e U B ®RRME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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REMB®RME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—Z-—fF=R=+—H
31 March 2021

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(f)

(g)

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED ) 78 % 8

Investment properties

Investment property is property held either
to earn rentals or for capital appreciation or
for both, but not held for sale in the ordinary
course of business, use in the production
or supply of goods or services or for
administrative purposes. Investment property
is measured at cost on initial recognition and
subsequently at fair value with any change
therein recognised in profit or loss.

Lease
The Group as a leasee

All leases (irrespective of they are operating
leases or finance leases) are required to
be capitalised in the statement of financial
position as right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities, but accounting policy choices exist
for an entity to choose not to capitalise (i)
leases which are short-term leases and/
or (ii) leases for which the underlying asset
is of low-value. The Group has elected not
to recognise right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities for low-value assets and leases for
which at the commencement date have a
lease term less than 12 months. The lease
payments associated with those leases have
been expensed on straight-line basis over the
lease term.
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e U B ®RRME

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(g)

Lease (Continued)
Right-of-use asset

The right-of-use asset should be recognised at
cost and would comprise: (i) the amount of the
initial measurement of the lease liability (see
below for the accounting policy to account for
lease liability); (i) any lease payments made
at or before the commencement date, less
any lease incentives received; (iii) any initial
direct costs incurred by the lessee; and (iv) an
estimate of costs to be incurred by the lessee
in dismantling and removing the underlying
asset to the condition required by the terms
and conditions of the lease, unless those
costs are incurred to produce inventories.

Except for right-of-use asset that meets
the definition of an investment property,
the Group measures the right-of-use assets
applying a cost model. Under the cost model,
the Group measures the right-of-use assets at
cost, less any accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liability. For right-
of-use asset that meets the definition of an
investment property, they are carried at fair
value.

The Group accounts for leasehold land and
buildings that are held for rental or capital
appreciation purpose under HKAS 40 and are
carried at fair value.
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REMB®RME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—Z-—fF=R=+—H
31 March 2021

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(g)

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED ) 78 % 8

Lease (Continued)
Lease liability

The lease liability is recognised at the present
value of the lease payments that are not paid
at the date of commencement of the lease.
The lease payments are discounted using the
interest rate implicit in the lease, if that rate
can be readily determined. If that rate cannot
be readily determined, the Group uses the
Group's incremental borrowing rate.

The following payments for the right to use
the underlying asset during the lease term
that are not paid at the commencement
date of the lease are considered to be lease
payments: (i) fixed payments less any lease
incentives receivable; (ii) variable lease
payments that depend on an index or a rate,
initially measured using the index or rate
as at commencement date; (iii) amounts
expected to be payable by the lessee under
residual value guarantees; (iv) the exercise
price of a purchase option if the lessee is
reasonably certain to exercise that option; and
(v) payments of penalties for terminating the
lease, if the lease term reflects the lessee
exercising an option to terminate the lease.
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e U B ®RRME

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(g)

Lease (Continued)
Lease liability (Continued)

Subsequent to the commencement date,
the Group measures the lease liability by:
(i) increasing the carrying amount to reflect
interest on the lease liability; (ii) reducing
the carrying amount to reflect the lease
payments made; and (iii) remeasuring the
carrying amount to reflect any reassessment
or lease modifications, or to reflect revised
in-substance fixed lease payments.

When the Group revises its estimate of the
term of any lease (because, for example, it re-
assesses the probability of a lessee extension
or termination option being exercised), it
adjusts the carrying amount of the lease
liability to reflect the payments to make over
the revised term, which are discounted using
a revised discount rate. The carrying value of
lease liabilities is similarly revised when the
variable element of future lease payments
dependent on a rate or index is revised,
except the discount rate remains unchanged.
In both cases, an equivalent adjustment is
made to the carrying value of the right-of-use
asset, with the revised carrying amount being
amortised over the remaining (revised) lease
term. If the carrying amount of the right-of-use
asset is adjusted to zero, any further reduction
is recognised in profit or loss.
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REMB®RME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—Z-—fF=R=+—H
31 March 2021

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(g)

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED ) 78 % 8

Lease (Continued)
Lease liability (Continued)

When the Group renegotiates the contractual
terms of a lease with the lessor, if the
renegotiation results in one or more
additional assets being leased for an amount
commensurate with the standalone price
for the additional rights-of-use obtained,
the modification is accounted for as a
separate lease, in all other cases, where
the renegotiated increases the scope of the
lease (whether that is an extension to the
lease term, or one or more additional assets
being leased), the lease liability is remeasured
using the discount rate applicable on the
modification date, with the right-of-use asset
being adjusted by the same amount.

The Group as a lessor

Leases are classified as finance leases
whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the leased assets to the lessee.
All other leases are classified as operating
leases.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor,
it accounts for the head lease and the sub-
lease as two separate leases. The sub-lease
is classified as a finance or operating lease
by reference to the right-of-use asset arising
from the head lease. Rental income from
operating leases is recognised in profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in
negotiating and arranging an operating lease
are added to the carrying amount of the leased
asset and recognised as an expense on the
straight-line basis over the lease term.
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e U B ®RRME

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(g)

Lease (Continued)
The Group as a lessor (Continued)

Amounts due from lessees under finance
leases are recorded as receivables at the
amount of the Group's net investment in the
leases. Finance lease income is allocated to
accounting periods so as to reflect a constant
periodic rate of return on the Group’'s net
investment outstanding in respect of the
leases.

Any changes in the scope of the consideration
for a lease that was not part of the original
terms and conditions of the lease are
accounted for as lease modifications. The
Group accounts for a modification to an
operating lease as a new lease from the
effective date of the modification, recognising
the remaining lease payments as income
on a either a straight-line basis or another
systematic basis over the remaining lease
term. The Group applies the derecognition
requirements of HKFRS 9 to recognise
modification or derecognition gain or loss on
the net investment in the finance lease.
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fra B IS Rk M A
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 March 2021

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(h)

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED ) 78 % 8

Financial Instruments

(i)

Financial assets

A financial asset (unless it is a trade
receivable without a significant financing
component) is initially measured at
fair value plus, for an item not at fair
value through profit or loss (“FVTPL"),
transaction costs that are directly
attributable to its acquisition or issue.
A trade receivable without a significant
financing component is initially measured
at the transaction price.

All regular way purchases and sales of
financial assets are recognised on the
trade date, that is, the date that the
Group commits to purchase or sell the
asset. Regular way purchases or sales
are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the
period generally established by regulation
or convention in the market place.
Financial assets with embedded
derivatives are considered in their entirely
when determining whether their cash
flows are solely payment of principal and
interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt
instruments depends on the Group's
business model for managing the asset
and the cash flow characteristics of the
asset. There are three measurement
categories into which the Group classifies
its debt instruments:
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(h) Financial Instruments (Continued)

(i)

Financial assets (Continued)
Debt instruments (Continued)

Amortised cost: Assets that are held
for collection of contractual cash flows
where those cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and
interest are measured at amortised
cost. Financial assets at amortised cost
are subsequently measured using the
effective interest rate method. Interest
income, foreign exchange gains and
losses and impairment are recognised in
profit or loss. Any gain on derecognition
is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income (“FVOCI"):
Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling
the financial assets, where the assets’
cash flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest, are measured
at FVOCI. Debt investments at fair
value through other comprehensive
income are subsequently measured at
fair value. Interest income calculated
using the effective interest rate method,
foreign exchange gains and losses and
impairment are recognised in profit or
loss. Other net gains and losses are
recognised in other comprehensive
income. On derecognition, gains
and losses accumulated in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to
profit or loss.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(h)

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED ) 78 % 8

Financial Instruments (Continued)

(i)

Financial assets (Continued)
Debt instruments (Continued)

FVTPL: Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss include financial
assets held for trading, financial assets
designated upon initial recognition at
fair value through profit or loss, or
financial assets mandatorily required
to be measured at fair value. Financial
assets are classified as held for trading
if they are acquired for the purpose
of selling or repurchasing in the near
term. Derivatives, including separated
embedded derivatives, are also
classified as held for trading unless they
are designated as effective hedging
instruments. Financial assets with cash
flows that are not solely payments of
principal and interest are classified and
measured at fair value through profit
or loss, irrespective of the business
model. Notwithstanding the criteria for
debt instruments to be classified at
amortised cost or at fair value through
other comprehensive income, as
described above, debt instruments may
be designated at fair value through profit
or loss on initial recognition if doing so
eliminates, or significantly reduces, an
accounting mismatch.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(h) Financial Instruments (Continued)

(i)

Financial assets (Continued)
Equity instruments

On initial recognition of an equity
investment that is not held for trading,
the Group could irrevocably elect
to present subsequent changes in
the investment's fair value in other
comprehensive income. This election is
made on an investment-by-investment
basis. Equity investments at FVOCI are
measured at fair value. Dividend income
are recognised in profit or loss unless
the dividend income clearly represents
a recovery of part of the cost of the
investments. Other net gains and losses
are recognised in other comprehensive
income and are not reclassified to profit
or loss. All other equity instruments are
classified as FVTPL, whereby changes in
fair value, dividends and interest income
are recognised in profit or loss.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(h)

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED ) 78 % 8

Financial Instruments (Continued)

(ii)

Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances
for expected credit loss (“ECL"”) on trade
receivables, contract assets, financial
assets measured at amortised cost and
debt investments measured at FVOCI.
The ECLs are measured on either of the
(1) 12 months ECLs:
these are the ECLs that result from

following bases:

possible default events within the 12
months after the reporting date; and (2)
lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs that result
from all possible default events over the
expected life of a financial instrument.
The maximum period considered when
estimating ECLs is the maximum
contractual period over which the Group
is exposed to credit risk.

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate
of credit losses. Credit losses are
measured as the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract
and all the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive. The shortfall is then
discounted at an approximation to the

assets’ original effective interest rate.

The Group has elected to measure
loss allowances for trade receivables
and contract assets using HKFRS 9
simplified approach and has calculated
ECLs based on lifetime ECLs. The Group
has established a provision matrix that
is based on the Group’'s historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for forward-
looking factors specific to the debtors
and the economic environment.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(h) Financial Instruments (Continued)

(ii)

Impairment loss on financial assets
(Continued)

For finance lease receivables and other
debt financial assets, the ECLs are based
on the 12-months ECLs. However, when
there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since origination, the
allowance will be based on the lifetime
ECLs.

When determining whether the credit
risk of a financial asset has increased
significantly since initial recognition
and when estimating ECL, the Group
considers reasonable and supportable
information that is relevant and
available without undue cost or effort.
This includes both quantitative and
qualitative information analysis, based
on the Group’s historical experience and
informed credit assessment and including
forward-looking information.

The Group assumes that the credit
risk on a financial asset has increased
significantly if it is more than 30 days
past due.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(h)

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED ) 78 % 8

Financial Instruments (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Impairment loss on financial assets
(Continued)

The Group considers a financial asset to
be credit-impaired when: (1) the borrower
is unlikely to pay its credit obligations
to the Group in full, without recourse by
the Group to actions such as realising
security (if any is held); or (2) the
financial asset is more than 90 days past
due.

Interest income on credit-impaired
financial assets is calculated based
on the amortised cost (i.e. the gross
carrying amount less loss allowance)
of the financial asset. For non credit-
impaired financial assets interest income
is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount.

Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial
liabilities, depending on the purpose
for which the liabilities were incurred.
Financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss are initially measured at fair
value and financial liabilities at amortised
costs are initially measured at fair value,
net of directly attributable costs incurred.

Financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss include financial liabilities
held for trading and financial liabilities
designated upon initial recognition as at
fair value through profit or loss.
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31 March 2021

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. FEGSTBEE)
(Continued)
(h) Financial Instruments (Continued) (h) BBTEE)

(iii) BBEE (&)

(iii) Financial liabilities (Continued)

Financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss (Continued)

Financial liabilities are classified as held for
trading if they are acquired for the purpose
of sale in the near term. Derivatives,
including separated embedded derivatives,
are also classified as held for trading
unless they are designated as effective
hedging instruments. Gains or losses on
liabilities held for trading are recognised in
profit or loss.

Where a contract contains one or more
embedded derivatives, the entire hybrid
contract may be designated as a financial
liability at fair value through profit or loss,
except where the embedded derivative
does not significantly modify the cash
flows or it is clear that separation of the
embedded derivative is prohibited.

Financial liabilities may be designated
upon initial recognition as at fair value
through profit or loss if the following
criteria are met: (i) the designation
eliminates or significantly reduces
the inconsistent treatment that would
otherwise arise from measuring the
liabilities or recognising gains or losses
on them on a different basis; (ii) the
liabilities are part of a group of financial
liabilities which are managed and their
performance evaluated on a fair value
basis, in accordance with a documented
risk management strategy; or (iii) the
financial liability contains an embedded
derivative that would need to be
separately recorded.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(h) Financial Instruments (Continued)

(iii) Financial liabilities (Continued)

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED ) BERERAR

Financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss (Continued)

Subsequent to initial recognition, financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss are measured at fair value, with
changes in fair value recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise,
except for the gains and losses arising
from the Group’'s own credit risk which
are presented in other comprehensive
income with no subsequent reclassification
to profit or loss. The net fair value gain
or loss recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income
does not include any interest charged on
these financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
including trade, bills and other payables,
amounts due to non-controlling shareholders
of subsidiaries, amounts due to related
parties, bank and other borrowings,
lease liabilities and the debt element of
convertible bonds issued by the Group are
subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method. The
related interest expense is recognised in
profit or loss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or
loss when the liabilities are derecognised
as well as through the amortisation
process.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. FEGSTBEE)
(Continued)
(h) Financial Instruments (Continued) (h) B%IAE)
(iv) Convertible bonds (iv)] HREREF

Convertible bonds issued by the
Group that contain both the liability
and conversion option components
are classified separately into their
respective items on initial recognition.
Conversion option that will be settled
by the exchange of a fixed amount of
cash or another financial asset for a fixed
number of the Company’'s own equity
instruments is classified as an equity
instrument.

On initial recognition, the fair value of the
liability component is determined using
the prevailing market interest of similar
non-convertible debts. The difference
between the proceeds of the issue of
the convertible bonds and the fair value
assigned to the liability component,
representing the conversion option for
the holder to convert the bonds into
equity, is included in equity (convertible
loan notes equity reserve).
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(h) Financial Instruments (Continued)

(iv) Convertible bonds (Continued)

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED ) 78 % 8

In subsequent periods, the liability
component of the convertible bonds
is carried at amortised cost using the
effective interest method. The equity
component, represented by the option
to convert the liability component into
ordinary shares of the Company, will
remain in convertible bonds reserve
until the embedded option is exercised
(in which case the balance stated
in convertible bonds reserve will be
transferred to share capital and share
premium). Where the option remains
unexercised at the expiry dates,
the balance stated in convertible
bonds reserve will be released to the
accumulated losses. No gain or loss is
recognised upon conversion or expiration
of the option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue
of the convertible bonds are allocated
to the liability and equity components
in proportion to the allocation of the
proceeds. Transaction costs relating
to the equity component are charged
directly to equity. Transaction costs
relating to the liability component are
included in the carrying amount of the
liability portion and amortised over the
period of the convertible bonds using the
effective interest method.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(h) Financial Instruments (Continued)

(v)

(vi)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a
method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial asset or financial
liability and of allocating interest income
or interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts or payments through
the expected life of the financial asset or
liability, or where appropriate, a shorter
period.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the
Company are recorded at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(h) Financial Instruments (Continued)

(vii) Derecognition

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED ) BERERAR

The Group derecognises a financial asset
when the contractual rights to the future
cash flows in relation to the financial
asset expire or when the financial asset
has been transferred and the transfer
meets the criteria for derecognition in
accordance with HKFRS 9.

Financial liabilities are derecognised
when the obligation specified in the
relevant contract is discharged, cancelled
or expires.

Where the Group issues its own equity
instruments to a creditor to settle a
financial liability in whole or in part as
a result of renegotiating the terms of
that liability, the equity instruments
issued are the consideration paid and are
recognised initially and measured at their
fair value on the date the financial liability
or part thereof is extinguished. If the fair
value of the equity instruments issued
cannot be reliably measured, the equity
instruments are measured to reflect
the fair value of the financial liability
extinguished. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability
or part thereof extinguished and the
consideration paid is recognised in profit
or loss for the year.
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e U B ®RRME

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(h)

(i)

Financial Instruments (Continued)
(viii) Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial
asset, lease receivable or contract asset
is written off (either partially or in full)
to the extent that there is no realistic
prospect of recovery. This is generally
the case when the Group determines
that the debtor does not have assets
or sources of income that could
generate sufficient cash flows to repay
the amounts subject to the write-off.
Subsequent recoveries of an asset that
was previously written off are recognised
as a reversal of impairment in profit or
loss in the period in which the recovery
occurs.

Inventories and properties under
development

Inventories

Inventories are initially recognised at cost,
and subsequently at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost comprises all costs of
purchase and other costs incurred in bringing
the inventories to their present location and
condition. Cost is calculated using the first-
in first-out method. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated
costs necessary to make the sale.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i)

(i)

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED ) 78 % 8

Inventories and properties under
development (Continued)

Properties under development for sale

The cost of properties under development
for sale comprises specifically identified
cost, including the acquisition cost of land,
aggregate cost of development, materials and
supplies, wages and other direct expenses,
an appropriate proportion of overheads and
borrowing costs capitalised. Net realisable
value represents the estimated selling price
less estimated costs of completion and costs
to be incurred in selling the property.

In accordance with HKAS 23 Borrowing Costs,
the borrowing costs as part of the cost of a
qualifying asset commences when expenditure
for the asset is being incurred, borrowing
costs are being incurred and activities that are
necessary to prepare the asset for its intended
use or sale are in progress. Capitalisation of
borrowing costs is suspended or ceases when
substantially all the activities necessary to
prepare the qualifying asset for its intended
use or sale are interrupted or complete.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers is
recognised when control of goods or services
is transferred to the customers at an amount
that reflects the consideration to which the
Group expects to be entitled in exchange
for those goods or services, excluding those
amounts collected on behalf of third parties.
Revenue excludes value added tax or other
sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade
discounts.
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e U B ®RRME

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Depending on the terms of the contract and
the laws that apply to the contract, control
of the goods or service may be transferred
over time or at a point in time. Control of the
goods or service is transferred over time if the
Group's performance:

° provides all of the benefits received
and consumed simultaneously by the
customer;

° creates or enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

o does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to
date.

If control of the goods or services transfers
over time, revenue is recognised over the
period of the contract by reference to the
progress towards complete satisfaction of that
performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue
is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the goods or

service.

When the contract contains a financing
component which provides the customer a
significant benefit of financing the transfer of
goods or services to the customer for more
than one year, revenue is measured at the
present value of the amounts receivable,
discounted using the discount rate that would
be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at

contract inception.
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REMB®RME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—Z-—fF=R=+—H
31 March 2021

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i)

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED ) 78 % 8

Revenue recognition (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Revenue from sale of goods

Customers obtain control of the products
when the goods are delivered to and
have been accepted. Revenue is thus
recognised upon when the customers
accepted the products. There is generally
only one performance obligation. Invoices
are usually payable within 30 days. In the
comparative period, revenue from sales
of goods is recognised on transfer of
risks and rewards of ownership, which
was taken as at the time of delivery and
the title is passed to customer.

Exhibition and related services

The Group provides service in the design,
planning, coordination and management
of the exhibitions and events. Revenue
from providing services is recognised
in the accounting period in which the
services are rendered. In the contract
with the customer, a series of distinct
exhibitions and event related services
has the same pattern of transferring the
control of the services to the customer.
Therefore, series guidance is applied
and the Group accounts for a series of
distinct exhibitions and event related
services as one performance obligation.
Revenue is recognised over the period
of the contract by reference to the
progress towards complete satisfaction
of that performance obligation with the
input method, under which, revenue
is recognised on the basis of the
Group’s inputs to the satisfaction of a
performance obligation relative to the
total expected inputs to the satisfaction
of that performance obligation.
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ARE MR M

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-—f=H=+—H

31 March 2021

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. FEESTHE®)
(Continued)
(j) Revenue recognition (Continued) (j) WEBEE)
(iii) Development properties for sale (iii) BREHBZHEYE
Revenue arising from the sale of HEERPUFEREERS
properties developed for sale in the BRPHEECYEREEZ

ordinary course of business is recognised
when legal assignment is completed,
which is the point in time when the
customer has the ability to direct the use
of the property and obtain substantially
all of the remaining benefits of the

property.

Deposits and instalments received on
properties sold prior to the date of
revenue recognition are included in
the consolidated statement of financial
position under contract liabilities. When
the advance payments are regarded as
providing a significant financing benefit to
the Group, interest expense arising from
the adjustment of time value of money
will be accrued by the Group during the
period between the payment date and
the completion date of legal assignment.
This accrual increases the balance of
the contract liability during the period
of construction, and therefore increases
the amount of revenue recognised when
control of the completed property is
transferred to the customer. The interest
is expensed as accrued unless it is
eligible to be capitalised under HKAS 23
(see Note 4(i)).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-—F®=ZA=+—H

31 March 2021

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(j)  Revenue recognition (Continued)

(iv) Other income

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED ) BERERAR

Rental income under operating leases
is recognised on a straight-line basis
over the term of the relevant lease in
accordance with HKFRS 16.

Finance lease interest income is accrued
on a timely basis, by reference to the
principal outstanding at the effective
interest rate applicable, which is the date
exactly discounts the estimated future
cash receipts through the repayment
schedule of the finance lease receivable to
net carrying amount on initial recognition.
The finance lease interest income is
recognised in accordance to HKFRS 16.

Dividend income is recognised when
the right to receive the dividend is
established.

Interest income from a financial asset is
accrued on a timely basis, by reference
to the principal outstanding and
calculated at the effective interest rate
applicable, which is the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life of the
financial asset to that asset’s net carrying
amount on initial recognition. The interest
income is recognised in accordance to
HKFRS 9.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(j) Revenue recognition (Continued)

(v)

(vi)

Contract assets and liabilities

A contract asset represents the Group's
right to consideration in exchange for
services that the Group has transferred to
a customer that is not yet unconditional.
In contrast, a receivable represents
the Group's unconditional right to
consideration, i.e. only the passage of
time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the
Group's obligation to transfer services
to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

Contract Costs

Contract costs are either the incremental
costs of obtaining a contract with a
customer or the costs to fulfil a contract
with a customer which are not capitalised
as inventories, property and plant and
equipment or intangible assets.

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract
are those costs that the Group incurs
to obtain a contract with a customer
that it would not have incurred if the
contract had not been obtained e.g.
an incremental sales commission.
Incremental costs of obtaining a contract
are capitalised when incurred if the
costs relate to revenue which will be
recognised in a future reporting period
and the costs are expected to be
recovered. Other costs of obtaining a
contract are expensed when incurred.

e U B ®RRME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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REMB®RME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—Z-—fF=R=+—H
31 March 2021

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(k)

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED ) 78 % 8

Discontinued operations

A discontinued operation is a component of
the Group’s business, the operations and cash
flows of which can be clearly distinguished
from the rest of the Group and which
represents a separate major line of business
or geographical area of operations, or is a part
of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of a
separate major line of business or geographical
area of operations, or is a subsidiary acquired
exclusively with a view to resale.

Classification as a discontinued operation
occurs upon disposal or when the operation
meets the criteria to be classified as held for
sale, if earlier. It also occurs if the operation is
abandoned.

Where an operation is classified as
discontinued, a single amount is presented
on the face of the statement of profit or loss,
which comprises the post-tax profit or loss of
the discontinued operation and post-tax gain
or loss recognised on the measurement to fair
value less costs to sell, or on the disposal, of
the assets or disposal group constituting the
discontinued operation.
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e U B ®RRME

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(1)

Income taxes

Income taxes for the year comprise current
tax and deferred tax.

Current tax is based on the profit or loss from
ordinary activities adjusted for items that are
non-assessable or disallowable for income tax
purposes and is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted at
the end of reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of
temporary differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and the corresponding
amounts used for tax purposes. Except for
goodwill and recognised assets and liabilities
that affect neither accounting nor taxable
profits, deferred tax liabilities are recognised
for all temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be
available against which deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Deferred tax is
measured at the tax rates appropriate to the
expected manner in which the carrying amount
of the asset or liability is realised or settled
and that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—Z-—fF=R=+—H
31 March 2021

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(1)

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED ) 78 % 8

Income taxes (Continued)

An exception to the general requirement on
determining the appropriate tax rate used in
measuring deferred tax amount is when an
investment property is carried at fair value
under HKAS 40 “Investment Property”. Unless
the presumption is rebutted, the deferred
tax amounts on these investment properties
are measured using the tax rates that would
apply on sale of these investment properties
at their carrying amounts at the reporting
date. The presumption is rebutted when the
investment property is depreciable and is held
within a business model whose objective is
to consume substantially all the economic
benefits embodied in the property over time,
rather than through sale.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for
taxable temporary differences arising on
investments in subsidiaries and associates,
except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Income taxes are recognised in profit or loss
except when they relate to items recognised
in other comprehensive income in which
case the taxes are also recognised in other
comprehensive income.
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e U B ®RRME

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(1)

Income taxes (Continued)
Land appreciation tax (“LAT”)

The Group is subject to LAT in the PRC. The
provision for LAT is based on management'’s
best estimates according to the understanding
of the requirements set forth in the relevant
PRC tax laws and regulations. The actual LAT
liabilities are subject to the determination
by the tax authorities upon the completion
of the property development projects. The
Group has not finalised its LAT calculation
and payments with the tax authorities for
some of its property development projects.
The final outcome could be different from
the amounts that were initially recorded, and
any differences may have an impact on the
LAT expenses and the related provision in the
period in which the difference realises.
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REMB®RME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—Z-—fF=R=+—H
31 March 2021

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(m)

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED ) BERERAR

Foreign currency

Transactions entered into by group entities
in currencies other than the currency of the
primary economic environment in which
they operate (the “functional currency”)
are recorded at the rates ruling when the
transactions occur. Foreign currency monetary
assets and liabilities are translated at the
rates ruling at the end of reporting period.
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that
are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date
when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms
of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the
settlement of monetary items, and on the
translation of monetary items, are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they
arise. Exchange differences arising on the
retranslation of non-monetary items carried at
fair value are included in profit or loss for the
period except for differences arising on the
retranslation of non-monetary items in respect
of which gains and losses are recognised in
other comprehensive income, in which cases,
the exchange differences are also recognised
in other comprehensive income.
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e U B ®RRME

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(m)

Foreign currency (Continued)

On consolidation, income and expense
items of foreign operations are translated
into the presentation currency of the Group
at the average exchange rates for the vyear,
unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during the period, in which case, the rates
approximating, to those ruling when the
transactions took place are used. All assets
and liabilities of foreign operations are
translated at the rate ruling at the end of
reporting period. Exchange differences arising,
if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity as foreign
exchange reserve (attributed to non-controlling
interests as appropriate). Exchange differences
recognised in the profit or loss of group
entities’ separate financial statements on
the translation of long-term monetary items
forming part of the Group’s net investment
in the foreign operation concerned are
reclassified to other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity as foreign exchange
reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the
cumulative exchange differences recognised
in the foreign exchange reserve relating to
that operation up to the date of disposal are
reclassified to the profit or loss as part of the
profit or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on
identifiable assets acquired arising on an
acquisition of a foreign operation on or
after 1 January 2005 are treated as assets
and liabilities of that foreign operation and
translated at the rate of exchange prevailing
at the end of reporting period. Exchange
differences arising are recognised in the
foreign exchange reserve.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—Z-—fF=R=+—H
31 March 2021

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(n)

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED ) [ERER

Employee benefits

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave
are recognised when they accrue to
employees. A provision is made for the
estimated liability for annual leave as a
result of services rendered by employees
up to the end of reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and
maternity leave are not recognised until
the time of leave.

Profit-sharing and bonus plans

The expected costs of profit-sharing and
bonus payments are recognised as a
liability when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result
of services rendered by employees and a
reliable estimate of the obligation can be
made.

Liabilities for profit-sharing and bonus
plans are expected to be settled within
12 months and are measured at the
amounts expected to be paid when they
are settled.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised
on the earlier of when the Group can
no longer withdraw the offer of those
benefits and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs involving the payment
of termination benefits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-—f=H=+—H

31 March 2021

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4, FEESTTHE®)
(Continued)
(n) Employee benefits (Continued) (n) EEERNGE)

(iv) BEBEEWEF

(iv) Post-employment benefits

Retirement benefits to employees
are provided through several defined
contribution plans.

The Group adopts a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement
benefits scheme (the "MPF Scheme")
under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance of Hong Kong for all
employees of its subsidiaries operating in
Hong Kong. Contributions are made based
on a percentage of the employees’ basic
salaries but subject to a cap in accordance
with the statutory requirement and
are recognised in profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the
rules of the MPF Scheme.

The Group has recorded provisions for
long service payments for employees
who had completed the required number
of years of service under Hong Kong's
Employment Ordinance for whom
the Group is obligated to pay long
service payment on termination of their
employment.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries
that operate in the PRC are required to
participate in a government-managed
retirement benefit schemes. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute
a fixed cost per employee to the
government-managed retirement benefit
schemes. The contributions are charged
to profit or loss as they become payable.

There were no forfeited contributions
utilised by the Group to reduce existing
level of contribution for each of the years.
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31 March 2021

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(o)

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED ) 78 % 8

Share-based payments

Where share options are awarded to
employees, the fair value of the options at the
date of grant is recognised in profit or loss
over the vesting period with a corresponding
increase in the employee share-based
compensation reserve within equity. Non-
market vesting conditions are taken into
account by adjusting the number of equity
instruments expected to vest at the end of
each reporting period so that, ultimately,
the cumulative amount recognised over
the vesting period is based on the number
of options that eventually vest. Market
vesting conditions are factored into the fair
value of the options granted. As long as
all other vesting conditions are satisfied, a
charge is made irrespective of whether the
market vesting conditions are satisfied. The
cumulative expense is not adjusted for failure
to achieve a market vesting condition.

Where the terms and conditions of options
are modified before they vest, the increase
in the fair value of the options, measured
immediately before and after the modification,
is also recognised in profit or loss over the
remaining vesting period.

Where equity instruments are granted to
persons other than employees, the profit or
loss is charged with the fair value of goods
or services received unless the goods or
services qualify for recognition as assets. A
corresponding increase in equity is recognised.
For cash settled share based payments, a
liability is recognised at the fair value of the
goods or services received.
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e U B ®RRME

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(p)

Impairment of other assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of the following
assets to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss or an impairment loss
previously recognised no longer exists or may
have decreased:

° property, plant and equipment;
° intangible assets; and
° interests in subsidiaries

If the recoverable amount (i.e. the greater of
the fair value less costs of disposal and value
in use) of an asset is estimated to be less
than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised as
an expense immediately, unless the relevant
asset is carried at a revalued amount under
another HKFRS, in which case the impairment
loss is treated as a revaluation decrease under
that HKFRS.

Where an impairment loss subsequently
reverses, the carrying amount of the asset
is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, to the extent that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
as income immediately, unless the relevant
asset is carried at a revalued amount under
another HKFRS, in which case the reversal of
the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation
increase under that HKFRS.
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REMB®RME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—Z-—fF=R=+—H
31 March 2021

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(p)

(a)

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED ) 78 % 8

Impairment of other assets (Continued)

Value in use is based on the estimated future
cash flow expected to be derived from the
asset or cash-generating unit (see note 4(c)
to the consolidated financial statements),
discounted to their present value using
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset or
cash-generating unit.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of
uncertain timing or amount when the Group
has a legal or constructive obligation arising as
a result of a past event, which it is probably
will result in an outflow of economic benefits
that can be reasonably estimated.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required, or the
amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability,
unless the probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote. Possible obligations, the
existence of which will only be confirmed
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one
or more future events, are also disclosed as
contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(r) Related parties

(a)

(b)

A person or a close member of that

person’s family is related to the Group if

that person:

(ii)

(iii)

has control or joint control of the
Group;

has significant influence over the
Group; or

is a member of key management
personnel of the Group or the
Company’s parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of

the following conditions apply:

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

The entity and the Group are
members of the same group (which
means that each parent, subsidiary
and fellow subsidiary is related to
the others);

One entity is an associate or joint
venture of the other entity (or
an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the
other entity is a member);

Both entities are joint ventures of
the same third party;

One entity is a joint venture of a
third entity and the other entity is
an associate of the third entity;

e U B ®RRME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—B-_—Ff=A=1+—H
31 March 2021

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(r) Related parties (Continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if

any of the following conditions apply:
(Continued)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

The entity is a post-employment
benefit plan for the benefit of the
employees of the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

The entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in
(a);

A person identified in (a)(i) has
significant influence over the entity
or is a member of key management
personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity); or

The entity, or any member of a
group of which it is a part, provides
key management personnel services
to the reporting entity or to the
parent of the reporting entity.

Close members of the family of a person are

those family members who may be expected

to influence, or be influenced by, that person

in their dealings with the entity and include:

(i)  that

person’s children and spouse or

domestic partner;

(i) child

ren of that person’s spouse or

domestic partner; and

(i) dependents of that person or that

person’s spouse or domestic partner.

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED ) 78 % 8
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e U B ®RRME

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(s)

()

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs attributable directly to the
acquisition, construction or production of
qualifying assets which require a substantial
period of time to be ready for their intended
use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost
of those assets. Income earned on temporary
investments of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on those assets is deducted
from borrowing costs capitalised. All other
borrowing costs are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised when
there is reasonable assurance that they will be
received and that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them. Grants that
compensate the Group for expenses incurred
are recognised as revenue in profit or loss
on a systematic basis in the same periods
in which the expenses are incurred. Grants
that compensate the Group for the cost of an
asset are recognised as deferred income in
consolidated statement of financial position
and consequently are effectively recognised in
profit or loss over the useful life of the asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—Z-—fF=R=+—H
31 March 2021

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(u)

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED ) 78 % 8

Financial Guarantee

A financial guarantee contract is a contract
that requires the issuer to make specified
payments to reimburse the holder for a loss
it incurs because a specified debtor fails
to make payment when due in accordance
with the original or modified terms of a debt
instrument. A financial guarantee contract
issued by the Group and not designated as at
FVTPL is recognised initially at its fair value less
transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the issue of the financial guarantee contract.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group
measures the financial guarantee contact at the
higher of: (i) the amount of the loss allowance,
being the ECL provision measured in accordance
with principles of the the accounting policy
set out in 4(h)(ii); and (ii) the amount initially
recognised less, when appropriate, cumulative
amortisation recognised in accordance with the
principles of HKFRS 15.
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e U B ®RRME

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

Estimates are evaluated and are based on historical

experience and other factors, including expectations

of future events that are believed to be reasonable

under the circumstances. The key assumptions

that have a significant risk of causing a material

adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets

and liabilities within the next financial year are

discussed below:

(a)

(b)

(c)

Useful lives of property, plant and
equipment

Management determines the estimated useful
lives of the property, plant and equipment and
will revise depreciation charges when useful
lives differ from previous estimates.

Impairment test of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is
impaired at least on an annual basis. This
requires an estimation of the value in use
of the cash-generating units to which the
goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value in
use requires the Group to make an estimate of
the expected future cash flows from the cash-
generating units and also to choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present
value of those cash flows.

Impairment loss on intangible assets

Determining whether an intangible asset is
impaired requires an estimation of the future
cash flow and a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value. Where
the actual future cash flows are less than
expected, a material impairment loss may
arise.
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REMB®RME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—Z-—fF=R=+—H
31 March 2021

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

(d)

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED ) [ERER

Impairment loss on financial assets at
amortised cost

Significant judgements is required in applying
the accounting requirements by the Group's
management for measuring the loss allowances
of financial assets at amortised cost.

The Group’s management use its judgement
in making such measurements including the
credit history, existing market conditions,
qualitative and quantitative reasonable and
supportable forward-looking information,
and market value of collaterals if applicable.
In order to determine the most appropriate
models in estimating the loss allowances for
each type of financial assets at amortised cost,
significant judgement is required to relate
appropriate key drivers of credit risk as well as
future movement of different economic drivers
and how these drivers will affect each other.
Where the expectation is different from the
original estimate, such difference will affect
the carrying amount of financial assets at
amortised cost and thus the loss allowance in
the period in which such estimate is changed.
The Company reassesses the loss allowances
at the end of reporting period.
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e U B ®RRME

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

(e)

(f)

Valuation of properties under development

The Group evaluates whether there is any
objective evidence that the net realisable value
of the properties under development fall short
of their carrying values. The Group estimates
the net realisable value based on the Group's
expectation of future selling prices, through
valuation reports obtained from reputable
independent third party valuers or recent
market transactions involving comparable
properties and the estimated total project
costs for each project. The net realisable
value could change significantly as a result of
changes in market conditions or government
property control measures.

Incremental borrowing rate

The Group uses its incremental borrowing
rate ("IBR") to measure lease liabilities. The
IBR is the rate of interest that the Group
would have to pay to borrow over a similar
term, and with a similar security, the funds
necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value
to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic
environment. The IBR therefore reflects what
the Group ‘would have to pay’, which requires
estimation when no observable rates are
available or when they need to be adjusted to
reflect the terms and conditions of the lease.

The Group estimates the IBR using observable
inputs (such as market interest rates) when
available and is required to make certain
entity-specific estimates.
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REMB®RME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—Z-—fF=R=+—H
31 March 2021

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

(g)

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED ) [ERER

Fair value measurement

A number of assets and liabilities included
in the Group’s financial statements require
measurement at, and/or disclosure of, fair
value.

The fair value measurement of the Group's
financial and non-financial assets and liabilities
utilises market observable inputs and data as
far as possible. Inputs used in determining
fair value measurements are categorised into
different levels based on how observable the
inputs used in the valuation technique utilised
are (the “fair value hierarchy”):

° Level 1: Quoted prices in active markets
for identical items (unadjusted);

° Level 2: Observable direct or indirect
inputs other than Level 1 inputs;

° Level 3: Unobservable inputs (i.e. not
derived from market data).

The classification of an item into the above
levels is based on the lowest level of the
inputs used that has a significant effect on the
fair value measurement of the item. Transfers
of items between levels are recognised in the
period they occur.

The Group measures investment properties
(note 19) at fair value.

For more detailed information in relation to the
fair value measurement of the items above,
please refer to the applicable notes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEGMENT REPORTING

Management determines operating segments based
on the reports regularly reviewed by the chief
operating decision maker (the “CODM"), which is
the Board of Directors (the “Board”), in assessing
performance and allocating resources. The CODM
considers the business primarily on the basis of
the types of services supplied by the Group. During
the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group has
re-organised its internal reporting structure so
as to enhance the operational efficiency. The
segments of property sub-leasing, development and
investment business have been separated into two
business as property sub-leasing and investment
business and property development business. The
Group is currently re-organised into five operating
divisions — property sub-leasing and investment
business, property development business, money
lending business, exhibition-related business and
food and beverage business, and two operating
divisions including the exhibition-related business
and the food and beverages business were
classified as discontinued operations. Accordingly,
the comparative segment information has been
re-presented to conform to current year's
presentation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—Z-—fF=R=+—H

31 March 2021

6. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 6. DEHmEH)
Principal activities of the Group are as follows: REEBZFTEBEKWT -
Exhibition-related — organising all kinds of ES Rl — ERXERZIEE
business exhibition events and Ei S NemEe
meeting events
Property sub- — sub-leasing and leasing of MEIERE — DHERBEERE
leasing and investment properties KEER S
investment
business
Property — development of real estates L E Y — BREME
development E
business
Food and — sale of food and beverages BER — HEEHKRBEE
beverages and restaurant operations 7%
Money lending — provision of loans to e — RIBEBEG
business customers, including F163EMEA
individuals and {5012 &R E
corporations under the REBRHER
provisions of Money TEF BEME
Lenders Ordinance ABE{ZE
(Chapter 163 of the Laws
of Hong Kong) in Hong
Kong
Upon completion of disposal of the entire interests REBEE_ZTE-_—F=-HA=+—BHLEFE
of a number of subsidiaries during the year ended R HEHENB ARz 2R ER
31 March 2021, the management considers that the EREERABAEB I IELEDERY
key operating divisions of the Group are property EOoMRIREHES MEEREBFUR
sub-leasing and investment business, property MEER -

development business and money lending business.

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED ) BERERAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

Segment information is presented below:

(a) Information about reportable segment

revenue, profit or loss, assets and liabilities

and other information

—ZET-—%=A=+—H
31 March 2021

PREFEE)
SEER2FMT

(a) FRAATHEI BWE  BFRE
B -EERABZERRAMESR

2021
ful Jal:3
Continuing operations Discontinued operations
FEEEER BAILEEER
Property
sub-leasing
and Property Money Inter- Exhibition-
investment  development lending segment related Food and
business business business elimination Subtotal business beverages Total
NEAER NERE BE
REEH % HEER FERHE Nt RS £ 1
HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS
Az A 73 A 73 A Ar A1
Reportable segment revenue ~ THEH BN
External revenue e 56,158,591 - - - 56,158,591 529,219 - 56,687,870
Inter-segment revenue HEERE - - - - - - - -
56,158,591 - - - 56,158,591 529,219 - 56,687,870
Reportable segment (loss)/profit R BEEHTRESE
before income tax expense (F8)/ %R (330,609) (11,018,074 (239,344) - (11,588,027) (715,663) 103,168 (12,200,522)
Other segment information A EEH
Interest income FEHA 13,540 211,309 13,366 - 298,215 627 - 298,842
Interest expenses HERX 17,371,607 - - - 17,377,607 21437 - 17,399,044
Depreciation of property, % BRRRELNE
plant and equipment 475,940 1,060,729 - - 1,536,669 1,239 - 1,537,908
Fair value loss of investment RENEZATEESE
properties 55,993,773 - - - 55,993,773 - - 55,993,773
Gain on disposal of property, LENE  BRRAE
plant and equipment pdlc: - - - - - 85,704 - 85,704
Gain on disposal of rightof-use  HEFREEEZNE
assets 21,181,563 - - - 21,181,563 - - 21,781,563
(Gein on termination of lease AEERN MR
contracts 7,495,080 - - - 7,495,080 - - 7,495,080
Impairment loss for finance lease BT EZEL
receivables HEEE 806,497 - - - 806,497 - - 806,497
ANNUAL REPORT 2021 —Z = —F &
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REMB®RWE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-—%=ZA=+—H
31 March 2021

6. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

DREFEE)

(a) Information about reportable segment (a) EBUHREIEWRE  BHABHE
revenue, profit or loss, assets and liabilities B -EERABEZENRAEMER
and other information (Continued) (&

2021
—g--f
Continuing operations Discontinued operations
HREEER BAILEEER
Property
sub-leasing
and Property Money Inter- Exhibition-
investment  development lending segment related Food and
business business business elimination Subtotal business beverages Total
NEIER NEER BE
REXH £8 HEEE AEREH it il -E3d £ &g
HK$ HKS HK$ HKS HK$ HKS$ HK$ HKS
V-3 23 V-7 -2 V-7 -3 b7 -3
(Reversal of|provision for BRERREMIEL
impaiment loss on trade and REREEE)/
other receivables, net BREE (161,051) 768 - - (160,283) 874,828 - 714,545
Reportable segment assets TREHEEE 615,539,894 1,211,004,569 12,532,456 - 1,839,076,919 - - 1,839,076,919
Expenditure for reportable TREARERDEEL
segment non-current assets 53 494,063,338 6,718,444 - - 500,781,782 1,800 - 500,783,582
Reportable segment liabilities TRENEAE 567,967,018 763,744,962 3,546 - 1331715526 - - 1,331,715526

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

(a)

Information about reportable segment

revenue, profit or loss, assets and liabilities

—ZET-—%=A=+—H
31 March 2021

DERE ()

(a) EBUHESEWRE - BANHE
B EERAEZERRAMER

and other information (Continued) (&
2020
ik S 3
Continuing operations Discontinued operations
REEEER BRLBEEH
Property
sub-leasing
and Property Money Inter- Exhibition-
investment development lending segment related Food and
business business business elimination Subtotal business beverages Total
nEHH HELS RE
RRE%HE 55 HEEH AEREHE i) EEEH £ 2%
HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS
AT AT AT AT AT AT AT AT
re-presented) (re-presented) re-presented) (re-presented) [re-presented)
(#Z5)) (#Z5)) (#27)) (#Z5)) (#27))
(note 6 (note 6) (note Tand 6]~ (note Tand 6)  (note 1 and 6)
(Hit6) (Hit6) (Wit 1k6) (Wit 1%6) (HiE1k6)
Reportable segment revenue WS B
External revenue g 65,454,859 - 626,589 - 66,081,448 12,335,610 - 78,417,058
Inter-segment revenue PERkE - - - - - - - -
65,454,859 - 626,589 - 66,081,448 12,335,610 - 78,417,088
Reportable segment profit/ BRAERBXATRESE
[loss) before income tax )/ (58)
expense 10,996,660 - 126,874 - 11,123,534 (2,858,230) (84,974) 8,180,330
Other segment information A EEH
Interest income FIEHA 11,588 - 22,093 - 33,681 6,465 - 40,146
Interest expenses HES 12,065,980 - = = 12,065,980 86,805 = 12,152,785
Depreciation of property, nE BERREZ
plant and equipment it 3 516,772 - — - 516,772 43677 o 560,449
Impairment loss on property, % BERREL
plant and equipment HEER S - 20,486 - 20,486 213,930 81,944 316,360
Fair value loss of investment RENEZATER
properties B 24,254,7% o o o 24,254,795 = o 24,254,795
ANNUAL REPORT 2021 =ZE=—F&#
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REMB®RME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—Z-—fF=R=+—H
31 March 2021

6. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

(a)

6. PEHREF®)

Information about reportable segment (a) EBUHREIEWRE  BHABHE
revenue, profit or loss, assets and liabilities B -EERABEZENRAEMER
and other information (Continued) (&
2020
ik S 3
Continuing operations Discontinued operations
REEEER BRILEREH
Property
sub-leasing
and Property Money Inter- Exhibition-
investment development lending segment related Food and
business business business elimination Subtotal business beverages Total
nEHH HELS RE
RRE%HE 55 HEEH AEREHE i) EEEH £ 2%
HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS
AT AT AT AT AT AT AT AT
re-presented) (re-presented) re-presented) (re-presented) [re-presented)
(#Z5)) (#Z5)) (#27)) (#Z5)) (#27))
(note 1) (note 1) (note Tand 6] (note Tand 6)  (note 1 and 6)
(K1) (Hit1) (K 1k6) (Wit 1%6) (HiE1k6)
(Gain)floss on disposal of LENE - BRREEL
property, plant and (h&)/ B8
equipment (1,703) S S — 1,703) 17,460 - 15,757
Gain on disposal of HERREEEL
right-of-use assets e 10,152,574 - - - 10,152,574 - - 10,152,574
Impairment loss for finance lease BN EAREHEL
receivables HEEE 281,393 - - - 281,393 - - 281,393
Provision for/[reversal of) ERERREME
impaiment loss on trade hEEERE/
and other receivables (&m) 933,415 - (65,930) - 867,485 - - 867,485
Reportable segment assets TRENEEE 389,220,702 - 61,420,839 — 450,641,541 15,268,794 45789 465,946,124
Expenditure for reportable TREARERDEEL
segment non-current assets R 56,957,919 - - - 56,957,919 - - 56,957,919
Reportable segment liabllities TREABAE 315,117,228 - 3,546 - 315,120,774 9,628,845 143,655 324,893,274

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED #HEEHZER AR A A



6.

SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

(b)

e %R KM
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-—%F=ZA=+—H

6. DEBE®)

31 March 2021

Reconciliation of reportable segment profit (b) AHRESERFDER - EERE
or loss, assets and liabilities BZHER
Loss before income tax expense BRET S BB AT E 15
2021 2020
—E--F —E-%F
HK$ HK$
B BT
(re-presented)
(BE75)
(note 1 & 6)
(Bt 1X%6)
Reportable segment (loss)/profit before BRETERAZ AT RESE
income tax expense (B1#8),/ & (11,588,027) 11,123,534
Unallocated gain on disposal of AORLERBRR ZWE
subsidiaries 7,801,713 —
Unallocated impairment loss on other AABEMERZIERERSSE
receivables (1,890,542) —
Unallocated interest income and other AABM WA REBA
income 1,800,507 170,144
Unallocated gain on extinguishment of ROBAHE AR ES 2 W
convertible bonds - 5,937,254
Unallocated provisions for financial RO B SR
guarantee (22,880,660) (20,621,019)
Unallocated amortisation of intangible KPEREREE B
assets (97,403) (116,884)
Unallocated finance costs ROBLRERK A (2,064,870) (6,138,555)
Unallocated staff costs AOEEIRA (5,766,845)  (11,006,821)
Unallocated depreciation of property, AOEWE - BENEE
plant and equipment ZIE (739,329) (620,456)
Unallocated head office and corporate AORBRERERAAFAS
expenses (note) (Kist) (10,432,949) (8,743,345)
Loss before income tax expense from REFELEER 2 BRAER
continuing operations X A& 18 (45,858,405)  (30,016,148)

Note:

Unallocated head office and corporate expenses
mainly include professional and consultancy fees,
administrative expenses and business development

expenses.

Wizt -

ANNUAL REPORT 2021
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RE PV BHRRMEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-—%=ZA=+—H
31 March 2021

6. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

(b)

Reconciliation of reportable segment profit

6. DEHBE®)
(b)

THEDBERNRER - EERE

or loss, assets and liabilities (Continued) BEZYHER(E)
Assets BE
2021 2020
—E-—%F —E T
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Reportable segment assets REDHEE 1,839,076,919 465,946,124
Property, plant and equipment M - B MR 1,150,238 1,072,271
Trade and other receivables U E R R B At R IE 7,736,724 8,664,174
Cash and cash equivalents RekReFEIEE 43,496,814 82,928,269
Unallocated head office and RAOBEPER K
corporate assets RABE 5,217,644 643,663
Total assets EERE 1,896,678,339 559,254,501
Liabilities BE
2021 2020
—E--F —E-TF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Reportable segment liabilities HRESEARE 1,331,715,526 324,893,274
Convertible bonds AR ES - 82,859,174
Lease liabilities HEEBE 698,916 126,747
Unallocated head office and corporate  RAEERFERE N
liabilities nAIAE 2,151,149 22,613,772
Total liabilities BfEQsE 1,334,565,591 430,492,967
CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED #EIEH#ZRA R A 7



ARE MR M

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-—f=HA=+—H

31 March 2021

SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 6. PEHREF®)

(c) Geographical information (c) HEER
The Group's operations are mainly located in REBZEBFEUREERS
Hong Kong and the PRC. o
An analysis of the Group's geographical AEBME Bz oTHINOT

segments is set out as follows:

2021
—EC-F
Hong Kong PRC Total
Ei L ]

Continuing Discontinued ~ Continuing Discontinued ~ Continuing Discontinued
operations  operations  operations  operations  operations  operations
5| BAL 5| BAL 5 | BAL
fexg  Mexk  HEx¥  £exy  £ERY SER
HKS HK$ HKS HK$ HKS HK$

¥-71 ¥-73 V-7 )-74 ¥-71 b7

Revenue Y - 59219 56158591 - 56158591 529279
Non-current assets other than financial FrRAE (MR ARETHE

instruments and deferred tax assets ) 1,141,759 - 291,208,684 - 292,350,443 -

2020
Hong Kong PRC Total
3 hE £g

Continuing  Discontinued ~ Continuing  Discontinued ~ Continuing ~ Discontinued

Operations  operations  operations  operations  operations  operations

8 B 5 BRI i BRIE

HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS

V- AT AT AT AT BT

(re-presented) (re-presented) (re-presented) (re-presented) (re-presented) (re-presented)

(#z7)  (#27) (#Z7)  (#E)  (#E) (425

fnote 1) fnote 1) fnote 1) fnote 1) fnote 1) fnote 1)

Wa1)  owEr)  (WED ) WED) O (B

Revenue Y& 626,589 — 05454859 12335610  66,081448 12,335,610
Non-current assets other than financial FRAE (MR ARETHE

instruments and deferred tax assets EERI) 1,500,741 20378 184,933 441 — 186,434,182 2378

Note: Revenue attributed to regions on the basis of Hiit S E (WS TR P B A

the customers’ locations. FOE o

il
ey
S
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REMB®RME

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—Z-—fF=R=+—H

31 March 2021

7. REVENUE 7. W&
Analysis of the Group's revenue for the year is as REBZARFEWZHSMTAT ¢
follows:
2021 2020
—E--F ZTCEE
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
(re-presented)
(mE5)
(note 1 & 6)
(Hizt1k6)
Continuing Operations: BEQEER .
Revenue from other sources H R R Uk 22
Gross rental income from property sub-leasing ¥ AT EKHMEHS WAL
business 40,978,989 65,454,859
Interest income from money lending business ME%#% 2 Fl 2 A = 626,589
Interest income from finance lease R ERENE 2 FEKA
receivables 15,179,602 —
56,158,591 66,081,448
Discontinued operations: BARIREET .
Revenue from contracts with customers RARFAHZ WS 529,279 12,335,610
56,687,870 78,417,058
Revenue from contracts with customers REEFEHZWE
Disaggregated revenue information for the BE_T-—FR-T-TF
year ended 31 March 2021 and 2020 ZA=Z+—ALFEZ
DB E R
Timing of revenue recognition TR 2
Goods transferred at a point in time NEMBER 2R 150,000 170,996
Services transferred overtime ARG PErs e 379,279 12,164,614

529,279 12,335,610

164 CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED #F EE@EEZERER A



ARE MR M

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-—f=HA=+—H

31 March 2021

8. OTHER GAINS OR LOSSES, NET 8. HMKWRIEE FH
2021 2020
—EBZ-F —E-TF
HK$ HK$
B BT
(re-presented)
(=E51)
(note 1 & 6)
(HiF1%6)
Continuing operations: FEEEEK
Bank interest income RITFIBUA 339,706 176,477
Income from financial guarantee issued REIBER WA AT )
(note (i) 850,197 585,271
Government grants relating to unconditional 75 B &2 8L~ TR # B
subsidies 519,084 67,460
Gain on disposal of right-of-use assets HEFREEE W 27,781,563 10,152,574
(Loss)/gain on disposal of property, plant and HEDE BENEXEZ
equipment, net (lB1B) W34 (102,676) 1,703
Gain on termination of lease contracts BIFHEEH 2 Wz 7,676,205 =
Gain on extinguishment of convertible bonds ~— FE#SAI TR ES 2 Uiz - 5,937,254
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMB ARz W 7,801,713 |
Provision for financial guarantee (note (ii)) BTSRRI (M5 (7)) (22,880,660)  (20,621,019)
Fair value loss on investment properties KEmEZNTEEBRE (55,993,773)  (24,254,795)
Others HAh 5,808,415 962,821
(28,200,226) (26,992,254)
Discontinued operations: ERIEEEXK
Bank interest income RITHBHA 627 6,465
Gain/(loss) on disposal of property, HEWE  BERREZ
plant and equipment, net Wi,/ (E18)F8E 85,704 (17,460)
Others Hil 231,281 (26,034)
317,612 (37,029)
(27,882,614) (27,029,283)
ANNUAL REPORT 2021 — &= — £ 4% 165
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RE PV BHRRMEE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B

A=+—H

31 March 2021

8. OTHER GAINS OR LOSSES, NET
(Continued)

Note:

(i)

(ii)

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED ) BERERAR

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the amount
represents income from financial guarantee
issued for an independent third party in which
to indemnify the bank any loss in case of any
default in repayment in respect of a loan facility
for the principal amount of up to RMB100,000,000
(equivalent to HK$109,445,000) drawn by that party
during the year ended 31 March 2020.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the amount
represents income from financial guarantees
issued for two independent third parties in which
to indemnify the banks any loss in case of any
default in repayment in respect of loan facilities
for the principal amount of up to RMB140,000,000
(equivalent to HK$165,645,000) drawn by those
parties during the year ended 31 March 2021.

m R R
(Nanjing Yinkun Investment

During the year ended 31 March 2021,
HMIREBEXARLQA
Corporation Co. Ltd.*) (the "Guarantor”), an indirect
non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company as
the guarantor, entered into guarantee agreements
(the “Guarantee Agreements”), pursuant to which
the Guarantor agreed to guarantee the repayment
obligations for two potential business partners of
the Guarantor in respect of the loan facilities for
the principal amount of up to RMB140,000,000. The
Group recognised a provision for loss allowance for
the financial guarantee contracts of HK$22,880,660
during the year. Upon the disposal of the
subsidiaries as disclosed in note 38, the relevant
provision has been de-recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2021.

Hftsm s\ - FHE )

Mzt

(i)

IE Alﬁiamﬁ*”_mmf B %%
W%zuﬁz)\ W ARBE=ZZ=%
FZRA=Z+—BHILEFEREELASHE
5% B AR 100,000,000 7T (HHZ 7%
109,445,000 L) 2 B @ E B £
fREH - BRERTZEMBX -

E-—F=ZA=+—HBLHF
MTJ\IE?Eﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ*M_E?ETA
ﬁmw%zum 1@55%%@775@@
EEAN%%EE%%?%/\EMMO,OOO,OOO
7T (48 & 7 165,645,000 7T ) 2 B &
MELBAMELN  BREERTZE
Bk -

W?ﬁf

B ARARzZBEIEZ2EWNBARE
IR EEEARAR(EEALD
EBERAFTILERBZ(ERS
B Bt BERARBAERAZ
MEBEEBBRHEREREE W
kA& BER% A/ ARE140,000,000
TZERBE - AEBRAFERY
BIERE YR E B % 22,880,660
FETT o BNk T 38 AT A Y B
NEfE - HEABEBER T =_—F=
A=+—BAKBEZHRAEFBHRRE
iézﬁ:ﬁg*?{o



9.

e MW R

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX EXPENSE 9

Loss before income tax expense is arrived at after

charging/(crediting):

—EB—f=-A=t+—H
31 March 2021

BRAT SRR ATE R

BAS BB X ATBEE MB (EA)
TRE :

2021 2020
—EB--F —E_EF
HK$ HK$
B BT
(re-presented)
(E51)
(note 1 & 6)
(Hiat1k6)
Continuing operations BEQEER
Amortisation on intangible assets B EEEH 97,403 116,884
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries” HERBARZ W (7,801,713) =
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, plant HEWE  BERREZEER/
and equipment, net” (Uzs)3a’ 102,676 (1,703)
Gain on disposal of right-of-use assets” HEFRBEEz BE" (27,781,563)  (10,152,574)
Impairment losses on finance lease e R AR E IR R EFEFE
receivables, net 806,497 281,393
Impairment losses on trade and other FEWCE TR B A FRIE 2 REE R
receivables, net FEE 1,730,259 867,485
Impairment loss on property, plant and ME - BB KRB FHEBE
equipment 469,119 20,486
Auditor’s remuneration REE & 1,550,000 1,400,000
Fair value loss on investment properties” REMEZ N FEEER 55,993,773 24,254,795
Gain on extinguishment of convertible bonds® FF#4A[ k&S 2 izs* - (5,937,254)
Provision for financial guarantee B TS IE(RBET 22,880,660 20,621,019
Discontinued operations DRIEREEK
(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, plant HEWE  BERREZ (KE),/
and equipment, net* EEFE" (85,704) 17,460
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HERBAR W (2,182,040) -
Impairment losses on trade and other FEWE TR E AL FIE 2 A
receivables, net bt 874,828 =
Impairment loss on property, plant and mE - BE KRB FHEBSE
equipment - 295,874

# The amount is included under the

“other gains

or losses, net” in the consolidated statement of

comprehensive income.

’ ZEEAAGEEEEARE T Hi

Wensk B8 - HEE] -

Hy
iy
B
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REMB®RME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—Z-—fF=R=+—H
31 March 2021

10. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group
completed disposal of the entire issued capital of a
number of subsidiaries. These subsidiaries carry out
businesses in exhibition-related business and food
and beverage business. Upon completion of the
disposal, the Group ceased the exhibition-related
business and food and beverage business.

The results from discontinued operations up to
the date of disposal are disclosed as follows. The
comparative figures on the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income have been re-presented
those operations that have been discontinued in the
current year as discontinued operations.

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED ) HEREBRAA

10. CRILEEER

BE_Z-_—F=A=+—HILFE"
AEEZKREELZHMBEAR Z2HE
BITRA - ZFMBRrETRENRR
EBRERER - REEFETHKE
AEECRIIRERBAEGRERE
& o

BELERN  DRUIEKEERZES
KENT - GEEHKRERZLEBET
EEJRERUELERY  UART%ZF
EBORNAFER LR -



e MW R

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

(a)

—F-—F=-A=t—H
31 March 2021

10. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 10. BERIEREXEK &)
Exhibition-related business (a) EEHEBEXK
The revenue and results of the exhibition- E-_Z-_ZTFWNA—AREE_F
related business for the period from 1 April ——F—AZ=Z+—H(HEH®H) It
2020 to 31 January 2021 (date of disposal) BREEEHE T -_TEF=_A=1+—
and for the year ended 31 March 2020 are as BIEFE  REMBEBS 2 BER
following: FEWT
For the
period from
1 April 2020
to
31 January
2021
(date of
disposal) 2020
BE-E-EH§
mA—A%
EE-—-F
—B=+-H
(HEREH)
el —TETF
HK$ HK$
B BT
Revenue (note 7) Wz (et 7) 529,279 12,335,610
Other gains or losses, net (note 8) Hib s Bia - T8 8) 317,612 (37,029)
Cost of inventories FEMRA (124,524) (260,900)
Depreciation on property, plant and mE  BEEXE2TE
equipment (1,239) (43,677)
Short term lease payments REEENTK (372,311) (582,824)
Staff costs (note 11) BIRARHF11) (1,133,108) (2,319,897
Other operating expenses (note 13) HAih &R (A5 13) (1,980,122)  (11,862,708)
Finance costs (note 14) BERKA Bzt 14) (21,437) (86,805)
Loss before income tax expense BrETSBF R EE (2,785,850)  (2,858,230)
Income tax expense (note 15) PSSR (M 15) - .
Loss for the period/year A,/ FEEE (2,785,850)  (2,858,230)
Gain on disposal of the discontinued HED RIS E 2 s
operation 2,070,187 —
Loss for the period/year from the REBK I HEE T 2 R
discontinued operation /S FEER (715,663)  (2,858,230)
Operating cash outflows BER M (1,368,844) (901,461)
Investing cash outflows RERES R (1,800) =
Financing cash outflows MEEES R (1,020,916) (1,302,998)
Total cash outflows Benites (2,391,560)  (2,204,459)
ANNUAL REPORT 2021 T_—F44
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RE PV BHRRMEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-—%=ZA=+—H
31 March 2021

10. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

(Continued)

(b) Food and beverage business

10. CRIEREER &)

(b)

The results of the food and beverage business
for the period from 1 April 2020 to 31 January

2021 (date of disposal) and for the year ended

31 March 2020 are as following:

BREHK

B-E-EFNA—ABE_T
——E—-A=Z+—B8(HEBH)IE
BEEBE_S-TF=A=+—
HILFE  BREGIEENT

For the

period from

1 April 2020

to

31 January

2021

(date of
disposal) 2020

BE-ZE-EF

mA—RHiE

EZB-—F

—HA=+—H

(HEBH)
L —ZT-TF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Other operating expenses (note 13) EmgEms (M2 13) (8,685) (84,974)
Loss before income tax expense BrFTIST A X AT E 18 (8,685) (84,974)
Income tax expense (note 15) FriSEimRZ (A5 15) — =
Loss for the period/year AER S FEEE (8,685) (84,974)

Gain on disposal of the discontinued  HEDKRIFELEK
operation g 111,853 —
Profit/(loss) for the period/year from REBKRIEEEER 2

the discontinued operation RNERFEER S (EE) 103,168 (84,974)
Operating cash inflows BERBMA - 20
Total cash inflows REmAMLRR — 20

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED
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11.

12.

e MW R

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—F-—F=-A=t—H
31 March 2021

STAFF COSTS 1. BIHEAK
Continuing operation Discontinued operation Total
BESSER BALREER h
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
“B--§ 2R ZB--f T ZB--F CZZCTE
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT AT BT BT BT BT
(re-presented) (re-presented)
(mE3) (EE5)
(note 1) (note 1)
(Hit1) (1)
Staff costs (including ~ EIRAK(AEEES)
Directors) Comprise: B
Salaries i 13,918,643 17,569,554 1,019576 2121358 14,938,219 19,690,912
Contribution to defined ~ REHFRAE E
contribution pension 2tk
plans 486,167 507,121 67,388 103,580 553,555 610,701
Other short-term HtR &R
monetary benefits 674,420 1,403,852 46,144 94,959 720,564 1,498,811
15,079,230 19,480,527 1,133,108 2,319,897 16,212,338 21,800,424
DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR 12. EEREREEEME
MANAGEMENT’'S EMOLUMENTS
Directors’ emoluments EEZmS
The aggregate amounts of the Directors’ EEMepBmOT
emoluments are as follows:
Salaries Retirement
and other scheme Benefits in
Fees benefits  contributions kind Total
4R B
e HitER HEE ENFE an
2021 HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
—E--% BT BT BT BT BT
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Chen Weiwu RERLE - 720,000 18,000 - 738,000
Mr. Zhou Houjie FRGEE - 240,000 24,834 - 264,834
Independent BUFHTES
Non-executive Directors
Mr. Chen Youchun BRRELE 180,000 - - - 180,000
Ms. Lui Mei Ka EXEaT 180,000 - - - 180,000
Mr. Zhou Xin (i) B (i) 180,000 - - - 180,000
540,000 960,000 42,834 - 1,542,834
ANNUAL REPORT 2021 T —FER
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RE PV BHRRMEE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-—%=ZA=+—H
31 March 2021

12. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR 12. EERENEEEME &)
MANAGEMENT’'S EMOLUMENTS
(Continued)
Directors’ emoluments (Continued) BEEMe(E)
Salaries Retirement
and other scheme Benefits in
Fees benefits contributions kind Total
ek BIK
e A7 HEEES ENFla ek
2020 HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
“ECEE BT BT BT AT AT
Executive Directors HTES
Mr. Chen Weiwu RERELE - 720,000 18,000 - 738,000
Mr. Zhou Houjie FBHLE — 240,000 24,316 — 264,316
Independent BUFHTES

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Chen Youchun BRELE 180,000 — — — 180,000
Mr. Chen Chein Kwong BREBREE ()

William (1) 126,290 — — — 126,290
Ms. Lui Mei Ka EE -3 G 180,000 — — — 180,000
Mr. Zhou Xin (i R 5% 4 i) 54,194 - - - 54,194

540,484 960,000 42,316 — 1,542,800

No Directors waived their emoluments in respect of

the year ended 31 March 2021 (2020: nil).

No discretionary bonuses were granted to the
Directors during the year ended 31 March 2021

(2020: nil).

Notes:

(i) The Director resigned on 13 December 2019.

(i) The Director was appointed on 13 December 2019.

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED # &

BEBEENEBE_T_-_—5=A
S+-RAUEFEZME(CE_TF:
&) -

RBE-_Z-_—F=A=+—HL*F
B YBEAEEREBBEAL(ZT =
TEE) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—F-—F=-A=t—H
31 March 2021

12. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR 12. EEREREEEME &)
MANAGEMENT’'S EMOLUMENTS
(Continued)
Five highest paid individuals IEREHMAL
Among the five individuals with the highest rEEREERFTMALTH  —&(=
emoluments in the Group, one (2020: one) was the TTF: —F)RARREET  HB
Director of the Company whose emoluments are SEHN EX -
included in the above.
The emoluments of the remaining four (2020: four) —E - FHEHNZR(ZE_ZTF O
highest paid individuals in 2021 are as follows: B)ER@FMALTZMENT -
2021 2020
—E-—-§F C—ZT-FTHF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Basic salaries, housing allowances, HAH& - BE=ZERL -
other allowances and benefits in kind H =R R EWFIzS 2,116,459 3,260,967
Retirement scheme contributions RIRETEIH R 55,500 75,741
2,171,959 3,336,708
The emoluments are within the following bands: EEL TEHEZA -
2021 2020
—B--F T -TF
Number of  Number of
Employees  Employees
ES#H ES&H
HK$nil to HK$1,000,000 =TT 2 1,000,0008 7T 4 4

No discretionary bonuses granted to the five
highest paid individuals during the year ended 31
March 2021 (2020: nil).

REE-_ZE-_—F=ZA=+—HLHF
B - UYEALEESTFMATEHTIE
BA(ZE-TF - M|) o

S

Hy
iy
B
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RE PV BHRRMEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-—%=ZA=+—H
31 March 2021

12. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’'S EMOLUMENTS
(Continued)

Remuneration of senior management

Remuneration of senior management of the
Group, including amounts paid to the highest paid

12. EENEREEEME »)

B R EEE M

AEESREEBFHM(BIE LXHAT
BENTEEUIIZESFMERZS

employees other than Director as disclosed above, B)EATEHEZA
are within the following bands:
2021 2020
—EB-—-§F C—ZT-FTHF
Number of  Number of
Employees  Employees
ES&8H ESZH
HK$nil to HK$1,000,000 THI02 1,000,000 87T 4 4
13. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES 13. HttR &M=
Continuing operation Discontinued operation Total
REREEY BRLBEER @
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
“8--% _T_T¥ CZBz-§ _ZT-TF ZB--F _T_%
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT AT BT BT BT AT
(re-presented) (re-presented)
(E=5) (5 E5)
(note 1) (note 1)
(Hit1) (1)
Property subleasing ~ MIESHERIKE
and investment E 15
business expenses 16,287,022 17,607,561 - — 16,287,022 17,607,561
Property development  MEEEEHHS
business expenses 7,962,282 — - — 7,962,282 —
Exhibition expenses BERY - - 221518 10,831,545 2271518 10,831,545
Legal and professional  FRREXER
fees 2,949,084 4,778,283 81,906 98,915 3,030,990 4,877,198
Travelling expenses ERAY 374,704 1,662,378 3,776 16,434 378,480 1,677,812
Auditor's remuneration % ERTH 1,550,000 1,400,000 - — 1,550,000 1,400,000
Others Hith 7,895,973 4,547,958 1,675,607 1,001,788 9,571,580 5,549,746
37,019,065 29,996,180 1,988,807 11,947,682 39,007,872 41,943,862

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED #HEEHZER AR A A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—FEZ—%=A1

=t+-8

31 March 2021

14. FINANCE COSTS 14. BLE KA
Continuing operation Discontinued operation Total
BESEEHK BRLEBEER @t
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
“8--f  CT-TF 8- CT-TF R CZECTR
HK$ HK$ HKS$ HK$ HK$ HK$
A V-7 B BT A V-7
(re-presented) (re-presented)
(& =31) (& =50)
(note 1 & 6) (note 1 & 6)
(fis#1%6) (Hi#1X%6)
Interest on hank BIEELFE
borrowings 15,600,258 3,708,957 - — 15,600,258 3,708,957
Interest on other EtEE e
borrowings 1,643,646 667,427 - — 1,643,646 667,427
Interest on convertible AR EH 2 F &
bonds (note 31(b)) (Hi31) 2,039,265 6,086,987 - — 2,039,265 6,086,987
Interest on lease RERFLFIE
liabilities 12,879,874 7,741,164 21,437 86,805 12,901,311 7,827,969
32,163,043 18,204,535 21,437 86,805 32,184,480 18,291,340
Less: Amount - BRTNEL
capitalized EXfLe®
in properties
under
development (12,720,566) — - —  (12,720,566) —
19,442,477 18,204,535 21,437 86,805 19,463,914 18,291,340
ANNUAL REPORT 2021 Z—Z=—F &
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RE PV BHRRMEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-—%=ZA=+—H
31 March 2021

15. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The amount of income tax expense in the

15. FTEFHAX

EGAZERBERAZAEHAX TR

consolidated statement of comprehensive income ¥ -
represents:
Continuing operation Discontinued operation Total
BESEEHE BRLBEER @t
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
“¥--f  -“T-%F  ZR--f —ETCTF ZR--F CBOFF
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
AT AT BT BT AT BT
(re-presented) (re-presented)
(ms5)) (B =35))
(note 1 & 6) (note 1 & 6)
(Bt 1k6) (Bt 1k6)
Current tax for the year RNEE B
— Hong Kong profit — BANEH
tax - = - = - =
— PRC Enterprise — PRI ERGH
Income tax (1,159,720) (116,454) - — (1,159,720) (116,454)
Deferred tax (note 33)  EEHIB(H/i£33) - (587,593) - — - (587,593)

(1,159,720) (704,047)

(1,159,720) (704,047)

The PRC subsidiaries are subject to PRC Enterprise
Income Tax at 25% (2020: 25%).

Overseas tax is calculated at the rate applicable in
the respective jurisdictions.

For the year ended 31 March 2021 and 2020, no
Hong Kong profits tax have been provided within
the Group as there is no estimated assessable
profits for the year.

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED #HEEHZER AR A A

B B AR ZBIL25% (Z T T F ¢
25% ) 2 TR RGN B EFTEH -

BINRIR R AR RDER R 2 BA B KT

st
= o
Ean

BHE-_ZT-_—FR-_FT-_FTFZ=A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-—f=HA=+—H

31 March 2021

15. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 15. FTEFHEX®)
The income tax expense for the year can be AEEMERASTHAGE2EKERF
reconciled to the loss before income tax expense MRATEHAAISBE CSEROT ¢

per the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income as follows:

2021 2020
—E--F —E-FF
HK$ HK$
B BT
(re-presented)
(&e=5)
(note 1 & 6)
(HF1k6)
Loss before income tax expense BT A AIE R
Continuing operations BECEER (45,858,405)  (30,016,148)
Discontinued operations DRI EET (612,495) (2,943,204)
Loss before income tax expense BRETEHIFZ AIEE (46,470,900)  (32,959,352)
Tax calculated at applicable Hong Kong profits i&i@ A& B RIEHE=HE
tax rates ZHBiIE 7,667,699 5,438,293
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries REMAZEBERLE ZHB
operating in other jurisdictions NAPMENRZ R (3,948,341) (661,777)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses TAAMBHAZ cRBEE (8,696,719) (6,128,204)
Tax effect of non-taxable revenue BARK G RETE 7,497,851 3,650,660
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AERTEBE BB E (3,680,210) (2,903,019)
Income tax expense FEfRAY (1,159,720) (704,047)
ANNUAL REPORT 2021 —Z = — &£ 177
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RE PV BHRRMEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-—%=ZA=+—H
31 March 2021

16. DIVIDENDS

No dividend was paid or proposed in respect of the
year ended 31 March 2021, nor has any dividend
been proposed since the end of reporting period
(2020: nil).

16. RS

BE_Z_—F=A=+—HIFEY
EIRNREZBRTEE - BREHRE
NEEZZRNEARE(ZE_TF:
;) o

17. LOSS PER SHARE 17. BREE
The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per KATHEEAENE 2 BRERREEE
share attributable to owners of the Company is BIRELNTSESE -
based on the following data:
2021 2020
—E--F —ZE-F
HK$ HK$
B BT
(re-presented)
(BE75)
(note 1 & 6)
(Bt 1X%6)
Loss for the purpose of basic and REFESREARBEESE
diluted loss per share ZE#B
Loss for the year attributable to owners of the ~ AQAFHEE AEEAREZEE
Company
— from continuing operations — REFBELEER (12,734,990)  (34,365,673)
— from discontinued operations — REERIEREER (612,495) (2,943,204)
— from continuing and discontinued operations ~— REFELL RDRIFEE
S (13,347,485) (37,308,877)
Number of shares RIPEE
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for et EGRERREE R,
the purpose of basic and diluted loss per share  E@NEFHE 2,001,937,781 1,077,778,570

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED

For the year ended 31 March 2021 and 2020, basic
loss per share is the same as diluted loss per share.
There are no dilutive effects on the share options
granted and convertible bonds, as they are anti-
dilutive.

REEEERARA

BE_ZT-_—FEK_FT=FF=H
Z+—HIEFE SREABEESRK
BEEEAER - ARERE 2 RRER
AMmBEFAREE HBESREY
@,
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
- —§=ZR=+—H

31 March 2021

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18. ¥ - MERRKR®E

Furniture,
Right-of-use Leasehold fixtures and Motor
assets  improvements equipment vehicles Total
&E-
ERESE HENERE RERRE RE am
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT BT
Cost or valuation RAGfE
At 1 April 2019 RZZ-NFNA—A 4,156,107 213,118 1,610,933 2,040,525 8,020,683
Additions hE 52,072,000 o 1,163,216 — 53,225,216
Disposal & (52,072,000 (29,100) (32,395) — (52,133,495)
Exchange realignment R AR — — (338,492) (110,577) (449,069)
At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 RZZZZF=A=+—-HK
ZZZTFNA-H 4,156,107 184,018 2,393,262 1,929,948 8,663,335
Additions hE 212,024,010 6,445,221 411,260 — 218,880,491
Lease modification HEEK 592,571 = = = 592,571
Disposal HE (214,963,948) (180,818) (27,837) (256,691) (215,429,294)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 38) HEMBAR(HZ3S) (1,012,949) (3,200) (2,682,320) (667,068) (4,365,537)
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 32)  WEEMIB AR (Ai£32) 340,724 = 683,617 _ 1,024,341
Exchange realignment ERAR 27,518 211,819 562,772 147,511 949,620
At 31 March 2021 R-Z=--5=A=+-H 1,164,033 6,657,040 1,340,754 1,153,700 10,315,527
Accumulated depreciation and ZRAERAE
impairment
At 1 April 2019 RZT-NFRA—A 4,156,107 46,540 665,719 400,213 5,268,579
Charge for the year AEETH = 37,618 647,150 496,137 1,180,905
Eliminated on disposal HERHE — (11,640) (34,098) — (45,738)
Impairment loss for the year AFEREFE — 111,500 204,860 = 316,360
Exchange realignment Rk — — (234,530) (104,344) (338,874)
At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 A\ZEZZF=A=1t-HE
ZZ-TFWNA—H 4,156,107 184,018 1,249,101 792,006 6,381,232
Charge for the year AEEZH 424,964 937,487 661,432 434,375 2,458,258
Eliminated on disposal HEBHH (3,735,729) (180,818) (26,250) (154,015) (4,096,812)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 38) HERBAR(HZIS) (1,012,949) (3,200) (1,858,508) (536,473) (3,411,130)
Impairment loss for the year AEERERE 469,119 = = = 469,119
Exchange realignment ER AR 5,650 30,810 425,297 139,211 600,868
At 31 March 2021 R-Z--%=A=1+-H 307,062 968,297 451,072 675,104 2,401,535
Net book value REFE
At 31 March 2021 R-Z--¥=A=1+-H 856,971 5,688,743 889,682 478,596 7,913,992
At 31 March 2020 RZZZZTFE=[=+—H e o 1,144,161 1,137,942 2,282,103
ANNUAL REPORT 2021 ZZT = —FF
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REMB®RME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—Z-—fF=R=+—H
31 March 2021

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

18. 1% - BERRXE#)

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED B BERERAR

(Continued)
Office
premises
leased for
own use
BAHEE
EE N3
HK$
T
Right-of-use assets FREEE
At 1 April 2019 BA_T NFEM™MA—H —
Additions NE 52,072,000
Disposal 'dj’% (52,072,000)
Carrying amounts as at 31 March 2020 and RZBZZF=A=1T—AK
1 April 2020 —E_TFNMA-HBZEREE —
Additions NE 212,024,010
Impairment loss for the year RNEEREEE (469,119)
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 32) BB R R (et 32) 340,724
Charge for the year REFFTH (424,964)
Lease modification HEBN 592,571
Disposal HE (211,228,219)
Exchange realignment PE H SRR 21,968
Carrying amounts as at 31 March 2021 R-ZE-—F=A=+—RZEAE 856,971
At 31 March 2021 and 2020, the Group did not R-B_—FR-_F_FF=A=+—

pledge any property, plant and equipment.

As at 31 March 2020, property, plant and equipment
with the aggregate net carrying amount of
HK$1,409,008 is attributable to the cash generating
unit of the exhibition-related business (“Exhibition-
related business CGU"), food and beverage
("Food and Beverage CGU"”) and money-lending
business (“Money-lending business CGU").
The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment is determined by the fair value less cost
of disposal of the individual items. As a result, an
aggregate impairment loss of HK$316,360 has been
recognised for the year ended 31 March 2020.

B AEBIREFEANE - BER
i -

RZEZZTF=RA=+—H " KEFE
HFE1,409,008 BT 2 M - KB RF
HREENESEEXS((REMEBEER
ReEEEN])  ER([ERREELE
B EREXSE((REEXEEREEL
BUDREEXBN - WE BER
B zARESEIHATFEBERLE
ERIEE 27 » B - REBIERARE
316,360 B TLEREE_E_FF=H
=+ —BIEFEARER -
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19.

e U B ®RRME

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2021, property,
plant and equipment with net carrying amount
of HK$469,119 is attributable to the Food and
Beverage CGU and Exhibition-related business
CGU. The recoverable amount of the property, plant
and equipment is determined by the fair value less
cost of disposal of the individual items. As a result,
an aggregate impairment of HK$469,119 has been
recognised for the year.

The recoverable amount was based on the fair
value less costs of disposal of the property, plant
and equipment estimated by reference to recent
market transactions in similar assets adjusted
for differences on age, condition and functional
obsolescence. The fair value less costs of disposal
is classified as a level 3 measurement.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, HK$181,021
depreciation of property, plant and equipment was
capitalised as properties under development.

—E-—%=-A=t+—H
31 March 2021

18. 1% - BERRXE#)

BE_Z-_—F=ZA=+—HILHFE "
BREFEB469,119BLZME - BE
BEREERBRSCELBNNREER
BEEBECELSBMN - WE  BEIRK
BrzAkEeBERENEE 2 AFE
BEREEXAEBE - At BELRE
469,119 B TTE RN ARFEHER °

AREeELI2ERUEEZIHRD
BRS(RERE  RERIEERE
ZEREHRAB)BEAFEERLEY
X BEERBZRAME - AFEE
HMHEXAESBERE=RFTE -

BHE_Z-_—F=A=+—HIEH5E "
Y% BEREHBZITE 181,021 8T
BENMeAEERYE -

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 19. BEWE
2021 2020
—E-—fF —ERTF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
At 1 April KU A—H 183,544,593 216,561,971
Additions RE 282,698,882 3,949,274
Change in fair value NEEEE (55,993,773) (24,254,795)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEH B AR (132,283,765) -
Termination of contracts BIERH (15,193,199) =
Exchange realignment b 3 S 21,663,713  (12,711,857)
At 31 March R=RA=+—H 284,436,451 183,544,593
ANNUAL REPORT 2021 T - —FFR
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RE PV BHRRMEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-—%=ZA=+—H
31 March 2021

19. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Investment properties were revalued at 31 March
2021 and 2020 on market value basis by APAC
Appraisal and Consulting Limited (“APAC"), an
independent valuer, has appropriated qualification

and relevant experience in the location and category

of the investment property being valued.

The fair value of investment properties is a level 3

recurring fair value measurement. A reconciliation

of the opening and closing fair value balance is

provided below:

19. BEWE (&)

N_E-——FER-_TE-_FEF=fF=+—
B REMEZATFEEERTARBE
MEBBERAR(READEMSEEE
HEM - EAMBEGHENERILHTE
BEREMEZMNERBENEESHBLER
Z B & ERD o

BENEZ AFEERF=-AEELR
FEEE FORFRIVFEESEH
ZEERIS

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED

2021 2020
—B--F _T_ITF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Opening balance (level 3 recurring fair FOES(FE=REFEQF
value) EE) 183,544,593 216,561,971
Additions NE 282,698,882 3,949,274
Net deficit on revaluation of investment BMREMEZBAFE
properties charged to profit or loss (FTAE#) (55,993,773) (24,254,795)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 38) HEM B AR (47 38) (132,283,765) -
Termination of contracts BIEAH (15,193,199) —
Exchange realignment PE 5 21,663,713  (12,711,857)
Closing balance (level 3 recurring fair value) FRAB(E=BEEH QT
BE) 284,436,451 183,544,593
Change in unrealised losses for the year R=ZA=ZT—HAEBEERA
included in profit or loss for assets held BRFAREHREBE
at 31 March b (55,993,773)  (24,254,795)

BRERA
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e U B ®RRME

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Fair value is determined by applying the income
approach, using the discounted cash flow
method, based on the estimated rental value of
the properties. The valuation takes account of
occupancy rates and rental growth rates of the
properties. The discount rates have been adjusted
for the condition and location of the buildings.

Significant unobservable

inputs Range
Discount rate 6% — 9%
(2020: 6% — 9%)

Growth rate 2% — 3%
(2020: 3%)

Occupancy rates 88%
(2020: 97 %)

Market yield 4% — 6%

(2020: 3% — 6%)

The higher the discount rate and market vyield, the
lower the fair value. The higher the rental growth
rate, and occupancy rates, the higher the fair value.

The fair value measurement is based on the above
properties’ highest and best use, which does not
differ from their actual use.

During the year ended 31 March 2021 and 2020,
there were no transfers into or out of Level 3 or
any other level. The Group's policy is to recognise
transfers between Levels of the fair value hierarchy
as at the end of the reporting period in which they
occur.

For the year ended 31 March 2020, investment
properties with carrying amounts of
HK$118,651,000 has pledged to secure the bank
and other borrowings granted to the Group (Note
30). No investment properties has pledged to
secure the bank and other borrowings granted to
the Group as at 31 March 2021.

—E-—%=-A=t+—H
31 March 2021

19. BEWXE &)

RFEBEDREBEEEMEZAHHER
EERMBRREREL  BRABRALE
Eo ARBEFREBMEZIAEERR
MeERXR - BPRECOHEEEEZMN
ARLLE T -

BART
BE2Y &iE
BhIR & 6% = 9%
(ZE=ZZF : 6% £E9%)
BRE 2% Z£3%
== = _ = E 30/0)
NGRS 88%
ZEFF 1 97%)
MHZES R 4% £ 6%

(CE-_ZTF :3%E6%)

BAXREMBSERXRAS  AVEER
K- HeBRRRATRAS  AFE

ER

Eﬂl

NP EEFEDNRE LAME 2 &ZER
BRRg  HREERAGESR -

BE_T_—HRk-_F_ZFF=A
:+—E¢¢E'ﬁﬁLAﬁLﬁ%_
AHEMEMER - NREBEZHRB/N
BERNTVEESFRER 2 REHRER
BRER -

HE_Z-TF=-"HA=1T—RH1LFE"
%Eﬁﬁﬂ&%mmmaxz&QW%
ERERUBERETAEE CRITRE
tEE(HE30)  RZZTE=Z—F=A
=+—H BIEREmECBERAE
RETAEE ZRITREMEE -

H

e
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RE PV BHRRMEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-—%=ZA=+—H
31 March 2021

20. GOODWILL AND IMPAIRMENT

20.

BERRE
Property
sub-leasing
business Total
MESRES ok
HK$ HK$
BT BT

Cost
At 1 April 2019
Exchange realignment

A
RZE—NFMA—H
A%

16,793,637 16,793,637
(12,355) (12,355)

As 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 R-E-ZFE=A=1+—8HK

—E-TENA—H 16,781,282 16,781,282
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 38) HEMBAR(ME38) (16,591,728) (16,591,728)
Exchange realignment fE R 15,367 15,367
At 31 March 2021 RZE-—%=ZA=+—H 204,921 204,921
Impairment R
At 1 April 2019, 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 R-E-NENA—A "

—E-EF=ZA=+-HR

ZT-TFMA-H 16,691,728 16,591,728
Impairment loss EEE 198,401 198,401
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 38) HERB AR (H238) (16,591,728) (16,591,728)
Exchange realignment ERTIEE 6,520 6,520
At 31 March 2021 RZZE-—%=ZRA=+—H 204,921 204,921
Carrying amount RHEA
At 31 March 2021 RZE-—%=ZA=+—H = =
At 31 March 2020 R-ZE-_ZTF=A=+—H 189,554 189,554

In accordance with HKAS 36 “Impairment of

Assets”, management of the Group performed

impairment test for goodwill allocated to the

Group's various cash-generating units (“CGUs")

by comparing their recoverable amounts to their

carrying amounts at the end of the reporting period.

The recoverable amount of a CGU is determined

based on value-in-use calculation.

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED

2 2
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e U B ®RRME

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

20. GOODWILL AND IMPAIRMENT
(Continued)

(a)

During the year ended 31 March 2015, the
goodwill of BoRen CGU of HK$16,591,728
was fully impaired, it was mainly due to
keen competition in property market and
adverse economic environment in the PRC,
and significant investments in renovation of
leasehold improvements for sustaining the
growth in future. The BoRen CGU has been
disposed during the year.

Shenzhen Qianhai Zhong Run Hong Da
Management Company Limited G 3Il BT &
FEHRECHXEEBRAAE)("Zhong Run”),
which is engaged in sub-leasing of properties
in Shenzhen, the PRC, and a goodwill of
HK$201,909 was recognised upon acquisition
of Zhong Run during the year ended 31 March
2019.

The recoverable amount of this Zhong Run
CGU is determined based on a value-in-use
calculation which uses cash flow projections
based on financial budgets approved by the
directors covering a five-year period, followed
by an extrapolation of expected cash flow
at the zero (2020: 2%) growth rates and a
discount rate of 14% (2020: 14%) per annum.
The discount rate used is pre-tax and reflect
specific risks relating to the CGU.

Zhong Run incurred loss for the year ended
31 March 2021 and the revenue growth
are not achieved after termination of the
lease contract. The directors considered the
recoverable amount of the Zhong Run CGU
as at 31 March 2021 would be nil. During the
year ended 31 March 2021, the goodwill of
HK$198,401 was fully impaired.

All the discount rates used above are pre-tax

and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant

segments.

—E-—%=-A=t+—H
31 March 2021

20. BERBE®E)

(a)

REBEE_Z—RAF=ZA=+—8H1
FE - BCLCHESELABMCHE
16,591,728 B L E 2 UM ME « It
ThEZHRFEYE IS F R
RAFISOEIRR - UERRBEME
EEERERRENERRRIER
Figh - BCHRESEAEMERAF
EHE -

REE=ZTE-hEF=A=+—HIL
FE - AEBEETRKERINAENE
PHERECEEEBEARAR(H
M) RRBERYIEEMESHZ
S EPAR AR - M2 201,909 7%
TR S R RER -

It EIR S E A B 2 AT Bl £ 5
DRFERBENELIET BH
HEERESHARFMEEE Y
RensBAER  EEERZE(=
ToEF 2%)2EREREF
14% (ZZ2ZFF : 14%) 2B
EETFTERRSRE - KA 28R
RTHBFA  WRMEBARESESE
B2 FERRE

HERNERE-_E_—F=fA=+—
AIEtFEELERE  ARKRIERE
ERBETEERIRGER  EER
B PEREELSENR T ——
FZA=t+—HBzuUKEeE /R
ToHET-_—F=A=+—AH
IEEFE - 198,401 BILE B
A o

A EFRB 2z 2RI /A - LR
RSB EERER -

H

e
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RE PV BHRRMEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-—%=ZA=+—H
31 March 2021

21. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 21. BEEE
Customer
relationship
Golf club  and customer
memberships contracts Total
SRR
e EEBARR
28 EEAH BE
(note (a)) {note (b))
(Mt (@) (He (o)
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
Cost A
At 1 April 2019, 31 March 2020, RZZE-NEMA—A -
1 April 2020 —“E-FFZA=+-H"
“T-ZFMA-H 1,500,000 38,410,000 39,910,000
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 38)  HEK B A(A/238) (1,500,000) (38,410,000) (39,910,000)
At 31 March 2021 RZEZ—F=A=1+—H — — —
Accumulated amortisation ZBEBERAEE
and impairment
At 1 April 2019 RZE—-NEFMA—H 944,806 38,410,000 39,354,806
Amortisation for the year AEEEH 116,884 — 116,884
At 31 March 2020 and R-ZBE-ZF=A=+-HR
1 April 2020 “T-ZFMA—AH 1,061,690 38,410,000 39,471,690
Amortisation for the year REZHHE 97,403 = 97,403
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 38)  HEMBRT(H:F38) (1,159,093) (38,410,000) (39,569,093)
At 31 March 2021 R-B--¥=A=1+-H - - -
Net book value IREFE
At 31 March 2021 R-BE--%=A=1- - - -
At 31 March 2020 R-E-TF=A=+—H 438,310 — 438,310

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED

FEEBAZERARA



e U B ®RRME

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

21. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

(a)

For the purpose of impairment testing on
the golf club memberships, the recoverable
amount has been determined based on fair
value less costs of disposal. The fair value
less costs of disposal is referenced to the
second-hand market price of the golf club
memberships less estimated costs of disposal.
During the years ended 31 March 2021 and
2020, no impairment loss was recognised
since the recoverable amount of the golf club
memberships exceeded its carrying amount.

The carrying amount of customer relationship
and customer contracts are fully impaired
in prior year as the Directors consider the
clients of China Resources Advertising &
Exhibition Company Limited (together with its
subsidiaries, the “CRA Group”) are primarily
the PRC based textile manufacturers which
are recently facing the industry downturn,
and in addition, the drop in the client base of
the CRA Group due to the exhibitions held in
the PRC attract a significant number of the
existing clients of the CRA Group. The CRA
Group has been disposed during the year.

(a)

—E-—%=-A=t+—H
31 March 2021

21. BEEE#)

R RIRAL IS E ZRERR
ms JHESEERAFEERE
BHEXAEE - A FEBERLE
AT 2 EZESRRIKELBEE Y
:?ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ o

BT - KT -_FTF=H
=+—BIEFE aRalkKE
sEesm B ERNERE
B WA ERRREESE -

EFBARREFPANZERERR
EZFEBHRE HTHREER
B PEEEREBRARGER
HiffE ARG FEEEREE])
ZEFPXERAFBRESEM 2K
KBER - HIHmEHITRER
SN - AT B 2 RE R S
TEESEBAERATR - ®F
BESEEZEPERRD - 7H
BEEREERNAFELE -

H

e
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RE PV BHRRMEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-—%=ZA=+—H
31 March 2021

22. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES

22. EWmEHEERE

2021 2020
—E-—-F ZEEF
HK$ HK$
BT BT

Gross finance lease receivables
Less: unearned finance income

R EHE KRB
B ARBREZ BB W as

552,189,619 100,642,975
(249,544,027) (40,522,810)

Net finance lease receivables
Less: loss allowance

R EHERRFEER
R R BHE

302,645,592 60,120,165
(1,087,890) (281,393)

Finance lease receivables

MR ETHE TR

301,557,702 59,838,772

The finance lease receivables are arising from the
property sub-leasing business. For finance lease
receivables, the customers are obligated to settle

the amounts according to the terms set out in the

relevant lease contracts.

The finance lease receivables are further analysed

as followings:

7 o

Y m B A

FEUMEHERBEELBEMEIEE
ENBMEHEREANS  EFA
EBRBABEESOAENIGERES

ERAZE—TONAT

2021
—E-—-F
Minimum
lease Present
payment value
REHENH R{E
HKS$ HKS$
BT BT

Not later than one year

Later than one year but not later than

five years
More than five years

TER—F
BBE—FETERNDF

HBRE

54,445,005 26,161,513

174,661,610 64,434,929
323,083,004 212,049,150

552,189,619 302,645,592

Less: unearned finance income

R - ARRERZ BE WA

(249,544,027) -

Present value of minimum lease payments

REHEMKZRE

302,645,592 302,645,592

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED

2 2



22. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES

e B 7S 3R R M A
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-—%F=ZA=+—H

31 March 2021

22. EWmEHEERE®)

(Continued)
2020
—ETEF
Minimum
lease Present
payment value
RIEAENK HRAE
HK$ HKS$
BT BT
Not later than one year TER—F 9,643,846 3,146,305
Later than one year but not later than BE—FETNERRE
five years 37,253,659 15,483,257
More than five years BEAF 53,745,570 41,490,603
100,642,975 60,120,165
Less: unearned finance income S RBRERZ BB WA (40,522,810) —
Present value of minimum lease HEBRENRZRE
payments 60,120,165 60,120,165

The below table reconciles the loss
finance lease receivables for the year:

allowance of

HERFIIN TR

AR EREREANAFE ZBRERE

2021 2020

—E-—-F C—ZT-FH

HKS$ HK$

B BT

At beginning of year REH (281,393) =
Impairment loss recognised ERRZBEERE (806,497) (281,393)
At end of year RER (1,087,890) (281,393)
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CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED ) BERERAR

REMB®RME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—Z-—fF=R=+—H
31 March 2021

22. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES

(Continued)

The Group recognised impairment loss based on
the Group’s accounting policy in note 4(h)(ii).

The ECLs of finance lease receivables are based
on the 12-months ECLs that results from default
events that are possible within 12 months after
the reporting date. However, when there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since its initial
recognition, the loss allowance will be based on
life-time ECLs. When determining whether the
credit risk has been increased significantly since its
initial recognition, the Group considers reasonable
and supportable information that is relevant and
available without undue cost or effort, including
both quantitative and qualitative information
and analysis based on the Group's historical
experience and informed credit assessment with
forward-looking information. The loss allowance
recognised above are related to debtors that are
slow in settlement and management assessed that
none of the balance is expected to be recovered.
According to the ECL calculation performed by the
management, loss allowance of HK$806,497 (2020:
HK$281,393) was recognised during the year.

. EWmERERE#)

AREBERMT AN P REAEEZS
AT ERERERBERE

ERmERERIB BHREEEE IR
NEABHEESEFE  HREA
BEEREEHMBI2MARNBEEZED
B o R BYVBERAREERR
ARG NG - BEBEBAZEHESRE
EEBREE -EEBETEERBRE VIS
HREREARBEN  AEEEEEME
BN EAMNTBZEARE HRNA &R
ZEBERAEER  BERBEASEAB
FEBERENEETHELEZEERTE
HER RSN WEIEAEEER - £
MEBREBEBEIREERIEZED
A MEBETEBRELHRBRT TR
B REREREBETCEHEEESR
T8 - EER#ES06,497 B (=2 =T
% : 281,393 70) ERFNHER °



252

e MW R

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—FE—4%=H=+—H
31 March 2021

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT 23. BEHYE
2021 2020
—E-—f —ZT-FF
HK$ HK$
BT T
Properties under development expected  JBEAEAK I 2142
to be completed and delivered: BRPYE
— Within one operating cycle included — R—EZEREBAHA
under current assets MEVEERT 770,392,961 =
Amounts comprises: TREEE
— Land cost — AR 623,767,422 —
— Construction cost — BEERA 133,479,681 =
— Borrowing costs capitalised — BRI 2 BEERA 13,145,858 —
770,392,961 —

One operating cycle of the Group’s property
development generally ranges from one to two
years.

The capitalisation rate used to determine the
amount of interest on general borrowings incurred
eligible for capitalisation for the year ended 31
March 2021 was 7.24% per annum.

The properties under development are all located in

AEBEYEHRRER 2 —BLERY—
BN F—ERE -

BHE-Z-—F=RA=1T—HLFE
AREENEERNMEGEZ —RIEE
ELEZNESRIENMCFMNER
7.24% o

BRPMEDURTE -

the PRC.

2021 2020
B —ET-FTF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Properties under development: BERPYE
— Expected to be completed and — FRERE R 12 8 A 1&
available for sale after more than ER M A EHE
12 months - —
— Expected to be completed and — FEHRAS R 1218 B IRTERK K
available for sale within 12 months A EHE 770,392,961 —
770,392,961 —
ANNUAL REPORT 2021 —ZE=—4###
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REMB®RWE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-—%=ZA=+—H
31 March 2021

24. INVENTORIES 24. &
2021 2020
—E-—f —ET-FTF
HK$ HK$
BT o
Food and beverages B - 501,923
Artwork AT - 9,293,332
— 9,795,255
For the year ended 31 March 2021 and 2020, no HE-_ZT-_— k=T =-_FTF=H
write-down of inventories to net realisable value Z+—HULEFE BEGEMRETE
was made. IRHE -
25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 25. BEIRE R R EMFRIE
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-FTF
HKS$ HK$
Er BT
Trade receivables (note (a)) W E R (K7 (a) 1,024,059 5,161,515
Deposits (note (b)) B& (M (b)) 15,211,271 3,160,462
Prepayments and other receivables TEAT 3T I H b B R TR
(note (b)) (Wit (b)) 321,397,445 141,168,974
337,632,775 149,490,951
Notes: s

(a)  The ageing analysis of trade receivables based on

invoice date after impairment loss at the end of the

reporting period is as follows:

(a) MIMEHR  BURERRIOERBEE
BREPEZBHMGHZRRATNT

2021 2020

—E-—F —E-TF

HK$ HK$

BT BT

Within 90 days 90HWA 1,024,059 5,161 579

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED

PEERERERA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(a)

(Continued)

The below table reconciles the loss allowance of
trade receivables for the year:

—F-—F=-A=t—H
31 March 2021

25. RREFRREMRE &)

Hit - (&)

(#&)

EUREFRAFREZBRBEEHER
SR T -

2021 2020

—E-—F —ETF

HK$ HK$

BT BT

At beginning of year REA] 7,529,908 7,035,727
Impairment loss recognised BERBERSE 163,100 494,181
Release upon disposal of subsidiaries A E B A BlE fRRR (7,693,008) —
At end of year RER - 7,529,908

The Group generally grants no credit period to its
customers, except for transactions with customers
in exhibition-related business, in which credit period
ranging from 30 to 60 days is granted.

As mentioned in accounting policy in note 4(h)
(ii), the Group has measured the loss allowance
of trade receivables by using simplified approach
by assuming all of the customers shared a similar
credit risk characteristic under the life-time ECLs
calculation. Provision matrix is used to measure the
expected credit loss of trade receivables. The default
rates are based on the past due days by grouping
of customers in various segments with similar loss
patterns. The calculation reflects the probability-
weighted outcome, the time value of money and
reasonable and supportable information that is
available about past events, current conditions and
forecasts of future economic conditions. Generally,
trade receivables are written off in full if past
due more than 180 days and are not subject to
enforcement activity. Provision of expected credit
losses for trade receivables of HK$163,1700 (2020:
HK$494,181) was recognised during the year.

AEE-—RIEMERFELEE
B ARERBEEB IR ETZ
X% BIERTREBNFI0HE60H
ZIEEH -

40 BT R A(h) (i) Z & 5 R SR BT
REBRBELEAAERRERZE
BREEG EPBEILMEEFREH
BHEEEBESEE T ZEERRE
MEL - REBIRARBERIT2E
WERZTEHEERB - BOXHE
RABEUEBEBEAZZESBEF
BRIz @B EETE - ZtEREK
REMEHER EEBEWEERLA S
ZHEBBEEE - BMRRARRE
BERRBRZEEBRAIEER - — &
mE - MERSEFSHBBISE
BAZHITITERR - AT AREM
HeMERERFRZBEHEES
BEE163,1008 T(Z T T F:
494,181 L) ERFARMER ©
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REMB®RME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—Z-—fF=R=+—H
31 March 2021

25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 25. EWERKRHEMARIEZ)

(Continued)

Notes: (Continued) Biat - (&)

(b)  The balance mainly represented prepayments to (b) #HEFTEEAPEFENZALSE
contractors and refundable deposits for various EBEXBEREBR ZUEELRS
potential business development projects.

The below table reconciles the loss allowance of e kEMERRBEREAFE ZEBE
deposits and other receivables for the year: BEYREIINTE

2021 2020

B —F —E-THF

HK$ HK$

BT BT

At beginning of year REA] (718,169) (278,935)

Impairment loss recognised BERAERSE (2,441,987) (439,234)

Release upon disposal of subsidiaries A E B A BlE AR RR 3,178,204 —

Exchange realignment W AR (43,095) —

At end of year RER (25,047) (718,169)

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED

The Group recognised impairment loss based on the
Group's accounting policy in note 4(h)(ii).

The ECLs of deposits and other receivables are
based on the 12-months ECLs that results from
default events that are possible within 12 months
after the reporting date. However, when there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since its
initial recognition, the loss allowance will be based
on life-time ECLs. When determining whether the
credit risk has been increased significantly since its
initial recognition, the Group considers reasonable
and supportable information that is relevant and
available without undue cost or effort, including both
quantitative and qualitative information and analysis
based on the Group’s historical experience and
informed credit assessment with forward-looking
information. The loss allowance recognised above
are related to debtors that are slow in settlement
and management assessed that none of the balance
is expected to be recovered. According to the ECL
calculation performed by the management, loss
allowance of HK$2,441,987 (2020: HK$439,234) was
recognised during the year.

FEEEERARA A

R BRE M E 4 () 2 AR B &5
R ERRERE -

ReREMERFEBEZBHEERBE
BZ12EABHEEBEFE - HR
BRI ERE BB I12EANEEZ
BHEM - Rl BORERURE
BRER KRG ME - BIEREGNE
HEHEEEEAREE - EEBTEREE
Ebe B VIRERERS K@M &K
SEeERAEREAMNDBEZRA
ABNBIAERSZEERAZER
PRERBASEEBRALHREENEE
FHEBHZEEREMHER RSN -
TEREMEEER - FlBEEREE
BESREEREBZEBA MER
B A ELHRBEA FIRE - RIT
EEEMETZEHEEEETE
BB B E2441,987B T(ZE -
F 439,234 BT ERFRER ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

26. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO A DIRECTOR,
NON-CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS
OF SUBSIDIARIES AND RELATED
PARTIES

At 31 March 2021 and 2020, all of the amounts due
from/to a director, non-controlling shareholders of
subsidiaries and related parties were unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

27.

The maximum outstanding balance of amount due

from

a director during the year was HK$77,800

(2020: Nil).

CASH AND BANK BALANCES

—E-—%=-A=t+—H
31 March 2021

26. Bl BN —FEE - WEDQ
A ZFERBRRREBEALR

15

AA —
N
-

H

T FR-ZEFEF=ZA=+—
FrEREK BN—Z28E  HEBEA

A FEIR R M B E A R IR Y B
H - 2B RBREREE -

FARK —E2EEFHRZIESREES
BR77800BTL(ZF_FF : &)

27. BERBITER

2021 2020
—EBZ-F —E-FF
HK$ HK$
B BT
Cash and bank balances presented in the REVBARAKRMZN RS R
consolidated statement of financial position RITERR 175,939,276 150,430,813
Less: restricted cash i ZRFIRE (114,349,257) =
Cash and cash equivalents presented in BARSRERMENZ
consolidated statement of cash flows RekReFEIEER 61,590,019 150,430,813
Note: Bfer -

At 31 March 2021, cash and bank balances of
the Group denominated in RMB is amounted to
HK$120,226,902 which are placed with the banks in
the PRC (2020: HK$28,789,069). RMB is not freely
convertible into other currencies. However, under
the PRC’'s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations
and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment
of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is
permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies
through banks authorised to conduct foreign
exchange business.

Restricted cash of HK$114,349,257 held in the
designated bank accounts of the Group are pledged
to the banks until the customers’ building ownership
certificate of the respective properties have been
obtained and transferred to the banks.

(a)

R-ZZE-_—F=ZA=+—8 ' ~5%E
BERTFRZBTZUAAREHNEZ
e RIRITH$1E120,226,90278 7T
(=& — T 4 : 28,789,069/ 7T ) °
ARBTAEHRLBAREMER - R
i R4 A B 2 CONE B AR ) R
E.EERMESTERT) KNEEE
BB R ETINE 15 2 BT
AREHBABEMEY -

AEBEERTEFABAEZZR
$13R 4114,349,2578 T2 A T 48
7 - EEEFBBZEEMERES
W R TIRIT

i
th
i
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REMB®RME

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—Z-—fF=R=+—H
31 March 2021

28. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER PAYABLES

28. BENEM - RERHMKIE

2021 2020
—E-—-F CZZ-FTF

HK$ HK$

BT o

Trade payables FERTER 3,517,100 954,742
Bills payables EREE = 3,283,353
Accruals FEEHE R 464,938 10,601,327
Other payables H At FE T 5RIE 5,264,679 78,276,248
Other deposits received Eme gL 18,281,736 11,767,709
27,528,453 104,883,379

(@) Included in trade, bills and other payables are

trade and bills payables with the following

ageing analysis based on invoice date as of

the end of reporting period:

(a)

ENER  BEIEMFUAEER
NEREREE - EREEHRRE
BEAHZREDNNOT

2021 2020

s TECEF

HK$ HK$

BT BT

Current or within 30 days BNEF =M 30 A 3,517,100 68,455
31 to 60 days 31HZ60H - 46,339
61 to 90 days 61HZE9H — 59,294
Over 90 days 90 H M — 4,064,007
3,517,100 4,238,095

Trade and bills payables are expected to be

settled within one year.

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED
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e U B ®RRME

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

28. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER PAYABLES
(Continued)

(b)

Trade, bills and other payables included
a provision for financial guarantee of
HK$20,621,019 as at 31 March 2020.

On 3 September 2019, B RIFHILEFTEER
A @l (Nanjing Yinkun Investment Corporation
Co. Ltd.*) (the “"Guarantor”), an indirect non-
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company
as the guarantor, entered into a guarantee
agreement (the “Guarantee Agreement”),
pursuant to which the Guarantor agreed to
guarantee the repayment obligations of FR
I 2= £F A9 4% BB B IR 2 & (Nanjing Ruiyixiang
Network Technology Co., Ltd.*), a company
established in the PRC and a potential
business partner of the Guarantor, as the
borrower under a loan agreement dated
3 September 2019 in respect of the loan
facility for the principal amount of up to
RMB100 million with interest payable at a
quarterly basis at a fixed rate of 6.5% per
annum, which was secured by a piece of
land owned by the borrower itself in Nanjing.
Such facility shall be matured in 36 months,
RMB80 million and RMB20 million were
drawn down in September 2019 and January
2020 respectively. The Group recognised a
provision for loss allowance for the financial
guarantee contract of HK$20,621,019 as at 31
March 2020. For further details, please refer
to the announcement of the Company dated 8
November 2019.

The provision for financial guarantee was
derecognised upon disposal of the subsidiaries
as disclosed in note 38.

—E-—%=-A=t+—H
31 March 2021

28. BERER - EB N HMRE &)

(b)

RZE-_TEF=A=+—H ' Eft
B ZERLREMRIESIEMEE
1R 20,621,019 7T °

RZE—NAFENALA=H " AQF
ZHEEIEZEWB R A E AR
WEBEBRAGERADE
RERAGTCERBZ(ERTD
BBt ERARERBH
BZE-NFNA=ZAZER®
FETZERAERmRFEHES
BEAERAR(—BRFREKL 2
RAIRERAZBEEBRBN)E
REFED FPRASERZA
R# 100,000,000 T2 EZRE -
EEMNEBEEREEFNEG5%
R ZEEXRMEBERABR
SRERAERN—E LT
oz EBMN36MEARNTE -
i1 A R % 80,000,000 7t & A R ¥
20,000,000 5 Bl ZF — L
NARZZEZTF— RN - ®
—E-TFEZAZ+—H KEE
ERMBERENERESERE
20,621,019%8 7T # —HF1ER
SBANBHHPAE-T—hF+—
BNBZ M -

FANFT TE 38 P IKER - B A HE AR
WENHLEMBARIRRIETER -

H

e
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REMB®RME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—Z-—fF=R=+—H
31 March 2021

29. CONTRACT COSTS AND CONTRACT

LIABILITIES
Contract costs

The Group pays sales commissions to property
sales agents for securing property sales contracts
for the Group on a success basis. The Group
capitalises these incremental costs as contract
costs.

Contract liabilities

Contract liabilities primarily relate to advances
from customer for sales of development properties
before the criteria for revenue recognition have
been met.

Movement of contract costs and contract
liabilities

ISR

Contract costs

BHRARENAE

BRRA

AEBERYMEHERERKD SAEER
BBHEARNINEERS - AREK
HERERABRMEBEKIRA -

BRER

BHRBETREE N aER ZIZER
HERRMEZEFPERER

BHRBARENABEZEE

Contract liabilities

BHRE BNEE

2021 2020 2021 2020

—EZ--F —TCEE —EB--f e g2

HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$

B BT B BT

Balance at beginning of year NEY < fek = — 1,060,627 -
Increase in contract liabilities as BUHEENER

receipts in advance )l - — 420,925,072 1,060,627

Increase in contract costs AR AIE M 3,822,794 = = =

Decrease upon disposal of HERBRARIRRD

subsidiaries (note 38) (H17£38) - — (248,289) =
Decrease due to recognised as RAFERER A

revenue during the year Yz mom > - = (529,279) =

Exchange realignment T B 125,629 = 13,549,870 =

Balance at end of year RNERZER 3,948,423 — 434,758,001 1,060,627

The Group applies practical expedient in paragraph
121 of HKFRS 15 and does not disclose information
about its remaining performance obligation if the
performance obligation is part of a contract that has
an original expected duration of one year or less.

AEBEREEMGREERE 165
12VBRzEREE L BYERESR
AR TEANEENER  REKSKED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-—f=HA=+—H

31 March 2021

30. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 30. RITRHEMEE

2021 2020
—E-—f —ET-FTF
HK$ HK$
BT BT

Secured and interest bearing: BEMANEE
Bank borrowings (note (i), (iv), (v)) SRITIEE (M G)  (v) - (v) 289,531,436 63,521,944
Other borrowings (note (i), (iii) HEHER )~ i) — 29,017,858

289,631,436 92,539,802

Notes: Biat -
At the end of the reporting period, the bank and other RBEHER AEEZRITAEMGEED
borrowings were repayable as follows: T
2021 2020
b S —EEF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Borrowings repayable: AR THREZEZEE
Within one year or on demand —FARIZEK 289,531,436 67,005,712
More than one year, but not exceeding HBiE—F  BTEBMRE
two years - 17,325,707
More than two years, but not exceeding HBEMRE - B TBBR=F
three years - 8,208,383
289,531,436 92,539,802
ANNUAL REPORT 2021 T_—F44 199
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-—%=ZA=+—H
31 March 2021

30. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

As at 31 March 2021,
guarantees were given to bank for certain bank
borrowings by Mr. Chen Weiwu, a director of
the Group, his spouse, a subsidiary and related
companies of a non-controlling shareholder.

personal and corporate

As at 31 March 2020, personal and corporate
guarantees were given to banks and financial
institutions for certain bank and other borrowings
by Mr. Yang Lei, a director of certain subsidiaries of
the Company, his spouse, and a related company,
which is beneficially owned by Mr. Yang Lei and
his spouse, a related party and the independent
third party companies. Further, certain assets of Mr.
Yang Lei, his spouse and a related party have been
pledged to secure the bank and other borrowings.

The interest rates for the bank loan is 7.24% per
annum (2020: from 4.15% to 8.23% per annum).

As at 31 March 2020, investment properties with
carrying amounts of HK$118,651,000 has pledged to
secure the other borrowings of the Group.

(iv)  Entire equity interest of a subsidiary has been
pledged to secure the bank borrowings.
(v) Properties under development of HK$770,392,961
has been pledged to secure the bank borrowings.
CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED I EHERAERRA

30. RITRHMBEE#)

Hit -

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(%)
R-Z-_—F=A=+—HB RER
FEREBRZEE) HERB —H

MEARN —BIFERBRRZEER
AERE TRITEERRITEH/REA
R RPER -

R-Z-_ZF=A=+—B %K%
E(RRARETHBLARACES) K
M@&*ﬁﬁ%*%i&ﬁﬁ@%ﬁ

EEZHERD —RZBEEALLSE
NEZAR TE% S FRITREME
BERRTEEemEEBREAARRR

R M HELE S RERBRE—
FRABEALBEETEERMAER
RITREMEE -

TERZEMNERET24% (T -F
N F415% E8.23%) °

RZE-_TF=A=+—0" FAE
#118,651,0008 2 I EWELD &
BHAERASE 2 EMEE -

—HHEAR R
ERBITHRE -

7B P B 2 K 4R LA

770,392,961 Bt 2 BEEF W EEER
AR RIBITIEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31. CONVERTIBLE BONDS

(a)

CB 2017

On 3 July 2017, the Company entered
into subscription agreements with certain
independent third parties in relation to the
issue of convertible bonds in an aggregate
principal amount of HK$46,341,960. The
convertible bonds bear zero interest and carry
a right to convert the principal amount into
share of HK$0.05 each in the share capital of
the Company at an initial conversion price of
HK$0.215 per share (subject to adjustment)
during the period commencing from six months
after 25 July 2017 (the “Bond Issue Date
1”), and 25 July 2019 (the “Bond Maturity
Date 1”). The conversion price is subject
to adjustment on the occurrence of dilutive
or concentration event. The Company may
at anytime after six months from the Bond
Issue Date 1 and before Bond Maturity Date
1 redeem the convertible bonds at par (“CB
2017").

The convertible bonds contain two components:
liability and equity components. The equity
component is presented in the equity heading
“convertible bonds reserve”. The effective
interest rate of the debt component on initial

recognition is 7.25% per annum.

(a)

—E-—%=-A=t+—H
31 March 2021

1. AIARES

“E-LHFURRES

R-—T—+F+A=H AR
BT & 8% 546,341,960 78 7T
ZAMRESFEETEIE=5]
UREWE o ZEUBRRESRE
g WHAEMIB_-ZE—tFt
AZ+HB(EHFZTEE1)E
NEAREE-_TE-hAhFELA-+H
B(EHFHMA1]) EHBAKAE
PHERREBETR2IGHET
(I FHAB)ERARQAFTRAS
SRRMEEO0.06E T 2 kD o B
EEENERER TEREN THA
o RARRAIRESFZITAB &
NEAREESEDEE 12 EM
RENEHEERT®RERES(=F
—tFEABRRES]) -

ABRREFEEMERLD : BE

Kigsaly o B o R A Bk

FE%‘%%{%J N2 R ED - BESE
DRRERT 2 BEREN XS

7.25% -
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REMB®RME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—Z-—fF=R=+—H
31 March 2021

31. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued)

(a)

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED ) BERERAR

CB 2017 (Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the
Company entered into deed of amendments
with those independent third parties in relation
to the extension of Bond Maturity Date 1 to
24 July 2021. The details are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 9 July 2019,
11 July 2019 and 15 July 2019.

The Group recognised a gain on extinguishment
of CB 2017 of approximately HK$5,937,254 at
the date of extension of Bond Maturity Date 1
("Date of Extinguishment”).

All the other terms and conditions of the CB
2017 remain unchanged. As the discounted
present value of the cash flows under the new
terms, including any fees paid and discounted
using the original effective interest rate, was
more than 10% different from the discounted
present value of the remaining cash flows of
the financial liability, the Directors consider the
extension of the maturity date as a modification
that result in derecognition of the convertible
bonds. The effective interest rate of the CB
2017 liability component for the remaining
period after the modification is revised to
7.38%.

(a)

1. AIARES (#)

“E-LHFURRESE)

RBE-_Z-_ZTF=-A=+—HLt
FE  ARmRBEFIHE 1T
RET-—F+HA-tHAHEZ
EBUE=FFILIETRE - 715
BERARREHA-—T—NFLH
B ZE-AFEtA+—HARZ
E-NFLA+THEBZAM -

AEEREREHDMA1 2B H
(TEHBBDHRFHE _—_T—LF
Al R {E 5 TR I 25 49 5,937,254
ABIT e

T+ FAMMRRES 2 2 HA
{%W&MWW%HZ """"" o R
BRETHERE(RREARE
BREmMXNRMRZEMER)
BB EREVBAE s SRR E
MEMRIVEZZFEHEBI0%
HMESRALERINAARREHL
iﬁ@ TTﬁﬁxﬁ%Zf 7] o MEET

% —tFABERESFRER
ﬂE@ﬁ%TﬁﬁF‘aﬁZﬁl‘” M RIERR
7.38% °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)
(a) CB 2017 (Continued)

The valuation of the CB 2017 was performed

—F-—F=-A=t—H
31 March 2021

31. AR ESR#)
(a) —B—tETRBRESE)
ST FARRES EEHT

by APAC. RNETIHE -
HK$
BT
Fair value of CB 2017 at 25 July 2017 S — - F A/ RARES
RZE—tFEA=Z+HA
ZRFEE 46,341,960
Issuance expenses BITHX (192,157)
Equity component R E S (5,865,097)
Liability component on initial recognition HRZ-Z—+F+ A _‘HiEl
at 25 July 2017 AR 2 BEY 40,284,706

The valuation of the convertible bonds on Date
of Extinguishment for CB 2017 was performed

—EFARRIES 2 i A
B WA R E SR 2 B ER DA

by APAC. 1T14ME
HK$
BT
Fair value of CB 2017 at Date of T FABRRESF N
Extinguishment REiz AFEE 46,341,960
Issuance cost BT (86,920)
Equity component I D (6,061,380)
Liability component of CB 2017 at Date =~ =T —+Fa[#AREH N
of extinguishment REiz B EE D 40,193,660
On 31 July 2020, the bondholders of CB RZZE=ZEF+H=+—80"
2017 have exercised the conversion right and —‘tE—I%ﬁéﬁxﬁ%Zﬁ%ﬁ—rﬁ/\E
converted the CB 2017 to 215,544,000 shares TR BT F Rk
of the Company. B85 215,644,000 AR A
f& 5 o
ANNUAL REPORT 2021 — &= — 444 203
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REMB®RME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—Z-—fF=R=+—H
31 March 2021

31. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued)

1. ARARES2)

(b) CB 2018 (b) =B-N\FABRES
On 15 August 2018, the Company entered R/ \FENA+EHEH  ARQF
into subscription agreements with certain TMEBEITAE BT H42,031,080%
independent third parties in relation to the TTZABMRESEETEVYE=F
issue of convertible bonds in an aggregate FAVREWRE ZEUBRRES
principal amount of HK$42,031,080. The REE - UMAEENITH-_Z—N
convertible bonds bear zero interest and carry FNA=Z+—HB(E#%THH
a right to convert the principal amount into 2)BANEARBE_ZE_ZFF )\ A
share of HK$0.05 each in the share capital of =—t+—B((E#28E2]) M
the Company at the initial conversion price of N A REIZREREETR0.195
HK$0.195 per share (subject to adjustment) BT (A F AR #BIRAARRFRA
during the period commencing from six FERBEEGE TG - &
months after 31 August 2018 (the “Bond TS E RIS R TIRRER T
Issue Date 2”) and 31 August 2020 (the JAEE o KABIRREHFZEITHE?2
“Bond Maturity Date 2"). The conversion BAREAREESIHBE 251 21F
price was subject to adjustment on the AR AR EER AR ES ([ =
occurrence of dilutive or concentration event. ZE-NFUBERES]) -
The Company may at anytime after six months
from the Bond Issue Date 2 and before Bond
Maturity Date 2 redeem the convertible bonds
at par ("CB 2018").
The convertible bonds contain two ﬂ}ﬁﬂ&ﬁ#aﬁfﬁflﬁﬁ D BER
components: liability and equity components. BRED © HEm Y Gk
The equity component is presented in the %%ZFTT@HX%%*%%JTZ%&
equity heading “convertible bonds reserve” 25 - EHBORVILERFZE
in the consolidated statement of changes in BREMERRB827% °
equity. The effective interest rate of the debt
component on initial recognition is 8.27% per
annum.
The valuation of the CB 2018 was performed —E - \FAMRES ZIHERD
by APAC. KHEITIHE ©
HK$
T
Fair value of CB 2018 at 31 August 2018 — \F A R E 5
M:§*A¢AHE+*E
TN 42,031,080
Issuance expenses ?Tf'aﬁi (174,688)
Equity component TE/'\* o (6,003,801)
Liability component on initial recognition RZ-ZT—N\FENA=+—H
at 31 August 2018 TRz BERS 35,852,591
CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED HEE@ER AR A A



31. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued)

(b)

CB 2018 (Continued)

On 31 July 2020, the bondholders of CB
2018 have exercised the conversion right and

e %R KM
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-—%F=ZA=+—H

31. TEERESR#)

31 March 2021

(b) =B-NFARKRESE)

R_B_FFtA=+—H"
—)\iT}ﬁﬂx%%Z%\%%ﬁ/\E

converted the CB 2018 to 215,544,000 shares T - BT N\ Fa Bk
of the Company. EH 845 215,544,000 B4 A 7]
f&in o
The movements of the liability components of AR ESF BB Y 2 S5
the convertible bonds are set out below: T
CB 2017 CB 2018 Total
—tF —NF
AR RER ABkES wEt
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT B
Carrying amount at 1 April 2019 —NEMA—H
ZREE 45,344,878 37,575,609 82,920,487
Effective interest expenses EEREMERY 2,976,743 3,110,244 6,086,987
Gain on extinguishment of HABELIEH
convertible bonds for liability AR ES 2 W
components (6,148,300) — (6,148,300)
Carrying amount at 31 March R ZZ-T&F=H
2020 and 1 April 2020 =+—BRk=Z=%
MA—HZREE 42,173,321 40,685,853 82,859,174
Effective interest expenses ERFEFAS 983,274 1,055,991 2,039,265
Derecognition upon conversion {E% &8 AP SRR
of convertible bonds by the BHERIERER
bondholders (43,156,595) (41,741,844)  (84,898,439)
Carrying amount at RZB-_—F=A
31 March 2021 =t+—-HZEHEEAE — — -

ANNUAL REPORT 2021

=

i
th
oy



206

RE PV BHRRMEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-—%=ZA=+—H
31 March 2021

32. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES 2. WBEEET ZWEHWE AT
UNDER ASSET ACQUISITION
In July 2020, the Group acquired the entire equity R-ZZE_ZEF+A AEEKAKRE
interest in Topper Genius at a total consideration (VB £36,722,718 B T(HHER AR
of (i) cash of HK$36,722,718 (equivalent to 33,544,0007T ) (i) 800,000,000 %
RMB33,544,000) and (ii) 800,000,000 shares of the RRARBRMHKBES 2 2HRE - AR
Company. The directors of the Company were of RIEERAKRBEESTTERE BT
the opinion that acquisition of Topper Genius did WMEERFEIFRAATCZESREH
not constitute business combinations as defined o WS IEN E A EWEEARR -
in HKFRS 3, therefore, the acquisition had been
accounted for as asset acquisition.
Assets and liabilities of Topper Genius and RUERRERES REKEBRR(HR
its subsidiaries (collectively “Topper Group”) BEEER)H)CEERBEBNOT ¢
recognised at the date of acquisition are as follows:
HK$
BT
Net assets acquired of: P & % 1E ¢
Property, plant and equipment Y - BB MEE 1,024,341
Properties under development ERPME 606,498,511
Trade and other receivables JE U R R H A 3R IE 16,773,632
Cash and bank balances He MRTTH R 22,478,405
Trade and other payables FERESR R EAMFRIE (2,880,994)
Amounts due to non-controlling shareholders  JE{BE A B FEHE AR A% R 200E
of subsidiaries (26,016,723)
Bank borrowings RITEE (22,825,234)
Lease liabilities HEBRE (325,434)
Non-controlling interests FEEAR (386,614,863)
Net assets BEFE 208,111,641
Satisfied by: TR EE
Issue of new ordinary shares of the Company, ZRFEBERITARD A E @A
at fair value 171,388,923
Cash Be 36,722,718
208,111,641
Net cash inflow of the acquisition WS SEIB IR AERR
Cash and cash equivalents acquired g v e MR EFBEBE 22,478,405
Less: Cash consideration paid i BERIRERE (36,722,718)
Net cash inflow from acquisition of WEEEET ZWERBAR 2
subsidiaries under asset acquisition BEmAFRE (14,244,313)

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED #EEHZERAER A



32.

33.

e U B ®RRME

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
UNDER ASSET ACQUISITION (Continued)

Since its acquisition, Topper Group contributed
net loss of HK$11,018,074 to the Group for the
period from July 2020 to March 2021. Had the
combination taken place on 1 April 2020, the
loss before income tax credit of the Group for
the year ended 31 March 2021 would have been
HK$12,058,992. This pro forma information is for
illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an
indication of revenue and results of operations of
the Group that actually would have been achieved
had the acquisition been completed on 1 April 2020,
nor intended to be a projection of future results.
The acquisition-related costs of HK$1,255,000 have
been expensed and are incurred as part of the cost
of the assets acquired. The Group has elected to
measure the non-controlling interests in Topper
Group at acquisition-date fair value which has been
determined by reference to its market value at the
date of acquisition. The fair value of trade and other
receivables, equivalent to its gross contractual
amount as shown above, is considered as fully
recoverable.

DEFERRED TAXATION

The movements on the net deferred tax assets
during the year are as follows:

3.

33.

—E-—%=-A=t+—H
31 March 2021

WRREERET ZWBEHELQF
(4)

BEEEBMERBANR ER-T-F
FHAE-_E-—F=AHMhEAEER
B51EF 511,018,074 L » WA HE
R-ZE_ZTFMA—H#ETT AIREH
HE T —F=-ZfA=+—HILtFEZ
R T 15 4 1K 2 A E5 18 FE 5 12,058,992
BIT e NEEERHEMFE - F—ER
ERN T -FENA B RWEEARN
CSEERERSZREREEERIE
1= T EERRER 2B - WEHEAE
RARk 4N 1,255,000/8 T EL 84 - W 1E
BRTWBEEZKAZ —SDESE -
EEEERERKBERZAFEAENE
RIEEEE 2 FEERERD - MWEEAR
ZATFEENDNZEENKEER ZTE
BT BURERKEMREAZ AFER
(HERE LRAOBF) MR A BH
Y@ -

ESERE
BEREEEFERFAZEHMT -

2021 2020

B Z—ZET-FTF

HK$ HK$

BT BT

At beginning of year REY] - 587,593
Charged to profit or loss (note 15) mned=iiz15) — (5687,593)

At end of year RER

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax
losses carried forward to the extent that realisation
of the related tax benefit through future taxable
profits is probable. As at 31 March 2021, no
deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect
of the unused tax losses (2020: HK$nil) due to
unpredictability of future profit streams. Tax losses
of HK$34,325,730 (2020: HK$168,785,317) can be
carried forward indefinitely and no tax losses (2020:
HK$nil) will be expired in five years.

EEFRSHEE o458 2 i IEE 1B
R WLABIREER AR ZERF S
BREBAHEEMNZAR RZT=—F
ZAZ+—8  BAREUBRERIEFR
ZRE  HUNARAB AT IEEIEER
BEMBEE(ZZEZZF  TFL) -
i I8 B 834,325,730 B (T - &
£ : 168,785,317 /8 7T ) A R Hi 4582 -
M EHRBEGEER(ZE-_2F : T8T)
R A EANER ©

i
th
i
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RE PV BHRRMEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-—%=ZA=+—H
31 March 2021

33. DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued) 33.

The movements in deferred tax assets during the
year are as follows:

EERIE &)
ELHBEENERNZ EEMT

Decelerated

Deferred tax assets EEHREBEEE accounting depreciation Total
HEETHITE M

2021 2020 2021 2020

—B--F —T-ETF B CZIT-TF

HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$

E T BT BT

At beginning of year REH) = 587,593 = 587,593

Charged to profit or loss 1B 1E% - (587,593) - (587,593)

At end of year RER _

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax
balances are shown in the Group’'s consolidated
statement of financial position:

NTRAREEZ G BRREKATZ
BRI

2021 2020
—EBE-—f —ET-FTF
HK$ HK$

BT BT

Deferred tax assets EER I E E
Deferred tax liabilities EERRIBEE

At the end of the reporting period, the aggregate
amount of temporary differences associated with
undistributed earnings of subsidiaries for which
deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised is
HK$48,556,115 (2020: HK$4,715,706). No liability
has been recognised in respect of these differences
because the Group is in a position to control the
timing of reversal of the temporary differences
and it is probable that such differences will not be
reversed in the foreseeable future.

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED #EEHZERAER A

RMER BERBRATARIERF
ERAEBERERECERIBEEBE CBYR
Z R 548,556,115 (T T F ¢
4,715,706 8 70) © B P AN 5 [ B 42 i 43¢
EEREE o REABRE8 T KA 4
ARG R E - St E B R =
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34. LEASE LIABILITIES

The amount included in the consolidated statement

e %R KM
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-—®=ZA=+—H

34. HEAE

31 March 2021

S E R EREER AKREMBIRRER

of financial position in respect of the carrying MEBERFRERNT :
amounts of lease liabilities and the movements
during the year is as follows:
Office
premises
Investment leased for
properties own use Total
BEAfE
REWME N met
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
As at 1 April 2019 RZE—NEMA—H 90,519,868 4,156,107 94,675,975
Additions NE — 52,072,000 52,072,000
Interest expense B 7,689,595 138,374 7,827,969
Lease payments HEMR (22,915,940) (3,686,303)  (26,502,243)
Exchange realignment fEH AR (5,134,255) (1,372,424) (6,506,679)
As at 31 March 2020 and RZEZZTF=A=+—HBkK
1 April 2020 —T-EFMA—A 70,159,268 51,407,754 121,567,022
Additions NE 278,245,460 211,987,510 490,232,970
Increase upon acquisition of G- I=PNCIEE 32
subsidiaries (note 32) (et 32) - 325,434 325,434
Decrease upon disposal of HEMWB D RER D
subsidiaries (note 38) (K1it 38) (40,048,117) (473,958)  (40,522,075)
Interest expense FEMAE 5,324,040 7,577,271 12,901,311
Lease payment HERK (20,909,195)  (15,868,533)  (36,777,728)
Effect of modification BT - 592,571 592,571
Termination of contracts BIEAH (22,688,279) (181,125)  (22,869,404)
Exchange realignment bEE 5 3% 13,666,869 10,807,737 24,474,606
As at 31 March 2021 RZTZ—F=A=+—H 283,750,046 266,174,661 549,924,707
ANNUAL REPORT 2021 T-—F 53R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-_—F=A=+—H

31 March 2021

34. LEASE LIABILITIES (Continued)

Future lease payments are due as follows:

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED

34. HERE@®)
R R0 THIEAREIE -

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-E
HK$ HK$
B BT
Minimum lease payment due HSEAEMNR
— Within one year — —FQR 85,040,070 31,407,834
— More than one year but within two years ~ — BB~ FERRER 66,742,273 29,431,289
— In the second to fifth years, inclusive — B_Z2FRF(REEEMSE) 209,804,074 43,838,524
— More than 5 years — BBAF 419,418,053 50,106,204
781,004,470 154,783,851
Less: future interest expenses i RRFIEFX (231,079,763)  (33,216,829)
Present value of lease liabilities HEBBYRE 549,924,707 121,567,022
The present value of future lease payments are RKRHEERRZBESTUWT
analysed as:
2021 2020
—E--F —E-FHF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Current liabilities nRBBE 51,532,095 20,147,259
Non-current liabilities FEREAE 498,392,612 101,419,763
549,924,707 121,567,022
2021 2020
—E-—%F —E T
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Short term leases expenses REEERY 372,311 869,696
Aggregate undiscounted commitments REAME 2 RANIR AR R
for short term leases - 48,199

FEEBAZERARA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—F-—F=-A=t—H
31 March 2021

35. SHARE CAPITAL 35. A&
(a) Authorised and issued share capital (a) ZEEREDBRITRA
2021 2020
“B--f S 23
Number of Number of
shares HK$ shares HK$
Vot AT Vi AT
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each BRAEG0ETZEER
At 1 April and 31 March REA-AR
=A=+-H 20,000,000,000 1,000,000,000  20,000,000,000 1,000,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BEIRAR
Ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each SREB.05 BT LBk
At 1 April REA—H 1,077,778,570 53,888,928 1,077,778,570 53,888,928
Issuance of share for acquisition of ~ FHUUEMEBA AET
subsidiaries (note b) Rz Hiso) 800,000,000 40,000,000 = =
Exercise of convertible bonds I akES
(note ¢) (Witc) 431,088,000 21,554,400 - -
At 31 March R=A=t-H 2,308,866,570 115,443,328 1,077,778,570 53,888,928

(b)

(c)

In July 2020, the Group acquired the entire
equity interest in Topper Genius at a total
consideration of (i) cash of HK$36,722,718
(equivalent to RMB33,544,000) and (ii)
800,000,000 shares of the Company.
800,000,000 Shares of HK$0.05 each of
HK$40,000,000 has been accounted as share
capital of the Company and the remaining
balance of HK$131,388,923 has accounted as
part of the share premium of the Company.

On 31 July 2020, the bondholders of CB 2017
and CB 2018 have exercised the conversion
right and converted the CB 2017 and CB 2018
to 431,088,000 shares of the Company.

Details are set out in the note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements.

(b) RZZE-_ZTFLH AEEHKR
R (B ()R £36,722,7187 T4
BN A R 33,544,000 ) K (ii)
800,000,000 f% 4~ 2~ &) % 1 Ue &5
% & 2 & 3B A% # - 800,000,000
[ REEETLZRMNDZ
40,000,000% 7T B 1E &N R &) %
AFIBR - MEREE 131,388,923 T
BEARRARIRGHREZ—35 5
EE °

(c) RZZEZZEF+A=+—8B =%
—tFEUIBRREHFR T —N\F
MR ES 2 EHFFEADITHR
i ST —tFBRBES
FZE-NFUBRKEFERE
431,088,000 IR AR A FIRR ©

BRAABIEN GV B HREME
Sk

i
th
i
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REMB®RME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—Z-—fF=R=+—H
31 March 2021

35. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

(d)

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED

Capital management policy

The capital structure of the Group consists
of debts, which includes the bank and other
borrowings disclosed in notes 30 to the
consolidated financial statements, net of cash
and bank balances and equity attributable to
owners of the Company, comprising issued
share capital and reserves. The Group’s risk
management reviews the capital structure
on annual basis. As part of this review, the
management considers the cost of capital and
the risks associated with each class of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital
structure, the Group may adjust the amount of
dividends paid to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders, issue new shares or sell
assets to reduce debts.

The net debt to equity ratio at the end of the
reporting period was as follows:

35. A& (#)

(d)

EXREEEER

AEBZEARBREGER(EE
BIRTREMEE  RERKRAR
KM FE30) M ER T MIRTTH
BIARKRBHERE AEIEEZR (B
EREBRITRARMER)  AREZ
Rl EEABSFRIERRE -
tERILEREM .80 -  BEEES
ZEREARARZSHEENERR

6o
Z2

o

RERNAREARRE  ~AEE
SRBABRRIRN ZBEEE - [
BREREER  BITHRIHLEER
ELRIEET

RIREIIR - BB FRERA L 40
T

2021 2020

—E-—%F —E T

HKS$ HK$

BT T

Bills payables (note 28) RIS EI& (M7 28) - 3,283,363

Bank and other borrowings (note 30) RITREMBEE(HF30) 289,531,436 92,539,802

Convertible bonds (note 31) AR ES(HTEE31) - 82,859,174

Less: Cash and bank balances JB R RIRITE R (175,939,276)  (150,430,813)

Net debt B F5E 113,592,160 28,251,516
Equity attributable to owners of ARRBEEAEGER

the Company 364,950,320 100,574,060

Net debt to equity ratio BT ERALL X 31% 28%

PEEELRARA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—F-—F=-A=t—H
31 March 2021

36. RESERVES 36. f#1E
Company FN/N|
Employee
share-based Convertible
Share  Contributed compensation bonds  Accumulated
premium surplus reserve reserve losses Total
WRA%HZ
RiyaE BfRE EEHMBE TRRESRE ZRES fag
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT B BT V-7 BT
At 1 April 2019 RZS-NEMA—B 2162373288 28,784,000 7,292,983 11,815,743 (2,235,709,079) (25,443,065)
Loss for the year TEEEE - - - - (7,835,749) (7,835,749)
Extinguishment of convertible s &R ES
bonds (note 31) (Wit31) = = = 211,046 = 211,046
At 31 March 2020 and WZBZFE=R
1 April 2020 =t-Ak
“5-FFMA-A 2162,373,268 28,784,000 7,292,983 12,026,789 (2,243,544,828) (33,067,768)
Issuance of share for AMENBLR
acquisition of subsidiaries ikl
(note (i) (W) 131,388,923 — — — — 131,388,923
Exercise of convertible bonds {7 ATARES
(note 31) (Hit31) 75,370,828 - - (12,026,789) - 63,344,039
Loss for the year TEEEER - - - —  (47954794)  (47954,794)
At 31 March 2021 RZB=-%=]
=1-H 2,369,133,039 28,784,000 7,292,983 - (2,291,499,622) 113,710,400
Note: Wi
(i) In July 2020, the Group acquired the entire equity (M) MNRZE-TFEL A REBFIRERE

interest in Topper Genius at a total consideration
of (i) cash of HK$36,722,718 (equivalent to
RMB33,544,000) and (ii) 800,000,000 shares of the
Company. 800,000,000 Shares of HK$0.05 each
of HK$40,000,000 has been accounted as share
capital of the Company and the remaining balance of
HK$131,388,923 has accounted as part of the share

premium of the Company.

()38 £36,722,718 B T(HHE R AR
% 33,544,000 7T ) M (ii) 800,000,000
BRA R B R AD U i 1 8 2 2 EPARAE o
800,000,000 }% & B I {E0.05 7% 7T 2
%5 Z 40,000,0008 L EE AR A T
B& A7 BR - i #4258 131,388,923 % 7T
EEARRRIRGHEZ — AT -

Hy
iy
B
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RE PV BHRRMEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—B-_—Ff=A=1+—H
31 March 2021

36. RESERVES (continued)

The following describes the
each reserve within owners’

Reserve

A

Company
bINNE|

Share premium

Bt B

Contributed surplus

Employee share-based
compensation reserve
VAR AR S2 5 2 1 B S B Rt 485

Accumulated losses

RIEEE

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED

36. #E®)

nature and purpose of ATHMEE A ESPSREBZEER
equity: B :

Description and purpose
WK B

Amount subscribed for share capital in excess of nominal value.

RERAEBEEI TR -

The difference between the consolidated shareholders’ funds of the
subsidiaries at the date when they were acquired by the Company
and the nominal amount of the Company’s shares issued for the
acquisition at the time of the group reorganisation prior to the listing
of the Company's shares in 1991. Under the Companies Act 1981
of Bermuda (as amended), the contributed surplus is available for
distribution to the shareholders provided that the Company is able to
meet its obligations after distribution and the net realisable value of
the Company’s assets would not be less than the aggregate of its
liabilities, issued share capital and share premium accounts.
MBAREARRIKENBARI Z AHZAERRESERAATRN RN
—NMN—FEMRETSESEARRKEMET 2 ARaRNEELE
B RBBE-NN\—FAREQRRDE(RER) BEHBAKAIHIIKRTRE
BUERRRAINRDIRKEERNBITEEE  MARBAEEZAIERFET
SENREEE DBETRAERMDGEER &FHER

Cumulative expenses recognised on the granting of share options to
the employees over the vesting period.

REBHREFEBR TRIERERZ REL -

Cumulative net losses recognised in the statement of comprehensive
income.

N EE RS KR 2 RIEERIFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36. RESERVES (continued)

Reserve

&%
Group

A EH

Other reserve

Hibf#

Foreign exchange reserve

SN % 178

Convertible bonds reserve

AR ES R

Accumulated losses

REEE

—E-—%=-A=t+—H
31 March 2021

36. #E®)

Description and purpose

R B #

The difference between the consideration and the carrying amount of
the net assets attributable to the additional and reduction of interests
in subsidiaries being acquired from and disposed to non-controlling
equity holders respectively.

REEMEEREEFBEAMBRHE TIHERERFEAZMB AR
RIEMIOR D D RIEE 2 FEERAE 58

Gains/(losses) arising on retranslating the net assets of foreign
operations into Hong Kong dollars.

ENMESINEBEEFEEBMEE 2 K (B1E) -

Convertible bonds reserve represents equity portion of convertible
bonds.

AR EFFEESARBRES 2 Em il

Cumulative net losses recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.
RiFe s RER RTEEEFHE -

H

i
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CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED ) BERERAR

REMB®RME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—Z-—fF=R=+—H
31 March 2021

37. SHARE OPTIONS

On 30 August 2002, the Company adopted a share
option scheme for the purpose of attracting and
retaining quality personnel and other persons who
may contribute to the business and operation of the
Group. Options may be granted without any initial
payment to persons including Directors, employees
or consultants of the Group.

On 30 August 2012, the Company adopted a new
share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”)
which was approved in the Company’'s annual
general meeting on 29 August 2012. The Share
Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of
10 years from 30 August 2012. A summary of the
rules of the Share Option Scheme is set out in the
appendix to the Company’s circular dated 20 July
2012.

On 23 December 2013, options were granted to
Directors and employees of the Company and its
subsidiaries under the Share Option Scheme to
subscribe for up to 32,333,421 ordinary shares
of the Company (“2013 Share Options”). The
estimated fair value of the options granted on that
date was approximately HK$9,376,692 and the
amount was recognised as staff cost expense for
the year ended 31 March 2014.

3.

IR

RERSIWEBFEBFIAS REMAIEEH
AEEEBRELEBERZALT K
RN ZEZEZF)\A=1THHEMN—IB
RAMEET B o RARME AT B8 X EAAI )
THREMRTREES  A5B2EE
SERERNZ AT ©

RZZE——FNA=+H ARQREH
—IEFRRE E([RREE]) -
ERZE——FNAZ+HILBEALRRTF
REGEF RS FEAE - RIS
REZZE——F\A=+HRFT10FH
ERA N - RIRESTEIRA 2 EH
RARBIBHBHA-E——FtHA=+H
Bk HiEERA o

RZEBE—=F+-A=-+=H " KRA7
BIERREFEIMEE RARQF REK
BARIZEERLRRE URERZ
32,333 421 RARRIEBR(=Z&E—=
FRABRE]) - RZAREZRBE
FAFEELHE9,376,692E T %
BOREBEEZ_T—WF=A=1+—81
FEBRABETIRAML -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

37. SHARE OPTIONS (Continued)

The fair value of the 2013 Share Options was
calculated using Binominal Option Pricing Model.
The inputs into the model are as follows:

Grant date s quni=-1

Grant date share price R BEZIRE
Exercise price TEE
Expected life TEEAFHA
Expected volatility TEHRR IR
Expected dividend yield TEHMR B
Risk-free interest rate m R F=

Expected volatility is determined by using the
historical volatility of the Company's share price
over the previous one year. The expected life
used in the model has been adjusted, based on
management’'s best estimate, for the effects
of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and
behavioural considerations.

397

—E-—%=-A=t+—H
31 March 2021

AREE)
—E-CERREZ AT EEDIE A
REETEERSE - ARERFBEA
2B

2013
Share Options
ZE-ZERRE

23 December 2013
—E—=F
+=—A=+=H
HK$0.55 per share
8 0.55E T
HK$0.513 per share
(adjusted)

(Note a)
HR05138 T
(A=)

(Hieta)

10 years

10§

80%

Nil

2.26%

BHRBBLDERRRARNBE —FRE
ZELIKREMERE - EAPERZEH
FTHEREBEB  HEMLITES
& RHTERTAREBZEZEFELH

# o

H
et
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RE PV BHRRMEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-—%=ZA=+—H
31 March 2021

37. SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

37. ARE®)

2021 2020
—B--F% —E-TE
Weighted Weighted
Number average Number average
of share exercise of share exercise
options price options price
R IEEF 15 Rt INHEF
2R TEE EgE 1T1EE
HK$ HK$
B BT
Outstanding as at 1 April and REA—HR
31 March =A=+—H”
W ARTTE 27,942,462 0.513 27,942,462 0.513
Exercisable as at 31 March W=ZA=+—H
Al 27,942,462 0513 27,942,462 0513

(a) The options outstanding at 31 March 2021 and 2020

had exercise prices of HK$0.513 per share and

weighted average remaining contractual life of 2.73

years (2020: 3.73 years).

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED

FEEEERARA A

RZBEZ—FR-ZZFE=ZFTF=H
E+—BRRITEZRRE 2 BRIT
£{8/20.513 8T RIMETFHRIGREL
FRFB2IZF(ZTFF : 3.735F) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SHARE OPTIONS (Continued)

The following table discloses the movements of

options during the year:

—FE—4%=H=+—H
31 March 2021

37. ARE®)
TERBEBERRENERN Y E8

Year 2021 —E-—F
Number of
exercisable
Number of shares in respect of options granted options
T
EREARBAIR L ROHE BN LE
Qutstanding
Qutstanding Granted ~ Cancelled Lapsed  Reclassified at As at
Exercise at during during during during 31 March 31 March
Date of grant Exercisable period Vesting period price 1 April 2020 the year the year the year the year am 20
R-22%% Rogz-%
Bi-8 R £ n Bh OZRT-R HCRC-f
Riag ] 5RE ke HAfig R it BRY  BEWAE  HARR ZRZt-B
HKS
V-3
Employees
fa
23 December 2013 23 Decemboer 2013 - Fully vested on 0513 13,638,581 - - - (13,638,581 - -
22 December 2023 date of grant
5k Z3-ZFRtA RELRS
YRR ERERCASR R
Other participants
Hfppak
23 December 2013 23 December 2013 - Fully vested on 0513 14,303,881 - - - 13638581 2194462 21942462
22 December 2023 date of grant
. St 3 s RRHAS
TZRZtZR BoEITETRCtCR 2H5R
21,942,462 - - - - L6 21942462
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—Z-—fF=R=+—H

31 March 2021

37. SHARE OPTIONS (Continued) 37. ARE#)
Year 2020 —EC-EE
Number of
exercisable
Number of shares in respect of options granted options
Tl
ERUARES SR B ARERE
Qutstanding
Qutstanding Granted — Cancelled Lapsed it A at
Exercise it during during during — 3TMarch 31 March
Date of grant Exercisable period Vesting period price 1 Aoril 2019 the year the year the year 2020 00
W-E-ng 53

MA-H R &R B ZAzT-B RCRCHE

RS frieg e g il R gitd BRR  EAAE =Rzt
HKS
AT
Employees
fa
23 December 2013 23 December 2013 - Fully vested on 0513 13,638,581 - - — 13638581 13,638,581
2 December 2023 date of grant
5-F Sl ol REEAE
e ERRAR wE
Other participants
Hfppak
23 December 2013 23 December 2013 - Fully vested on 0513 14303881 - - — 14303881 14303881
22 December 2023 date of grant
e S RERAE
+2A-1=A BoRITETIAZTIR 1HER

17,942,462 S S - U4 21942460
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-—f=HA=+—H

31 March 2021

38. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 38. HEME AT

(a) During the year ended 31 March 2021, the (a) H=E—Z-_—F=ZA=+—H8LF

Group disposed of several subsidiaries to B AEEREReNRE4ETR
BUE=-FHREETHBERAR - %
EMB AR EBBNAaEFE

these subsidiaries at the date of disposal were AR :

independent third parties for total cash
considerations of HK$4. The net liabilities of

as follows:

HK$
BT
Net liabilities disposed of: FritEaE %58
Property, plant and equipment WE - BE R 20,789
Intangible assets mEE 340,907
Inventories EE 9,676,331
Trade and other receivables FE U E Sk R E b FRIE 1,290,323
Amounts due from related parties FEU B A TR 205,372
Cash and bank balances Re RIRITH 917,907
Trade, bills and other payables ENER  EBRREMFHKIE (11,250,526)
Contract liabilities BRAEE (248,289)
Current tax liabilities RITHIBAE (538,626)
Lease liabilities HEBE (473,958)
(69,770)
Reclassification of cumulative exchange 15 2FEE X = 2B m IMNE R E
differences from foreign exchange reserve  BEFIHEEER
to profit or loss 741,405
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HENB AR ZEE (681,631)
Total consideration satisfied by: AT 5B EBRE
Cash bk 4
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: HEFHEMEA RS FE
Cash received BUERE 4
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of L ERe kA FHEER (917,907)
(917,903)
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REMB®RME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—Z-—fF=R=+—H
31 March 2021

38. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(b)

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the
Group disposed the entire shares held of
Elite-China Cultural Development Limited and

38. HEKB AR (&)

b) BE_T-_—F=—A=+—HItHF
B AEEIRESNE 79874378
TTHEEMFEERESREXLER

its subsidiaries (“Elite-China”) for a cash BRAR(IREER])LENE
consideration of HK$798,743. The net liabilities RNElZEH/D REFERAHE
of Elite-China at the date of disposal were as Rz EFHNOT -
follows:
HK$
BT
Net liabilities disposed of: Frif & aEF5
Property, plant and equipment Y - BE&EE 933,618
Investment properties wEYHE 132,283,765
Trade and other receivables FEUE B E b 5B 117,547,275
Amounts due from non-controlling FEUSH B R B 2 FEIERR AR 3R SR IE
shareholders of subsidiaries 4,000
Amounts due from related parties FEUR B A T FUR 110,388
Cash and bank balances e RRITHER 1,583,567
Trade, bills and other payables FENEN - R RAMFKIE (122,166,883)
Amounts due to related parties FETREEA T 3RIE (27,039,985)
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEER (71,957,245)
Current tax liabilities RITRIBEE (90,991)
Lease liabilities HEAE (40,048,117)
(8,840,608)
Non-controlling interests Bl (2,717,390)
(11,557,998)
Reclassification of cumulative exchange 15 21E0E X = 2B mIMNE R
differences from foreign exchange reserve  BE#FIDEZTEZR
to profit or loss 1,691,357
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HERB ARz W 10,665,384
Total consideration satisfied by: AT FE EERE
Cash R 798,743
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: HERBEMEEZRESRLIFE
Cash received BlURE 798,743
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of FItERE KA FEEE (1,583,567)
(784,824)

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED #
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39. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

(a)

e MW R

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—FE—4%=H=+—H
31 March 2021

39. FFIERER

Elite-China, a 60% owned subsidiary of the (a) ARDTEB60% X ZHEB AT
Company, has material non-controlling interests REEREAERIFERAERS([3E
(“NCI"). On 31 December 2020, the Group ZERER]) - N-_T_TF+_A
has completed disposed of the 60% equity =+—H ARBEEENHELRE
interest owned by the Group and the NCI has BlIFTHEA 2 60% MK HE®KIE
derecognised accordingly. Summarised financial RIEER DS - BERETARN
information in relation to the NCI of Elite-China BE_Z-_TF=-A=1+—HLHF
before intra-group eliminations, for the year EE B R HEA 2 TR ER B
ended 31 March 2020 is presented below: HER T
2020
—ETF
HK$
BT
Summarised statement of 2EKNERBE
comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 March BE=A=1+—HILEE
Revenue Wz 50,796,747
Profit for the year IRE E 5 A 9,113,696
Other comprehensive income H 2 m s (6,392,585)
Total comprehensive income AEEEEKEER
for the year 2,721,111
Total comprehensive income for DA EIEERER 2 AFE
the year allocated to NCI ZEK BT 1,088,444
Summarised statement of cash flow ReERERHBE
For the year ended 31 March BE=ZHA=+—HLEE
Cash flows used in operating activities REEBFAZReRE (36,325,250)
Cash flows used in investing activities REEBFACRERE (16,964,731)
Cash flows from financing activities MEEHAEZRERE 52,873,963
Net cash outflows WEMLFE (416,018)
Summarised statement of financial MR RBE
position
As at 31 March R=A=+—8H
Current assets MENEE 140,226,402
Non-current assets B EE 167,776,670
Current liabilities nBBE (171,799,269)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (60,769,948)
Net assets BEFE 75,433,855
Accumulated non-controlling interests AT RS 28,187,474
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RE PV BHRRMEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-—%=ZA=+—H
31 March 2021

39. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
(Continued)

39. FIERERE)

(b) Dongquan Huachuangwen Land Ltd (b) AATEBEIL%EZRZHEB DT

(“Huachuangwen Land”), a 35% owned
subsidiary of the Company, has material NCI.

REFEHXEMBERQA([EAX
B ) EAEAFER LS - B

Summarised financial information in relation to RIS E A 5 B S AT 2 FETE

the NCI of Huachuangwen Land before intra-

group eliminations, is presented below:

Pt 2 M E RS T

2021
—BC--F
HK$
BT
Summarised statement of comprehensive 2ERERBE
income
For the year ended 31 March BZE=A=1t—-HLEE
Revenue Yz -
Loss for the year REEHIE (10,975,983)
Other comprehensive income Hip 2 HE 47,005,068
Total comprehensive income for the year AFEE2EREERE 36,029,085
Total comprehensive income for the year DEEFERERZAFEEZE
allocated to NCI uﬁzﬁi@ 23,418,905
Summarised statement of cash flow HeRERPE
For the year ended 31 March BZ=A=1+—-HLEFE
Cash flows generated from operating activities EELEKELZHERE 22,463,813
Cash flows used in investing activities REERHMACRERE (326,479,465)
Cash flows from financing activities RETBECRERE 383,054,401
Net cash inflows BERAFHE 79,038,749
Summarised statement of financial position HERRKEUE
As at 31 March R=BA=+-—H
Current assets MENEE 1,163,056,793
Non-current assets ERBEE 6,763,754
Current liabilities mEBAE (874,487,382)
Net assets BESE 295,333,165
Accumulated non-controlling interests BHEFERES 197,162,428

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED #EEHZERAER A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

39. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
(Continued)

(c)

In March 2021, a wholly owned subsidiary
of the Group, Dongguan Huachuangwen
Industry Development Ltd.* (REEEI X E
#F% AR AF)) has entered into agreement
with the 55% and 10% non-controlling
shareholders of Huachuangwen Land, to
reduce the capital of the Huachuangwen Land
in total by RMB276,689,000 (equivalent to
HK$327,323,000) (the “Capital Reduction”).
Upon completion of the Capital Reduction,
the capital of the Huachuangwen Land
has reduced from RMB537,195,000 to
RMB260,506,000. The Capital Reduction
has be paid or payable to the shareholders
of Huachuangwen Land in according to
the shareholding percentage prior to the
completion of the Capital Reduction. A
decrease in the non-controlling interests of the
Group of HK$212,792,372 is recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position of
the Group.

As at 31 March 2021, Capital Reduction of
HK$32,737,288 was not yet paid to non-
controlling shareholders .

The Huachuangwen Land remained as a
35% subsidiary of the Company and the non-
controlling shareholders remained the same
shareholding in the Huachuangwen Land upon
completion of the Capital Reduction.

—E-—%=-A=t+—H
31 March 2021

39. FIERERE)

(c)

RZZBE-_—F=H  A&EZ
2EMBRAIRTERXE X
FMZEERAAICEEADSR N
10% = 2 ERXEHIEER
EET W - BERINXE M
B BEEER AR 276,689,000
JT(M & $ 327,323,000 T )
([EABIRE L) o PEARER K
% EHNBEHHNERAEHAR
#5537,195,000 ¢ Bl /B & A R #&
260,506,000 7T © & Z<Hll ik B 4% sk
FEZIRE AR TN AT 2 IREE
LS FEANE Z]RE - KE
B 7 IR R R 4 212,792,372
BITRAEE 276 B KR R 8

7
e

R-ZE-_—F=R=+—8" 3
A% A% B oK E & AN IR
32,737,288 T ©

FRANEWEBERARAESR
6% MBAR - MREAR
BB TR (R - FFIER AR R N EE RIS
B2 BRERSTAE -

H
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REMB®RME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—Z-—fF=R=+—H
31 March 2021

40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Save as those disclosed elsewhere in the

consolidated financial statements, significant related

party transactions during the year are as follows:

(a)

(b)

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED B BERERAR

Compensation of key management
personnel

The remuneration of Directors and other
members of key management personnel
during the year were as follows:

40. BEALIR S
BREAMBREAGMESSAEREE

s

(a)

CFARNETIERBEATRSN
S

FEEEASFMH

FR EFERHEMIBEEEABZ
BT

2021 2020
—B-—-F _T-ZTF
HK$ HK$
BT BT

Salaries and other short-term e hEMEHeEN R
monetary benefits 1,500,000 2,150,484
Post-employment benefits B2 A 42,834 42,316
1,542,834 2,192,800

Lease arrangement with Beijing Tian’an
Innovation Technology and Estates Limited

March 2021
and 2020, the Group have entered into

During the year ended 31

several lease arrangements with Beijing
Tian'an Innovation Technology and Estates
Limited”, a related party of the Group. The
carrying amount of HK$489,473,679 and
HK$52,072,000 lease liabilities have been
recognised as set out in note 34 in the
consolidated financial statement during
the year ended 31 March 2021 and 2020
respectively. Further details of the connected
transactions are set out in the section headed
“Connected Transactions” in the Directors’
report of this annual report.

(b)

BIFRLZNABRERAFT L
ZHEEZH

HE_Z-_—FR-_ZF-FTF=H
=T—HBLEEE AEEBHEK
EECBEFILRALREIERXE
ARG HEBEREEZE - W
IRE TS ERERM FE34 R FTEL - &
E_T_—FRZT_ZTF=H
=+—HIEFE REESA
489,473,67978 7L} 52,072,000 /%5
TZHEBRCERR - HEE
RHGZBLZHBERANFTRESS
WMEEAERS ] —H -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(c)

Acquisition of a subsidiary from Mr. Chan
Weiwu, a director of the Company

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the
Group entered into an equity sales and
purchase agreement with Mr. Chan Weiwu,
a director of the Company to acquire entire
shares of Topper Group for consideration of
cash payment of approximately HK$36,722,718
and issue and allotment of 800,000,000
consideration shares of the Company. Further
details of the connected transactions are set
out in the note 32 to the consolidated financial
statements and section headed “Connected
in the Directors’

Transactions” report of this

annual report.

The above transactions were conducted in
accordance with the terms mutually agreed
between the Group and the related company
controlled by the director.

—E-—%=-A=t+—H
31 March 2021

40. BEAXRZ(#)

(c)

BAARNEESREREERE—MH
Ff B 2

HE_ZT-_—F-A=+—HIHF
B AEEEARFESHRERL
AR REE Bz - NRRER
& T 349 36,722,718 7 JT A K B
77 X B2 3 800,000,000 fg A A AR
Bl WEESEE 22BR
o BEBERXS ZEZFHEIRN
A?éﬁﬂ%#&%wisz&zsi#&%
WEE(BERH]—H -

B B IIRBA R B B E =
ZBAE R B BRI E 2 RFETT ©

o

H

i
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RE PV BHRRMEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—B-_—Ff=A=1+—H
31 March 2021

41. NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED 41. GREBHEEREBRMHEE
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(a) Reconciliation of loss before income tax (a) FRETSHIF BB 18 B0 & 25
expense to net cash (used in)/generated from (FTA)/EEzBRFREERN
operations is as follows: T~
2021 2020
—E-—-F C—EZ-FTF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Loss before income tax expense BTSSR AIEE
— From continuing operations — REFBEEED (45,858,405) (30,016,148)
— From discontinued operations — REDKRIEEEER (612,495) (2,943,204)
(46,470,900) (32,959,352)
Interest income F B WA (340,333) (182,942)
Interest expenses B 19,463,914 18,291,340
Depreciation of property, plant and 4% - BEMREZITE
equipment 2,277,237 1,180,905
Amortisation of intangible assets B EE CEH 97,403 116,884
Loss on disposal of property, plant  HEME  HENMERHZ
and equipment, net R F 5 16,972 15,757
Gain on termination of lease BIFHEEH 2 Wam
contracts (7,676,205) —
Gain on disposal of right-of-use HEFRAEEE K
assets (27,781,563) (10,152,574)
Impairment loss on goodwill EEZREER 198,401 o
Impairment loss on trade and other JEE R EMZRIEY
receivables, net IR EIEF 5 2,605,087 867,485
Impairment loss on finance lease FEW R E M E B REEE
receivables 806,497 281,393
Impairment loss on property, plant  ¥1% - B K& & 2 B EEE
and equipment 469,119 316,360
Fair value loss on investment WEMEZ N EERIE
properties 55,993,773 24,254,795
Gain on extinguishment of TR ES W
convertible bonds — (5,937,254)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HENB ARz W= (9,983,753) o
CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED # EEE#ZRER A &
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-—%F=ZA=+—H

41. NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

31 March 2021

41. mEBRERERKE &)

(Continued)

(a) Reconciliation of loss before income tax (a) BRPTISHF TR ES 18 B A8 & 275
expense to net cash (used in)/generated from (FTR) /EEzBReFEEERN
operations is as follows: (Continued) ™ ()

2021 2020
—E--F —B_EF
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
Operating loss before working BEESEYRCKEEE
capital changes (10,324,351) (3,907,203)
Decrease in inventories FERD 118,924 260,900
Increase in trade and other receivables — [EUCE 2 & H A FRIEIE H1 (259,137,277)  (2,505,909)
Increase in contract costs EKIBAIE N (3,822,794) =
Increase in properties under BRI
development (110,412,132) —
Increase in restricted cash PR HI3R 2 18 (110,710,945) —
Increase in trade, bills and ERER - ZRRAMKIE
other payables b=yl 43,705,512 18,478,789
Increase in contract liabilities SEHEEEN 420,395,793 1,060,627
Decrease in finance lease receivables e B BT & IR 8,919,868 634,635
Net cash (used in)/generated from REER (A EEZ
operations Re R (21,267,402) 14,021,839
ANNUAL REPORT 2021 =% = — &£
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RE PV BHRRMEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-—%=ZA=+—H
31 March 2021

41. NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

41. mEBRERERKTE &)

(Continued)
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (b) BMETHEECBBZYHER
financing activities
Amounts
Bank and due
Lease other  Convertible to related
liabilities ~ borrowings bonds parties Total
BAR EfEE
HESE AtfEE  WRRES ALHE @
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
AT AT AT ¥-7 V-7
(note 34) (note 30) (note 31) (note 26)
(Bi#34) (H#30) (Hi#3r) (Hriz26)
As at 1 April 2020 R-E2-ZFNA—H 121,567,022 92,539,802 82,859,174 27,040,427 324,006,425
Cash flows: BERE:
— Repayments — B —  (151,763,797) - —  (151,763,797)
— Drawdown —R’¥ — 380,579,437 - — 380,579,437
— Interest paid —BRHE [12,901,311)  (17,243,904) - —  (30,145,215)
— Repayment of principal —ERBERGEY
element of the lease )
liabilities (23,876,417) — — — (23,876,417)
Total changes from financing ~ BEBRLREZEH
cash flow ek (36,777,728) 211,671,736 — — 174,794,008
Other changes: Rft2s
— Interest expenses — HEHx 12,893,236 4,531,413 2,039,265 — 19,463,914
— Interest expenses capitalised — ARt ARERNE
as properties under e
development 8,075 12,712,491 — — 12,720,566
— Derecognision upon — EHEREABRTAR
conversion of convertible BREELER
bonds by the bondholders — — (84,898,439 —  (84,898,439)
— Increase in lease liabilities ~— FRHAELHE
from entering into new BEEN
leases during the year 490,232,970 — — — 490,232,970
— Decrease in lease liabilities — K IFA#IE2HE
upon termination of BEEN
contracts (22,869,404) — - — (22,869,404
— Acquisition of subsidiaries ~ — WEEMBARHZ52)
(note 32) 325,434 22,825,234 - — 23,150,668
— Effect of modification —uye 592,571 - - - 592,571
— Disposal of subsidiaries ~ — HEMBAAHZ38)
(note 38) (40,622,075) (71,957,245 = (27,039,985)  (139,519,305)
— Exchange realignment —ERAE 24,474,606 17,308,005 — (442) 41,782,169
Balance at 31 March 2021 RZZ--F=f=1+-H
pd 549,924,707 289,531,436 - — 839,456,143

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED # &
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

41. NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(Continued)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from

financing activities (Continued)

—F-—F=-A=t—H
31 March 2021

41. mEBRERERKE &)

(b) BMEEDELECRBEZHKRGE)

Amounts
Bank and due
Lease other  Convertible to related
liabilities  borrowings bonds parties Total
RITR EfBE
HEaE HitEE  TRRES ATHE @it
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
A BT BT AT AT
(note 34) (note 30) (note 31) (note 26)
(Hit34) (Hii30) (Hi#31) (it 26)
As at 1 April 2019 RZE-NFNA—-H 94,675,975 43,647,046 82,920,487 27,040,427 248,283,935
Cash flows: BeRE
— Repayments — &R —  (48,263,709) — —  (48,263,709)
— Drawdown — R — 101,235,278 = — 101,235,278
— Interest paid —BNFE (7,827,969) (4,376,384 = —  {12,204,353)
— Repayment of principal ~ — EBREERE
element of the lease LEeHR
liabilities (18,674,274) — — — (18,674,274
Total changes from financing BREELTEZ
cash flow 2yuH (26,502,243) 48,595,185 - — 22,092,942
Other changes: Hit25
— Interest expenses — FBREY 7,827,969 4,376,384 6,086,987 — 18,291,340
— Gain on extinguishment of — AR ES 7 %
convertible bonds — — (6,148,300) — (6,148,300)
— Increase in lease liabilities — FMz[UFHHEZ
from entering into new BEREEN
leases during the year 52,072,000 — — — 52,072,000
— Exchange realignment ~ — EHE% (6,506,679)  (4,078,813) — —  (10,585,492)
Balance at 31 March 2020 W-Z-ZF=A=1—H
L% 121,567,022 92,539,802 82,859,174 27,040,427 324,006,425

i
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oy
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REMB®RME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—Z-—fF=R=+—H
31 March 2021

42. OPERATING LEASES ARRANGEMENT 42.

43.

Operating leases — Lessor

The Group sub-leases its properties in the PRC
under operating leases. Sub-leases of properties in
the PRC usually run for one to seven years (2020:
one to three years). Lease payments are usually
negotiated to reflect market rentals. None of the

lease includes contingent rentals.

RERERH

REHEE — HAA

tF(ZE=
mZ

BREIAEE -

AEERBEEHEDHERTEZY
Eo-RPEI>EYMELHOBES =
TFE:—E=F) HERN

ERBMERS - HEALY

The minimum lease receivables under BEAAHECEHE s EEWHEE
non-cancellable operating leases are as follows: BT
2021 2020
.
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Not later than one year TER—F 30,445,332 45,554,749
Later than one year and not later than BR—FETNERART
five years 49,132,939 34,598,211
More than five year HBilAF 3,257,892 e
82,836,163 80,152,960
CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 43. BREIE
2021 2020
B CZZET-FTF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Contracted for but not provided BRTHE RS
— Commitments for the purchase — BATHEMERE
of leasehold improvements ZEPE — 11,986,331
— Commitments for construction — BEENZAE
contracts 134,480,594 —
134,480,594 11,986,331
CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED HEE@ER AR A A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

44. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

At the respective reporting dates, the contingent
liabilities of the Group were as follows:

—F-—F=-A=t—H
31 March 2021

. HREE

REBAREAE  AEEZXREEN
T

2021 2020
B CZZE-FTF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Guarantees granted to financial REMEBMNERET
institutions on behalf of purchasers DRI 2 EIR
of property units 136,822,542 —

The Group arranges with various domestic banks in
the PRC to provide loan and mortgage facilities to
purchasers of its properties prior to the transfer of
land title deeds. In line with the consumer banking
practices in the PRC, these banks require the Group
to provide guarantees in respect of these loans
including the principal, interest and other incidental
costs. If a purchaser defaults on a loan, the relevant
mortgagee bank is entitled to deduct the amount
repayable from the restricted cash account. These
guarantees provided by the Group to the banks
would be released by the banks upon the receipt of
the building ownership certificate of the respective
properties by the banks from the customers when
it is issued by the relevant authorities.

The Directors consider that it is not probable of
the Group to sustain a loss under these guarantees
as during the period of these guarantees, the
Group can take over the ownerships of the related
properties under default and sell the properties
to recover the amounts paid by the Group to
the banks. The Group has not recognised these
guarantees. The Directors also consider that the
market value of the underlying properties is able
to cover the outstanding mortgage loans guarateed
by the Group in event that the purchasers default
payments to banks for their mortgage loans.

REE T ERIEN  AREZHS
AP EEARITAENEERREER
RIZBEME - KBRHBEEBEERITIE
fl ZERTERLRAEERZEFER
(BHREAE - FEREAMIBEMA)REMH
R - WMERERERK  AIERIZBIR
TEREBIRFBREEFHMATEERE
ZEH - BRTERTFPRSHEBIF®R
BIZBEBMEFEREER  REBRBRAE
BRZERITIREZZEFER -

EZRR - AEEFREZFERM
SRBX RRARAKERNZEFERY
MAERBYMELMERIHEZS
WE - BAKEAEERRTNN 2E
fAIFRIE - NREEY BERZFER - &
ENRBA - MERBRIBITRBEE
R HEMEZTERABSASER
ERZREERBER -
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REMB®RME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—Z-—fF=R=+—H
31 March 2021

45. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and
currency risks arises in the normal course of the
Group's business. The Group is also exposed to
equity price risk arising from its equity investment
in other entities.

Policy for managing these risks is set by the Board
following recommendations from the chief financial
officer. Certain risks are managed centrally, while
others are managed locally following guidelines
communicated from the management. The policy
for each of the above risks is described in more
detail below.

(a)

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED ) BERERAR

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that counterparties
will default on their contractual obligations
resulting in financial loss to the Group. The
Group exposes to credit risk from trade,
other and loan receivables and finance lease
receivables. The Group has adopted a credit
policy to monitor and mitigate credit risk
arising from trade debtors. Credit limit is
regularly reviewed and approved by head of
credit control. The Group assesses credit risk
based on customers’ past due records, trading
history, financial conditions, credit ratings
and taken into account information specific
to the customers as well as pertaining to the
economic environment in which the customers
operate. Customers with balances more than
a reasonable period of past due are requested
to settle all outstanding balances before any
further credit is granted.

Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral
for the balance of trade receivables. However,
the Group regularly reviews the recoverable
amount of each individual trade debts at
the end of reporting period to ensure that
adequate loss allowances are made for
irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the
directors consider that the credit risk is
significantly reduced.

FoF 5 FEL B ' B

RAKRBEZ AREBBIETFEL ZRAR
BREERR RBESRR - FEE
RELEERR ANEETEEEERE
BB BT EIEL 2 RAERE

A
PR

o

RGBT BN
B2 BE - AEBEDERE T
TR BB BIEER BT I

R TER - BRI LSRR

2B TIOE — S E -

(a) FERER

SERBRERSH T I RERITHE
éﬂf&ﬁ%ﬁ$ﬁgﬁﬁ%$ﬁ
RZREB - AEBEFERERER

fl UK IR S B E M&FW@
BHEFRAMAZEERR - N&
B2 R — RS EBUR AR 2 MR
EHREERFELE 2 EERR
EERBEHEEEERTIE TSRS
KL © $$I@%%ﬁ2ﬁ%£
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45. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(a) Credit risk (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Trade receivables

The Group applies the simplified
approach to provide for expected credit
losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, which
permits the use of the lifetime expected
loss provision for all of the trade
receivables balances. As at 31 March
2021 and 2020, the loss allowance for
trade receivables was determined in the
provision matrix on the basis of aging
analysis by invoice date as disclosed
in note 25 to the consolidated financial
statements. The expected credit losses
below also incorporated forward-looking
information and groupings of various
customer segments with similar loss
patterns (i.e. by geographical region,
customer type and rating, and product
or service type) in calculation. The
calculation also reflects the probability-
weighted outcome, the time value of
money and reasonable and supportable
information that is available at the
reporting date in calculation. The
expected credit loss rate for the trade
receivables within 90 days is 0.1% (2020:
0.1%) and provision of expected credit
loss allowance for trade receivables of
HK$163,100 (2020: HK$494,181) was
recognised during the year.

Finance lease receivables

The loss allowance of finance lease
receivables is calculated under 12-months
ECL calculation classified as stage 1 of
ECL model. An average 0.4% (2020:
0.5%) expected credit loss rate is used
by the management for calculating
the ECL allowance of the balance
classified as stage 1 ECL model as the
management considered the credit-
impaired risk is low. An expected credit
loss allowance of HK$806,497 (2020:
HK$281,393) was recognised during the
year.

e U B ®RRME

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-—%=-A=t+—H
31 March 2021

BEERREREZ)

(a) RERRE)

(a)

(b)
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REMB®RME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—Z-—fF=R=+—H
31 March 2021

45. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED ) 78 % 8

Credit risk (Continued)

(c)

Other financial assets

The loss allowance of other receivables
and amounts due from related parties
are calculated under 12-months ECL
calculation classified as stage 1 of ECL
An average 0.3% (2020: 0.5%)
expected credit loss rate is used by the

model.

management for calculating the ECL
allowance of the balance classified as
stage 1 ECL model as the management
considered the credit-impaired risk is low.
Based on the assessment performed
by the management, an expected credit
loss allowance of HK$2,441,987 (2020:
HK$439,234) was recognised during the
year.

The credit risk on bank balances and
cash is limited because they are placed
with reputable banks with external credit
rating of at least A1 assigned by an
international credit-rating agency.

The Group is not exposed to
concentration of credit risk. Please refer
to note 25 to the consolidated financial
statements for further analysis of credit
risk associated with trade and other
receivables.

Liquidity risk

The Group's objective is to ensure that there
are adequate funds to meet commitments
associated with its financial liabilities. Cash
flows of the Group are closely monitored by
senior management on an ongoing basis.

MR ERE )
(a) EEEBE)
(c) HMHBEEE
Lt e g 2k 7B I e Mk A A
+HIE Y FEEEDRER

(b)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—F-—F=-A=t—H
31 March 2021

45. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT MR EEE)
(Continued)
(b) Liquidity risk (Continued) (b) REESEE(E)
The contractual maturities of financial liabilities HREEzANEHBEERIDT
are shown as below:
Total More than More than
contractual Within 1yearbut 2 years but
Carrying  undiscounted 1 year or less than less than More than
amount  cash flows  on demand 2 years 5 years 5 years
&4 il il
AHERS -Eig -£ e
HEE it BER PHWE DREE BRIE
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
V1 V1 V1 V7 V1 V7
2021 ZEC-F
Non-derivatives: Ok
Trade and other payables ENEFREMTE 27528453 27528453 27528453 - - -
Amounts due to non- ERHBARZ
controlling shareholders of ~ JFERERZE
subsidiaries 32,737,288 32,737,288 32,737,288 - - -
Bank and other borrowings ~ BTREMEE 289531,436 310,206,360 310,206,360 = = =
Lease liahilities HEBfR 549,924,707 781,004,470 85,040,070 66,742,273 209,804,074 419,418,053
899,721,884 1,151476571 455,512,171 66,742,273 209,804,074 419,418,053
2020 TECER
Non-derivatives: ATk
Trade and other payables ERETRAME 84262360 84262360 84,262,360 = = =
Amounts due to related EIEEALRE
parties 27,040,427 27,040,427 27,040,427 — — —
Bank and other borrowings  F{TREMEE 92,539,802 97,996,065 70,908,407 18,692,459 8,495,199 —
Lease liabilities HERE 121,567,022 154783851 31407834 29431289 43838524 50,106,204
Convertible bonds kG 82,850,174 82,859,174 40685853 42,173,321 = =
408,268,785  446,941877 254,304,881 90,197,069 52,333,723 50,106,204
2020 ZECER
Financial guarantee: HHER:
Issued maximum amount BRI FAERE
Quaranteed 20,621,019 109,445,113 109,445,113 — — —
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45. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(b)

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED ) 78 % 8

Liquidity risk (Continued)

On 3 September 2019, ERIBHREEEGR
727@] (Nanjing Yinkun Investment Corporation
Co. Ltd.*) (the “Guarantor”), an indirect non-
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company
as the guarantor, entered into a guarantee
agreement (the “Guarantee Agreement”),
pursuant to which the Guarantor agreed
to guarantee the repayment obligations of
Nanjing Ruiyixiang Network Technology
Co., Ltd* (AR mFMEBBUBRBERLQA),
a company established in the PRC and a
potential business partner of the Guarantor, as
the borrower under a loan agreement dated 3
September 2019 in respect of the loan facility
for the principal amount of up to RMB100
million with interest payable at a quarterly
basis at a fixed rate of 6.5% per annum, which
was secured by a piece of land owned by the
borrower itself in Nanjing. Such facility shall
be matured in 36 months, RMB100 million
was drawn down before January 2020.

The Group recognised a loss allowance of
HK$20,621,019 for the financial guarantee
contract as at 31 March 2020. For further
details, please refer to the announcement of
the Company dated 8 November 2019.

The provision for financial guarantee was
derecognised upon disposal of the subsidiaries
as described in note 38.

45. IBEKREE &)

(b)

RBESER(E)

RZZ—AFHLA=H " ARQ7A
ZEEIEZEN B A E PRI
REEEXERAAEBRANE
BERAFTLERBZ(ERT
B Bt ERARERBH
AT NFENLAZAHZEZRMZ
BTZEFRAEREmFEREE
BRAERAR(—HERFABEXLZA
AIRERAZBIEEBEE)ER
BREL FPRASERZAR
#100,000,000 L2 EFEE © fE
N B EERE T FFEE.5%FT
B ZEERRERBRABER
MERATHEARN—IE L ATIRE - Z
MEBNIGEARNEE  MAR
#5100,000,000 TR = E =T F —
A BITELRER o

AEEER_TEZTF=A=*+—
HERVMBERGANEBREE
20,621,019 7T - # —HFEH
SBARFBHA-_T—NE+—
BNBZ A -

MBERBEHBERELENBARR
R R (BN MIEE38) o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

45. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(c)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest
rate risk due to the fluctuation of the prevailing
market interest rate on bank balances and
variable-rate bank loans.

The Group is also exposed to fair value
interest rate risk which relates primarily
to its cash and cash equivalents and bank
borrowings which are at floating rates. The
Group currently does not use any derivative
contracts to hedge the interest rate risk.
However, management will consider hedging
significant interest rate exposure should the
need arise.

Interest rate profile

The following table details interest rates
analysis that management of the Group
evaluates the interest rate risk.

—E-—%=-A=t+—H
31 March 2021

EERREREZ)

(c)

FRER

BN RITHEBITERITERZR
THSNEEE  AEERYRS
MENERER

AREE IR S B RELFEN K
ARZEENREFEEB IR
EEEB A TFEEMNERERE - A
SEBATEAEMITETIESL
HhFEmEE o A - EERERE
FEREZELHIPENNRER -

FIEEE

TRAFIARDERBIEFIER
2 2 FIE D -

2021 2020
—B--f e e 5
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate (%) HK$ rate (%) HK$
ERFIZE(%) AT EENE(%) AT
Financial assets BBEE
Fixed-rate financial assets: EEMBEE
— Finance lease receivables — EhRERENE 10.07% 301,557,702 10.64% 59,838,772
Floating-rate financial assets: FEUKEE
— Cash and bank balances — Be RFTES 0.19% 175,939,276 0.12% 150,430,813
Financial liabilities HBaE
Fixed-rate financial liabilities: EENBKAE:
— Bank and other borrowings — BOREMEE 7.24% 289,531,436 7.11% 54,737,460
— Lease liabilities —HERaR 6.48% 549,924,707 931% 121,567,022
Floating-rate financial liabilities: ~ ZBHHKEE :
— Bank and other borrowings — BOREMEE N/ATER N/ARER 5.94% 37,802,342
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31 March 2021

45. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(c)

(d)

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED H E BERERAR

Interest rate risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The following table indicates the approximate
change in the results after tax in response to
reasonably possible changes in interest rate
to which the Group has significant exposure
at the end of reporting period. In determining
the effect on results after tax on the next
accounting period until next end of reporting
period, management of the Group assumes
that the change in interest rate had occurred
at the end of reporting period and all other
variables remain constant. There is no change
in the methods and assumptions used in 2021
and 2020.

BEERREREZ)

(c)

FRmb(E)
BET T

TREBTRIREARRTEEEY
REEAZERRER MR SR
AREFEMEE 2O EE - INE
TEEBRBEEEN T — A2 EME
HE T EREHRCHER - K
SEEERERIFNERREHRE
BANERMBEEMEHERITE -
RIE-—FR T -TFEHREH
ZIERBRERA EEE -

2021 2020

B CZZE-FTF

HK$ HK$

BT BT

Increase by 100 basis points #HN 100 {EE 2, 1,759,393 1,126,284
Decrease by 100 basis points T 100 EIE 2L (1,759,393) (1,126,284)

Currency risk

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and
the PRC with most of the transactions settled
in their respective functional currencies in
which the group entities operate. Therefore
the Group does not have significant exposure
to risk resulting from changes in foreign
currency exchange rates.

(d)

E¥RER

AEBEERBEMNTEEE K
MARFHANEEERE LM
ZEBEEREE - AL - A%
B EASNEE R BB M AT EKR
R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

46. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS
AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY
CATEGORY

The following table shows the carrying amount
and fair value of financial assets and liabilities as
defined in note 4(h) to the consolidated financial

—E-—%=-A=t+—H
31 March 2021

46. RER B D 2 M BEERME
REHE

TRETGAMBRRM AN FRE
ZHBEERARZEEAERRFE
18 :

statements:
2021 2020
“E--F e S 33
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
amount value amount value
BEE ALEE REE ATEE
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
B BT BT BT
Financial assets BREE
Financial assets at amortised cost ERENATEY 536,440,646 536,440,646 352,586,183 352,586,183
MEE
Financial liabilities E 3N
Financial liabilities measured ERENATEY 899,721,884 899,721,884 408,268,785 408,268,785
at amortised cost NBEE

(a) The fair values of financial assets and financial
liabilities are determined as follows:

° The fair value of financial assets and
financial liabilities with standard terms
and conditions and traded on active liquid
markets are determined with reference
to quoted market prices.

° The fair value of other financial assets
and financial liabilities are determined
in accordance with generally accepted
pricing models based on discounted
cash flow analysis using prices from
observable current market transactions
and dealer quotes for similar instruments.

(a) MBEERMBABEZ A FEETD
WIS RETE -

o ABBEEGRRGEEFLRE
BARBUETISEE WS
BEMMBEREZAFER
TI2EMEREETE -

e EHEMUBEEMMBAEGBEZ
NFBEDIRELARZIEE
B AAPEUTAZA
BERATHERPEREE
RMEEMRRRESRENNT

MR -

i
th
i
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-—%=ZA=+—H
31 March 2021

47. HOLDING COMPANY STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 March 2021

R-ZE—_—F=H=+—H

47. R AT 2 MR R &K

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-FTF
Notes HK$ HK$
k=3 BT BT
Assets EE
Non-current assets EREBEE
_ Interests in subsidiaries | MBAR s 208,566,097 51,029,601
Current assets REBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries  FEUSHTE A B FUE 48 78,216,518 101,900,402
Other receivables H b fE U i 1E 2,009,460 2,009,460
Cash and cash equivalents HeMReEEER 14,687,878 23,845,121
Total currentassets  nBHEEeE 94,913,856 127,754,983
Totalassets ~ #E&#E 303,479,953 178,784,584
Liabilities =L
Current liabilities REEE

Other payables o Ath FE A 3RIE 1,638,940 21,836,610

Amounts due to subsidiaries FET BB R R FUA 48 72,687,285 53,267,640

Convertible bonds AR E S — 40,685,853
Total current liabilities mEBEER 74,326,225 115,790,103
Netcurrentassets  ®BHREFE APt Tladoesy
Total assets less current EEAERABAER

liabilities 229,153,728 62,994,481
Non-current liabilities ERBERE

Convertible bonds Al R E & — 42,173,321
Total liabilities BEA%E 74,326,225 157,963,424
NET ASSETS BERE 229,153,728 20,821,160
Capital and reserves BRAR#E

Share capital R 35 115,443,328 53,888,928

Reserves {1 36 113,710,400 (33,067,768)
TOTAL EQUITY XA 229,153,728 20,821,160
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The amounts due from/(to)

48. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

48.

subsidiaries are

unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries

as at 31 March 2021.

—E-—%=-A=t+—H
31 March 2021

B8 A Rz ok
FEM,/ (FE ) B 2 B 5OB T R 447
B RARERME -

RZE-_—F=A=+—H BB
RAEZHIFRMAT ©

Form of Place of Principal activities Issued share capital/ Percentage of
Name business structure incorporation and place of operation paid-up registered capital  ownership interests held
iR EBERKE  ERAILE TEEBRSENE BRIRA/ MREMER FaRARERAN
directly indirectly
BE B
BoRen Culture Development Limited Limited liability ~ BVI Investment holding 1 ordinary share of US$1 100.0 -
company in the PRC
BOXERERAR FREALR  EERLES MBRERARR 1R1ET BBk
Shiny Top Limited Limited liability ~ Hong Kong Money lending business 10,000 ordinary share of - 100.0
company in Hong Kong HK$10,000
REARAT RREEAR  BR RERUSHERE 10,0008 10,000 372 £k
Zhong Run Limited liability ~ The PRC Property sub-leasing - - 100.0
company business in the PRC
hE BREARA  #E MERENEARER
Great Regal Limited Limited liability ~ Hong Kong Investment holding and 1 ordinary share of HKS$1 - 1000
company property development
business in Hong Kong
EEERAR BREARA AR REERERESRRDE  1RIBRZEER
LRxh
Beijing Mingchuang Business Limited liability ~ The PRC Property sub-leasing - - 100.0
Management Co., Ltd’ company business in the PRC
FREEBRERARAT EREFAE  #E MERENEARER
Topper Genius Limited liability ~ BVI Investment holding in the PRC 10,000 ordinary shares of 100.0 -
company US$10,000
L2 RREfLR  RERUES RhEEERERR 10,0008 10,000 %72 £
Huachuangwen Land’ Limited liability ~ PRC Property development RMB10,000,000 . 3.0
company business in the PRC
B EH BRREAT  9E RAERENFERRH ARH10,0000007T
ANNUAL REPORT 2021 T-—FFR
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48.

49.

50.

*

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED Al £ IX B

INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

The above list includes the subsidiaries of the
Company which, in the opinion of the Directors,
principally affected the results for the year or
formed a substantial portion of the net assets of
the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries
would, in the opinion of the Directors, result in
particulars of excessive length.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified
to conform with the current year presentation.

APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the Board on 29 June 2021.

For identification only

48.

49.

50.

*

MEBATR RS E)
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ADFMBAT - EER AT EE K
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R
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